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FASB PROPOSALS ON STOCK OPTION
EXPENSING

THURSDAY, JULY 8, 2004

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON COMMERCE, TRADE,
AND CONSUMER PROTECTION,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 1:35 p.m., in room
2123, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon Cliff Stearns (chairman)
presiding.

Members present: Representatives Stearns, Shimkus, Shadegg,
Bass, Terry, Ferguson, Issa, Barton (ex officio), Schakowsky,
Tft‘;_wns), Brown, Stupak, Green, Strickland, Davis, and Dingell (ex
officio).

Staff present: David Cavicke, majority counsel; Chris Leahy, ma-
jority counsel and policy coordinator; Brian McCullough, profes-
sional staff, Will Carty, legislative clerk; and Consuela Washington,
minority counsel.

Mr. STEARNS. Good afternoon. Today the subcommittee will con-
vene and will consider what all of us believe are important ques-
tions concerning accounting treatment of stock options.

This hearing continues the bipartisan work we have done in this
subcommittee to improve accounting standards. This work has in-
cluded examination of restatements at Enron, Andersen, and
Freddie Mac. It has also involved extensive oversight on mod-
ernization of FASB and the process by which FASB makes its
rules.

I am pleased that FASB has acted on a number of our rec-
ommendations, including closing loopholes on special purpose enti-
ties and speeding up the process of decisionmaking.

I want to also thank Ranking Member Jan Schakowsky, for her
spirit of bipartisanship that has helped this subcommittee. I also
would like to thank Chairman Barton for his leadership and for fa-
cilitating this hearing, and Ranking Member John Dingell for his
long leadership and vision on accounting issues.

My colleagues, currently FASB provides that companies may ei-
ther expense options provided to employees or disclose the expenses
in footnotes. Now, companies that disclose the expense in footnotes
do not reflect the expense in their reported earnings. About 575
companies, mostly since the excesses of the 1990’s, have decided
voluntarily to expense options. Now, these companies include Gen-
eral Motors, Ford, Citigroup, Coca-Cola and Microsoft. The rest of

o))



2

public companies that have options choose not to reflect their ex-
pense as reported earnings.

FASB is considering a rule change that would require companies
to expense stock options, thereby informing investors of the effect
of the options grants on earnings. This proposal would make GAAP
consistent with international accounting standards which in Janu-
ary will require the expensing of options. This proposal by FASB
is controversial, we grant that, and members have legitimate views
on both sides of this issue.

The rule would cause stock options to be treated like other types
of compensation paid to employees, including cash and stock, which
expense is reflected in companies’ quarterly earnings. FASB’s pro-
posal would also make GAAP consistent with the tax treatment of
options. Currently, companies don’t have to report the expense of
options to their shareholders but can deduct the cost of the same
options on their taxes. I understand that Alan Greenspan, Paul
Volcker, SEC Chairman Bill Donaldson, Treasury Secretary John
Snow, and of course Warren Buffett support FASB’s position.

Many of our leading technology companies who are represented
here today oppose FASB’s position. They argue that options are dif-
ficult to value and often expire worthless. As such, the options
should not count as an expense.

We learned from Baruch Lev in a previous hearing that all num-
bers in accounting, be they accounting, account receivables, pension
expense, or depreciation and amortization, are literally just esti-
mates.

There are rigorous means available for establishing the values of
options. These means are used to tell senior executives the ex-
pected value of their pay package. Companies also seem to have an
easier time determining the value of options when they deduct
them on their corporate taxes.

My good colleague, Congressman Richard Baker, has introduced
legislation, H.R. 3574, which would direct the SEC to prevent
FASB from requiring the expensing of options. The Financial Serv-
ices Committee has approved this legislation, although the bill has
not yet—the committee has not yet filed the report. I expect our
witnesses will discuss this bill today. I hope they will.

There are two points that I would like to highlight for members
of this subcommittee on this legislation. I am concerned that the
legislation may effectively forbid the more than 575 companies that
are voluntarily expensing options from doing so in the future. I
want each of our witnesses to explain to us if this reading of this
legislation is correct by me: If companies that are voluntarily ex-
pensing options can no longer do so upon inaction of this legisla-
tion, some of those 575 companies, wouldn’t they be in violation of
GAAP? This violation could lead to a significant number of restate-
ments of earnings for those companies.

Regardless of your position, my colleagues, on the merits of this
legislation, forced restatements are not a desirable outcome. Dur-
ing questions, I will ask each witness to address the question of
how the legislation affects those companies that are voluntarily ex-
pensing their options.

And second, my colleagues, the legislation provides that options
granted to the top five executives in a company should be ex-
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pensed. However, the legislation requires by statute that the vola-
tility of these options be assumed to be zero. The central insight—
the central insight of Fisher Black and Myron Scholes for which
they won the Nobel Prize was that the value of options is deter-
mined predominantly by their volatility. If volatility is required by
statute to be zero, then the value of the options will likely be zero
as well. Stock prices go up, they go down. That is volatility. I would
like the witnesses to address the question of why assumed vola-
tility of zero for options should be mandated by statute by this
Congress.

If this legislation moves to the floor, I would encourage Members
on both sides of this issue to support amendments that I believe
would cure those two defects.

On the proposal by FASB, I recognize that expensing options in-
volves estimating their value. Sometimes those estimates will be
incorrect. Accounting statements are supposed to provide investors
with the best current view of the assets and liabilities of a company
at a particular time. Opponents of FASB are wanting to keep treat-
ing options as though they are worthless in all situations. If they
are worthless, people wouldn’t want them. So I prefer that we have
financial statements that be approximately correct rather than
completely wrong.

So I look forward to the testimony. With that, the distinguished
colleague, Ms. Schakowsky.

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Thank you, Chairman Stearns, and I, too, ap-
preciate your bipartisan approach to this committee’s work and for
holding today’s hearing on one of the most important issues under
our subcommittee’s jurisdiction, accounting standards.

Ranking Member Dingell, your presence here signifies how im-
portant accounting standards are to corporate responsibility, inves-
tors, and pension holders, and our country’s economic well-being,
especially since you took time out on your birthday to be here. So
I want to wish you a very, very happy birthday.

I also would like to welcome Congressman Rick White. I thank
you for joining us to discuss FASB and the proposed rules that
would require companies to expense all stock options issued to
their employees.

We know from the corporate scandals of the past few years that
accurate and transparent accounting is vital to corporate account-
ability and shareholder confidence. Yet, the accounting treatment
of stock options allows corporations to continue to distort their true
financial standing. Stock options make up 80 percent of compensa-
tion packages for corporate managers. In 2003, CEO pay at 350
major U.S. public companies averaged $8 million, with stock op-
tions typically providing the largest compensation component. De-
spite those facts, stock options are the only form of compensation
that may be completely absent from corporate financial statements.

The unique and unwarranted accounting treatment afforded
stock option has fueled abuses linked to excessive executive pay, in-
flated company earnings, dishonest accounting, and corporate mis-
conduct. Nobel Prize winner Joseph Stiglitz believes that the ab-
sence of stock option expensing requirements has, quote, played an
important part in the spread of other financial chicanery, end
quote, where corporate energy and creativity was, quote, directed
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less and less into new products and services and more and more
into new ways of maximizing executives’ gains at unwary investors’
expense. Unquote.

A September 2002 report by a blue ribbon panel of the Con-
ference Board found that the current accounting treatment of stock
options helped foster a vicious cycle of increasing short-term pres-
sures to manipulate earnings, to bolster stock price, so that those
receiving options could cash in, take the money, and run.

FASB’s proposed rule would remove these perverse incentives,
and help bring transparency to corporate financial statements. In-
vestors and pension plan managers want the kind of accurate fi-
nancial information that FASB’s rule would provide. It would help
them make informed investment decisions about retirement secu-
rity.

Since 2002, at least 576 corporations have decided that expens-
ing options is a sound accounting practice that attracts investors
and have voluntarily begun expensing the options that they grant
all their employees. Yet, some of our colleagues are trying to pre-
vent FASB’s proposed rule with H.R. 3574, the so-called Stock Op-
tion Accounting Reform Act. If this bill is enacted, it would not only
stop FASB’s rule but would in fact stop those nearly 600 corpora-
tions from voluntarily providing an accurate accounting of their ex-
penses.

While it claims to be a compromise and would require the ex-
pensing of options given to the top executive along with the four
highest paid officers, it does so in a way that Warren Buffett de-
scribes as, quote, mathematical lunacy, unquote. In fact, H.R. 3574
is written so that the options would have no value and would be
reported as a no cost expense. This is not a compromise but a give-
away to corporations at the expense of investors.

In the wake of Enron, Tyco, WorldCom, and other corporate
scandals, this is the wrong message to be sending to all those work-
ers and investors who lost their life savings and retirement secu-
rity, and it is the wrong policy to pursue if we want to boost con-
sumer confidence and improve our economy.

Far too often Congress has weighed in at the behest of powerful
special interests to back reforms like the expensing of stock op-
tions. It is my hope that we have learned from the past and will
let FASB do its job.

I look forward to hearing the testimony of our witnesses, and I
thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentlelady.

The full chairman of the Energy and Commerce Committee, Mr.
Barton.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I, too, want to ex-
tend my best wishes to John Dingell on his birthday today. We had
a little birthday party for him upstairs with the staff, and we ap-
preciate him being in good cheer today and being here.

I also want to welcome Rick, who used to be a member of this
committee, and encourage Sherrod Brown and Bart Stupak to eat
lots of ice cream and cake so they won’t be in good shape for to-
night’s congressional baseball game which we are going to have out
at the field at 7 o’clock.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this hearing. It is a proper
and appropriate exercise of the Energy and Commerce Committee’s
jurisdiction. It is obvious that the Financial Accounting Standards
Board proposed rules for stock option expensing is an issue that is
clearly within the jurisdiction of the Energy and Commerce Com-
mittee and within the meaning of the memorandum of under-
standing that was reached between this committee and the Finan-
cial Services Committee in January 2001. That MOU was a docu-
ment that was negotiated by the Speaker’s office, former Chairman
Tauzin, and Chairman Oxley to define the jurisdiction over the set-
ting of accounting standards by the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board. And I quote: This hearing follows 3%2 years of subse-
quent work in this area, including the historic hearings that this
committee held on the collapse of Enron, the problems at
WorldCom, and the general corporate scandals that we have had
in the last 3 or 4 years. Those hearings were led by Chairman Tau-
zin and led on the minority side by Congressman Dingell. The En-
ergy and Commerce Committee is a committee that will get to the
bottom of things, and we will exercise our jurisdiction in an area
that we clearly have jurisdiction.

Having said that, I think I need to comment on the record on
some issues that are probably on a lot of people’s minds. The Fi-
nancial Services Committee ordered H.R. 3574, the Stock Option
Accounting Reform Act, out of their committee several weeks ago.
I did not oppose that. I didn’t oppose obviously Mr. Baker, Con-
gressman Baker, and Congressman Oxley and others reporting that
bill. T did ask the Energy and Commerce majority staff to ensure
that our committee’s jurisdiction be protected. Quite frankly, that
is what committee chairmen are supposed to do, and that is cer-
tainly something that Chairman Dingell did when he was chair-
man of this full committee.

When the House leadership announced last week that H.R. 3574
would be on the floor this week, you know, I made a decision that
we would cooperate—and I want to underline cooperate—with that
bill going to the floor. I felt and continue to feel that the Energy
and Commerce Committee should be entitled to a referral of the
bill, and instructed our general counsel to go to the Parliamen-
tarian and ask that it be referred. We also at the staff level
touched base with the Rules Committee. The Parliamentarian did
issue a ruling that had the Financial Services Committee reported
their bill, had they actually filed their report, the Parliamentarian
indicated that it would be referred to our committee.

But I did tell the leadership that if we did get a referral, we
would hold a hearing today, a legislative hearing today on the bill
and would report the bill today so that it would be on the floor to-
morrow. At no time did I indicate to the Speaker’s office, the major-
ity leader’s office, the Rules Committee that this committee would
in any way obstruct H.R. 3574 from being reported to the floor for
an up or down vote by the House of Representatives. It was not my
decision to not file the report by the Financial Services Committee.
That is a decision that was made by that committee.

So having said that, what we are doing today, since there is no
bill, there is no committee report that has been filed by the Finan-
cial Services, today’s hearing is not a legislative hearing, it is sim-
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ply an information hearing, and I am very pleased that FASB and
various private sector individuals are here so that we can have this
hearing and get additional information on the record.

There are substantial policy issues involved. Those issues need
to be aired. The witnesses before us have a wealth of expertise and
are very knowledgeable on the matters that are important in how
we set these standards, if we set standards, on how stock options
are to be expensed. We have asked the witnesses to share their
views because they plainly have something to say, and I believe
they deserve to be heard by this committee.

The decision has been made on the bill that was reported out of
Financial Services, 3574, to not file the report and not report it to
the floor tomorrow. That is not the fault of this committee or of my
responsibilities as chairman of the Energy and Commerce Com-
mittee. I respect that decision if that is the decision that has been
made, but in some ways I regret it because I too am concerned
about the pending FASB proposal, and I want the head of FASB
to understand that.

I personally think that it is very difficult to value a stock option
at the time it is granted. No one can predict with any degree of cer-
tainty where the future is going to take the valuation of these com-
panies. Sometimes the stock price will go up and the option will be-
come extremely valuable. Other times, certainly in the last 3 or 4
years, stock prices stagnate or decline precipitously and the options
are worthless. I don’t think that we should mandate at the Federal
level the expensing of options that turn out to be worthless. You
know, I think you would set a value on something that can actually
be put in the bank. If you give me a cash bonus of $1,000, it is
worth $1,000. You know, there are ways to determine real value,
but some sort of a guess about where the stock price might be at
a date certain in the future is almost by definition going to be prov-
en wrong.

Financial analysts analyze companies for a living. They are very
aware of the stock option grants that various companies give, the
impact that they have or might have on earnings, and presumably
these analysts have already discounted into the price of that com-
pany’s stock whatever the dilution value is, if any, of those options.
The question becomes that requiring mandatory expensing, will
that in itself change the valuation of a company? If it does not af-
fect the valuation of the company, what is gained?

What is certain is that a change to the accounting standards that
would require expensing would transform corporate governance
and would change methods of compensation and possibly impact
our international economic competitiveness. That is a very, very se-
rious issue that needs to be seriously addressed. I hope that we can
address some of those issues at the hearing today. I hope we can
resolve these issues.

If in fact it is a decision that needs to be made that we need to
report a Federal initiative, a Federal bill on these issues, to the ex-
tent this committee has jurisdiction we will work to report a re-
sponsible bipartisan bill.

I thank Chairman Stearns for holding the hearing. I look forward
to listening to the witnesses, and I thank their attendance at to-
day’s hearing. With that, I yield back the balance of my time.
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Mr. STEARNS. And I thank the chairman for his leadership.

The gentleman from Michigan whose birthday is today that we
all wish him the best wishes, Mr. Dingell.

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, I thank you, and I commend you
for holding this very important hearing.

I want to say a word about my friend, Mr. Barton, the chairman
of the full committee. First, thanks for his good wishes on my
birthday. A day on the green side of the sun is quite an event in
my life. I want to thank him for his kind comments.

I also want to commend him for the courageous and energetic
way in which he has dealt with this committee’s jurisdiction and
the right of this committee to address matters within the long-
standing jurisdiction of this committee over accounting, accounting
standards, and the Financial Accounting Standards Board, FASB.
I want to point out that I know that this is not always an easy
task, and I want him to know that I am appreciative, as other
members of this committee, of the rare and courageous way in
which he has addressed this matter, and I want him to know of my
appreciation. I thank you.

I also want to address the exposure draft of FASB and the Baker
bill. These two items, considered along with or against each other,
are very significant issues that deserve the attention of this com-
mittee and the public. This committee has been interested in the
question of bad and dishonest accounting going back into the 1970’s
when we first addressed the question of dishonest accounting in
connection with the Penn Central bankruptcy. In that instance, the
committee found that there was out and out lying in the account-
ing, that the insiders inside the corporation got out of the stock,
left it to the investors, walked away with hundreds of millions of
dollars, and left the taxpayers with a bill for restructuring rail-
roads in the northeast United States that cost the taxpayers over
$7 billion.

It is interesting to note that neither the ICC nor the Internal
Revenue nor the shareholders nor the SEC nor the then ICC had
the vaguest idea of what was happening, because the accountants
had lied, and we were called upon to pony up huge sums of money
on behalf of the taxpayers to address this problem.

Since that time, you can look at the records of corporate failures,
and you will find consistently that those records of corporate fail-
ures are almost invariably bottomed on or have as a major partici-
pating element dishonest, incompetent, and improper accounting.
Tyco, AOL, WorldCom, Sunbeam, and of course Enron are splendid
examples of how this can be done.

Interestingly enough, the Europeans are beginning to move to-
ward more responsible kinds of accounting in that they seek in
their handling of these matters to see to it that the accountant tells
everybody truthfully what the state of the corporation is so that in-
vestors know, so that the corporate officers know, and so that the
public knows the state of affairs in that corporation.

It is to be observed here that the Congress seeks to take from
FASB the authority to address the problem of responsible account-
ing standards.

I don’t know exactly what is going to be the result of this by the
FASB, and I am willing to wait. I would note that the investigative
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hearings chaired by our colleague Mr. Greenwood as to the causes
and effects of Enron, WorldCom, HealthSouth, and other account-
ing debacles, and the hearings chaired by you, Mr. Chairman
Stearns, into the failings of U.S. accounting standards are so that
faulty behavior in accounting has facilitated these debacles, and we
are finding that there have been, amongst other things else, stock
option abuses revealed, accounting standards riddled with loop-
holes, audit failures, massive failures of corporate governance,
amongst other things.

We have directed FASB to fix the problems within its purview,
such as special purpose entities, stock option accounting, and es-
tablishing a framework for measuring financial and nonfinancial
assets and unfair value. It is, after all, what accounting is about.
And if you look at the accounting of other countries, you will find
that other countries have seen their economies go south because
the accounting in those countries is so bad. And, indeed, it is so
bad that not only do the investors, the government not know the
state of affairs of the accounting or the state of affairs of those cor-
porations, but the owners and the operators and the high corporate
officers of those corporations have handled those matters so poorly
and they have been so diligent in lying to themselves and every-
body else that nobody has the vaguest idea what in the name of
common sense the situation might be.

So fixing a situation of this sort so that finally the corporations
are able to restructure themselves and come to a sound accounting
and to a sound business state is almost impossible.

We are here today because FASB issued an exposure draft re-
questing public comment on a proposal to require that companies
account for stock options as an expense using the fair value meth-
od. More than 575 American companies have announced their in-
tention to or have begun to voluntary expense their options at fair
value. These corporations can do it. Why is it that others cannot?

I would note that the comment period for FASB’s proposal ex-
pired at the end of June. FASB is now in a months long stage of
reviewing all comment letters, including public hearings, and re-
deliberating and revising the proposed standard. This is a fair and
an open process, one with which I agree and with which I think
no one may take criticism. I cannot say today whether I support
or disagree with the FASB standard since it is still in a state of
flux. T do agree with the general principle, and I observe that it is
required under international accounting standards by foreign com-
petitors of the United States.

As for the Baker bill, all T can say is: “What were they thinking?”
I thought this country had seen enough phony accounting, and yet
here we have before us a piece of legislation which sanctifies and
indeed which endorses phony, false accounting. It also prohibits
honest accounting by corporations that feel that this is in their best
interest and in the interests of the shareholders. This is a clear
case study in why Congress should not be in the business of writ-
ing accounting standards. It decrees that the company shall count
options as an expense for the five highest corporate executives but
not for anybody else. A most curious decision. The bill prohibits
voluntary expensing of options by the 575 companies that are cur-
rently and voluntarily expensing their options. It mandates that



9

when a company is calculating the expense of options for the top
five executives, it shall assume that the price volatility is zero.

Has anybody looked at the different indexes in the securities
markets? They will tell you clearly that volatility is never zero in
the stock market. And they are saying then that it never moves up
and it never moves down. If there ever was an Alice in Wonder-
land, make believe world, we are seeing it here.

There are other gems of wisdom before us. I ask unanimous con-
sent to insert in the record FASB'’s letter analyzing the bill in re-
sponse to questions that I have posed.

Mr. STEARNS. By unanimous consent, so ordered.

[The information referred to follows:]

Financial Accounting Standards Board

401 Merritt 7. P.O. Box 5116, Norwaik, Connecticut 06856-5116 | 203-847-0700
ROBERTH. HERZ Exi. 267

Chairman Fax: 203-847-6030
e-mail: rhherz@fasb.org

VIA EMAIL
June 22, 2004

The Honorable John D. Dingell
Ranking Member

Committee on Energy and Commerce
United States House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515-6115

Dear Representative Dingell:

Thank you for your letter of June 18, 2004, that raises a number of questions concerning H.R.
3574, the “Stock Option Accounting Reform Act” (“HR 3574").

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB” or “Board”) is an independent private-
sector organization. Our independence from enterprises, auditors, and the federal
government is fundamental to achieving our mission—to establish and improve standards of
financial accounting and reporting for both public and private enterprises. Those standards
are essential to the efficient functioning of the United States (“US”) economy because
investors, creditors, and other consumers of financial reports rely heavily on credible,
comparable, and unbiased information to make decisions.

HR 3574 appears to address issues relating to the Board’s current project to improve the
accounting for equity-based compensation. In connection with that project, in March of this
year, the Board issued for public comment an Exposure Draft, Proposed Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment (“Proposal”). Following the end of
the Proposal’s comment period in June, the Board plans to redeliberate, at public meetings,
issues raised in response to the Proposal. Only after carefully evaluating the input at public
meetings and potential improvements to the Proposal will the Board consider whether 1o
1ssue a final standard. The Board’s current plans are to complete its redeliberations and be in
a position to issue a final standard in the fourth quarter of this year. The attachment to this
letter includes a brief summary of the project.

Consistent with the FASB's mission, our technical expertise is limited to financial
accounting and reporting matters. We, therefore, do not have expertise relating to the US
federal securities laws or statutory or legislative interpretation generally. Thus, the responses
to your questions that follow are subject to that limitation.
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1. What is the practical effect of this bill on accounting for stock options by (i) the
top five executives at SEC-registered companies, (ii) other option recipients at
SEC-registered companies, and (iii) option recipients at private companies?

As explained below, the practical effect of HR 3574 on the accounting for stock options
would appear to be that SEC-registered companies would be required to significantly
understate the total amount of compensation cost relating to stock options in their
financial reports. HR 3574, therefore, would appear to result in a distortion of those
companies’ reported earnings, profitability, and other key financial metrics.

HR 3574 would appear to prohibit the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
from recognizing any final standard (or any existing standard relating to the expensing of
stock options) unless and until two conditions are met: (1) an economic impact study by
the Secretary of Commerce and the Secretary of Labor has been completed, and (2) the
standard prescrxbes exercise or other settlement date measurement for the options
granted.!

HR 3574 also would appear to require that only stock options granted after December 31,
2004, to the chief executive officer and the four other most highly compensated
employees of certain SEC-registered compames be reported as a compensation expense
in those companies’ financial reports Thus, if an SEC-registered company grants stock
options to employees other than the top five executives, that compensation cost would not
be reported in the company’s income statement. There, however, is no accounting or
economic theory that would support such a result. As the Congressional Budget Office
recently concluded in its analysis of the accounting for stock options, “If firms do not
recognize as an expense the fair value of employee stock options, measured when the
options are granted, the firms’ reported net income will be overstated.” p
N
HR 3574 also would appear to require that for purposes of determining the fafr value of
underlying stock shall be zero.* It is generally accepted that il}rg/e part of a stock
option’s fair value is the result-of volatility of The" uncferlymg stock price.> Thus, if an
SEC- reglstered /cpmpﬁny grants stock options to the top five executives, the amount of

e

'HR 3574 the “Stock Option Accounting Reform Act,” 108™ Congress, 2d Session (as reported by the
Commﬁt/ee on Financial Services), Section 3(a)(3).
* HR3574, Section 2(m).
Concressxonal Budget Office, “Accounting for Employee Stock Options,” (April 2004), Section 2 of 3,
[ page 1 of 2,
“HR 3574, Section 2(m)(3)}(B).
® Testimony of Robert C. Merton, before the Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Government
| Sponsored Enterprises, United States House of Representatives, “Hearing on H.R. 3574, the Stock Option
»Accoummg Reform Act” (March 3, 2004), page 2 of 2. In general, the higher the volatility of the
\underlying stock, the higher the option’s value will be—because of the greater chance that the market price
of the stock will rise above the strike price of the option before the term of the option expires.
AN
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that compensation cost reported in the company’s income statement would be
significantly understated.

A recent Washington Post editorial commented on the “top five executives” provisions of
HR 3574, stating:

The second problem with the bill is its illogical
content. In the past, opponents of expensing options have
claimed that the value of options is unknowable. But the
House bill abandons that claim by requiring that companies
include in their profit-and-loss statements the value of
options for their top five executives. Having conceded that,
however, the bill goes on to say that the cost of options
granted to employees outside the top circle should be left
out, implying that they cost nothing. But they do not cost
nothing. In high-tech companies, which grant options
generously to middle-ranking employees, the top five
executives get only a small fraction of the total — less than §
percent in the case of Intel Corp. or Cisco Systems Inc.

Moreover, the House bill stipulates that companies
should use an unorthodox method for valuing options that
minimizes their worth. If the bill became law, the options
granted by Intel last year would force it to deduct a modest
$3.5 million from its reported profit — compared with the
hefty $991 million it would have to deduct under the
proposed FASB reform. Cisco, for its part, could report
$1.1 billion more in profit if the House bill passed.. Small
wonder that Intel and Cisco have led the lobbying charge in
favor of the legislation.®

HR 3574 also would appear to exempt certain SEC-registered companies that are “small
business issuers” from having to report any compensation expense for stock options
granted.” Similarly, HR 3574 would appear to exempt certain SEC-registered companies
from having to report any compensation expense for stock options granted to employees
for three years after an “initial public offering.”® In both cases, to the extent that a
qualifying SEC-registered company grants stock options to its employees, the amount of
compensation cost would be understated in the company’s income statement.

Finally, HR 3574 would not appear to address the accounting for stock options by private
companies. Thus, those companies would continue to account for stock options under

¢ “High-Tech Holdup,” The Washington Post (June 10, 2004), page A18,
7 HR 3574, Section 2(m)(4)(A).
® HR 3574, Section 2(m)(4)(B).



12

June 22, 2004
Page 4 of 11

existing accounting standards. Those standards (and the standards for SEC-registered
companies) are proposed to be changed as a result of the FASB’s current project to
improve the accounting for equity-based compensation.

2. Ford Motor Company, General Motors, Citigroup, Microsoft Corporation, and
more than 500 other companies, large and small, have voluntarily begun
expensing stock options under the fair value method, and I commend them for
doing so. Is it true, as I have been advised by counsel, that this bill, especially
when read against Rule 4-01(a)(1) of Regulation S-X, would make it illegal for
companies to continue to voluntarily expense stock options?

As explained below, HR 3574 would appear to prohibit SEC-registered companies from
continuing to voluntarily expense stock options.

Rule 4-01(a)(1) of Regulation S-X states:

Financial statements filed with the Commission
which are not prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles will be presumed to be
misleading or inaccurate, despite footnote or other
disclosures, unless the Commission has otherwise provided.

As indicated above in response to Question 1, HR 3574 would appear to prohibit the SEC
from recognizing any accounting standard relating to the expensing of stock options
unless and until two conditions are met: (1) an economic impact study by the Secretary
of Commerce and the Secretary of Labor has been completed, and (2) the standard
prescribes exercise or other settlement date measurement for the options granted.

Existing accounting standards prescribe as the preferable method of accounting for
employee stock options a grant date fair value measurement approach.” Those more than
575 companies that have begun voluntarily expensing all employee stock options are
required to follow the preferable method. 1% That method does not encompass an exercise
or other settlement date measurement approach as would appear to be required by HR
3574. Thus, the existing voluntary expensing of all employee stock options would appear
to be prohibited.

% Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(October 1995), paragraph 11.

' jd.; Pat McConnell, Janet Pegg, Chris Senyek, and Dane Mott, “Accounting Issues: 576 Companies Have
Voluntarily Adopted Option Expensing Under the Fair Value Method,” Bear Stearns (April 29, 2004).
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3. The bill provides that “the assumed volatility of the underlying stock shall be
zero” under whatever pricing model is used. Is it true that this would allow
companies to ignore reality and show near zero value for their option plans?
Absent this provision, what economic considerations would determine the
assumed volatility of the underlying stock?

As explained below, the zero volatility assumption contained in HR 3574 would appear
to require that SEC-registered companies significantly understate the stock option
compensation costs for their top five executives. In some cases, the amount of the
understatement would be 100 percent because the compensation cost would be zero. The
Proposal provides guidance for determining the expected volatility of the underlying
stock when determining the fair value of employee stock options.

As indicated above, in response to Question 1, HR 3574 would appear to require that for
purposes of determining the fair value of the stock options granted to the top five
executives the assumed volatility of the underlying stock shall be zero (often referred to
as the “minimum value approach”). It is generally accepted that a large part of a stock
option’s fair value is the result of volatility of the underlying stock price. Thus, if an
SEC-registered company grants stock options to the top five executives, the amount of
that compensation cost reported in the company’s income statement under the minimum
value approach would be significantly understated.

The minimum value approach of HR 3574 would also appear to permit companies to
structure their employee stock option grants to ensure stock option compensation costs of
zero. As demonstrated by University of California-Berkeley, Haas School of Business,
Professor Mark Rubinstein in the Journal of Derivatives, the minimum value approach
can be easily manipulated to drive the reported value to zero or near zero.!! This can be
done by raising the exercise price and multiplying the number of options in order to
maintain the real value of the grant while lowering its reported minimum value.!

The Proposal provides implementation guidance that illustrates the fair-value-based method
of accounting for stock-based compensation arrangements with employees and elaborates on
certain other aspects of the Proposal.”® That guidance includes the following economic
considerations and other factors to consider in estimating the expected volatility of the
underlying stock for purposes of determining the fair value of an employee stock option:

a. The term structure of the volatility of the share price over
the most recent period that is generally commensurate
with (1) the contractual term of the option if a lattice

" Mark Rubinstein, “On the Accounting Valuation of Employee Stock Options,” Journal of Derivatives,
fall 1995, page 21.
¥

" Proposal, paragraph Bl.
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model is being used to estimate fair value or (2) the
expected term of the option if a closed-form model is
being used.

. The implied volatility of the share price determined from

the market prices of traded options. Additionally, the
term structure of the implied volatility of the share price
over the most recent period that is generally
commensurate with (1) the contractual term of the option
if a lattice model is being used to estimate fair value or
(2) the expected term of the option if a closed-form
model is being used.

For public companies, the length of time an entity’s
shares have been publicly traded. If that period is shorter
than the expected term of the option, the term structure of
volatility for the longest period for which trading activity
is available should be more relevant. A newly public
entity also might consider the volatility of similar entities.
A nonpublic entity that elects the fair-value-based
method might base its expected volatility on the
volatilities of entities that are similar except for having
publicly traded securities.

The mean-reverting tendency of volatilities.  For
example, in computing historical volatility, an entity
might disregard an identifiable period of time in which its
share price was extraordinarily volatile because of a
failed takeover bid or a major restructuring. Statistical
models have been developed that take into account the
mean-reverting tendency of volatilities.

Appropriate and regular intervals for price observations.
If an entity considers historical volatility or implied
volatility in estimating expected volatility, it should use
the intervals that are appropriate based on the facts and
circumstances and provide the basis for a reasonable fair
value estimate. For example, a publicly traded entity
might use daily price observations, while a nonpublic
entity with shares that occasionally change hands at
negotiated prices might use monthly price observations.
Corporate structure. An entity’s corporate structure may
affect expected volatility. For instance, an entity with
two distinctly different lines of business of approximately
equal size may dispose of the one that was significantly
less volatile and generated more cash than the other. In
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that situation, an entity would consider the effect of that
disposition in its estimate of expected volatility. 1

The Proposal’s Notice for Recipients includes six issues seeking additional input on the
measurement issues raised by the Proposal, including whether *“‘the Board should require a
specific method of estimating expected volatility.”" The input received on those issues and
all other issues will be carefully considered by the Board, consistent with the FASB’s Rules
of Procedure, at public meetings prior to the issuance of any final standard.

4. How do international accounting standards deal with accounting for stock options?

As explained below, international accounting standards deal with the accounting for stock
options in a manner that is substantially similar to the approach contained in the Proposal.

In February 2004, the International Accounting Standards Board issued International
Financial Reporting Standard 2, Share-based Payment (“IFRS 27). IFRS 2, effective in
2005, requires the expensing of all employee stock options based on a grant date fair value
measurement approach that is similar in most respects to the approach contained in the
Proposal.'® It is expected that companies in over 90 countries around the world will begin
applying IFRS 2 beginning January of next year.

Similarly, in September 2003, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board issued Srock-
Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments, Section 3870 (“Section 3870”).
Section 3870, effective in 2004, also requires the expensing of all equity-based
compensation based on a grant date fair value measurement approach that is similar in most
respects to the Proposal and IFRS 2."7

Of note, over 350 of the Canadian enterprises that implemented Section 3870, and hundreds
of other foreign companies that will be soon implementing IFRS 2, are registrants under the
US federal securities laws and, therefore, subject to the rules and regulations of the SEC.

' Proposal, paragraph B25 (footnote references omitted).

¥ 1d., pages ii and iii.

' 1d., paragraph C48.

7 Letter from Paul Cherry, FCA, Chair, Accounting Standards Board to The Honourable Michael G.
Oxley, United States House of Representatives (May 7, 2004), page 1.
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5. The Energy and Commerce conferees were appointed by the Speaker to the House-
Senate conference committee for consideration of Sections 108 and 109 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) which dealt with, among other things, the
standards for Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) recognition of
“accounting standards established by a standard setting body” and the annual
accounting support fee for that standard setting body, in order to strengthen the
independence of FASB and the integrity of ifs standard setting process. 1
understand that these provisions have been implemented. What effect would this
bill have on these sections of SOX and the rules implemented thereunder?

As explained below, HR 3574 would appear to have results that are inconsistent with the
language and intent of Sections 108 and 109 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX™)
and the related SEC actions implementing those provisions.

The legislative history of SOX is clear that Sections 108 and 109 were intended to enhance
the independence of the FASB to assist it in achieving its mission—to establish and
improve standards of financial accounting and reporting for both public and private
enterprises.'® In implementing Sections 108 and 109 of SOX, the SEC, in April 2003,
issued a Policy Statement.'® The Policy Statement, consistent with the language and
intent of SOX, reemphasizes the importance of the FASB’s independence:

By virtue of today’s Commission determination, the
FASB will continue its role as the preeminent accounting
standard setter in the private sector. In performing this
role, the FASB must use independent judgment in setting
standards and should not be constrained in its exploration
and discussion of issues. This is necessary to ensure that
the standards developed are free from bias and have the
maximum credibility in the business and investing
communities.’

Section 108 of SOX also indicates that Congress intended that the Board act more
promptly in making changes to accounting principles.z' The Policy Statement, consistent
with that view, stated that the Commission expects the FASB to “improve the timeliness
with which it completes its projects.”

3 Senate Report 107-2035, 107% Congress, 2d Session (July 3, 2002), page 13.

19 “policy Statement: Reaffirming the Status of the FASB as Designated Private-Sector Standard Setter,”
Exchange Act Release Nos. 33-8221; 34-47743; 1C-26028; FR-70 (April 28, 2003).

* Policy Statement, page 5 of 8.

*' Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 108(b)(1)(A)iv).

2 policy Statement, page 4 of 8.
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Finally, Section 108 of SOX indicates that Congress supported the FASB’s ongoing efforts
1o promote “international convergence on high quality accounting standards.”” The Policy
Statement contains nearly identical language.

As indicated above in response to Question 1, HR 3574 would appear to prohibit the SEC
from recognizing any FASB standard unless and until two conditions are met: (1) an
economic impact study by the Secretary of Commerce and the Secretary of Labor has
been completed, and (2) the standard prescribes exercise or other settlement date
measurement for the options granted. The former condition suggests that the quality of
financial accounting and reporting for stock options should be subjugated to the
protection of certain specified public policy goals. The latter condition prescribes a
measurement approach that is generally inconsistent with the measurement approach
contained in (1) existing US accounting standards, (2) IFRS 2 and Section 3870, and (3)
the Proposal. Mandating either condition through legislation appears inconsistent with
the language and intent of SOX and the Policy Statement.

Many preparers, auditors, and users of financial reports (including Members of the
Congress and federal regulators) agree that HR 3574 is inconsistent with the language
and intent of SOX and the Policy Statement because it would appear to weaken the
independence of the FASB, harm the integrity of the standard-setting process, and have
an adverse impact on achieving international convergence of high-quality accounting
standards.”® In recent testimony before Congress, The Honorable Paul A. Volcker,
Chairman of the Trustees of the International Accounting Standards Committee
Foundation, stated:

1 suggest that, before acting, Senators and
Congressmen ask themselves two simple questions:

“Do I really want to substitute my judgment on an
important but highly technical accounting principle for the
collective judgment of a body carefully constructed to
assure professional integrity, relevant experience, and
independence from parochial and political pressures?”

“Have I taken into account the adverse impact of
overruling FASB on the carefully constructed effort to meet

 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Section 108(b)(1}(A}V).

* policy Statement, page 4 of 8.

¥ Testimony of Robert H. Herz, Chairman, and George J. Batavick, Board Member, Financial Accounting
Standards Board, before the Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises
Subcommittee of the Committee on Financial Services, hearing on “The FASB Stock Options Proposal: Its
Effect on the U.S. Economy and Jobs™ (May 4, 2004), Attachment 5.



18

June 22, 2004
Page 10 of 11

the need, in a world of globalized finance, for a common
set of international accounting standards?”?

6. What practical effect would this bill have on the issue of the setting of accounting
standards by FASB with respect to accounting for stock options? In answering
this question, do you believe that Section 5 of the bill has any practical effect?

As explained below, the practical effect of HR 3574 would appear to be to delay the
implementation of, and thereafter severely constrain the content of, any FASB accounting
standard relating to expensing stock options. Section 5 of HR 3574 does not appear to
obviate that result.

Section 5 of HR 3574 states that “[nJothing in this Act shall be construed to limit the
authority over the setting of accounting principles by any accounting standard setting
body whose principles are recognized by the Securities and Exchange Commission.”
As indicated above in response to Question 5, the Policy Statement issued to implement
Section 108 of SOX reaffirmed that the SEC would continue to recognize as “generally
accepted” the accounting standards established by the FASB.?

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5 of HR 3574 and the Policy Statement, as
indicated above in response to Question 1, Section 3 of HR 3574 would appear to
prohibit the SEC from recognizing any FASB accounting standard relating to the
expensing of stock options unless and until two conditions are met: (1) an economic
impact study by the Secretary of Commerce and the Secretary of Labor has been
completed, and (2) the standard prescribes exercise or other settlement date measurement
for the options granted. The latter condition prescribes a measurement approach that is
generally inconsistent with the measurement approach contained in (1) existing US
accounting standards, (2) IFRS 2 and Section 3870, and (3) the Proposal.

Commenting on the practical effect of HR 3574, Robert Denham, Chairman and
President of the Financial Accounting Foundation, the nonprofit corporation that appoints
members of the FASB and oversees its process, stated:

HR. 3574 preempts and overrides the FASB's
ongoing effort to improve accounting for equity-based
compensation through public due process. . . . Once
Congress starts setting accounting standards through its

* Testimony of The Honorable Paul A. Volcker, before the Subcommittee on Financial Management, the
Budget, and International Security of the Committee on Governmental Affairs, United States Senate,
“Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options: Supporting and Strengthening the Independence of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board” (April 20, 2004), page 2 of 2.

7 policy Statement, page 5 of 8.
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political process, the integrity of accounting standard
setting in this country will be dangerously compromised.

If enacted, H.R. 3574 would also severely impede
the important ongoing efforts by the FAF and FASB to
achieve international convergence of high-quality
accounting standards. . . . Because the International
Accounting Standards Board has recently issued a final
standard requiring the recognition of compensation cost for
the fair value of employee stock options, Congressional
action would result in a major difference between US and
international standards, thus undermining the movement
toward international convergence previously encouraged by
Congress in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, and by many investors and other
market participants.

* * * *

Thank you again for your letter and your long-time and continuing support of the
independence of the FASB. If you have any further questions or comments, please feel
free to contact me directly or our Washington, DC representative, Jeff Mahoney (703-
243-9085).

Pttt 4. A’Jb}

Attachment

 Financial Accounting Foundation News Release, “Financial Accounting Foundation Chairman Responds
to House Subcommittee’s Action on ‘The Stock Option Accounting Reform Act’”(May 17, 2004).
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ATTACHMENT

A BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
BOARD’S PROJECT TO IMPROVE THE ACCOUNTING FOR EQUITY-BASED
COMPENSATION

Under existing United States (“US™) generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”),
only stock options granted to employees that meet certain specified criteria (so-called
fixed plan employee stock options) are not required to be reported as a compensation
expense in the income statements of those companies that grant them. All other forms of
employee compensation, including cash salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, restricted
stock, stock warrants, performance-based stock options, indexed-based stock options, and
employee stock ownership plans, are, and have long been, required to be reported as an
expense. Similarly, when stock-based grants of any form are issued to nonemployees for
goods or services, they also are, and have long been, required to be reported as an
expense. The exception for fixed plan employee stock options is clearly an anomaly in
today’s financial accounting and reporting model in the US.

In March 2003, at a public meeting, the Board decided by unanimous vote to add a
project to its agenda to address issues relating to improving the accounting for equity-
based compensation. The project was in response to the high level of public concern
expressed by many individual and institutional investors, financial analysts, the major
accounting firms, study groups such as the Conference Board Commission on Public
Trust and Private Enterprise, and many other parties, including a number of Members of
Congress, about the need to improve the accounting for equity-based compensation.
More specifically, many expressed support for eliminating the fixed plan employee stock
option anomaly.

Many believe that the anomaly results in significant distortions in reporting of earnings,
operating results, and operating cash flows of an enterprise—distortions that cannot be
remedied solely by improvements in footnote disclosures. Others believe that the
anomaly and related reporting distortions were a contributing factor to the stock market
bubble, the severity of the subsequent crash, and some of the recent high-profile
corporate reporting scandals and subsequent bankruptcies.

Others believe that the anomaly encourages enterprises to issue an excessive amount of
fixed plan employee stock options resulting in an opaque transfer of economic value from
shareholders to employees. Some studies have shown that in order to maintain their
stock price in the face of such dilution, companies expend large amounts of cash on stock
buybacks that have absorbed much of their free cash flow. The result is that there is less
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cash available for other purposes, such as research and development, employee training,
or other corporate activities, which may be more beneficial to the long-term value of the
company and its sharcholders.

Others, including prominent compensation experts, believe that the anomaly discourages
companies from utilizing other forms of equity-based compensation that may be more
beneficial to the long-term value of the company and its shareholders and that may have
better incentive properties in terms of attracting, motivating, and retaining employees,
than fixed plan employee stock options. Examples often cited include performance-based
options and restricted stock.

The ultimate goal of the current FASB project on improving the accounting for equity-
based compensation is to develop and put in place a standard that results in reporting that
more faithfully reflects the underlying economic effects of equity-based compensation
arrangements and that brings about greater comparability of reporting in this important
area. The project also provides an opportunity to achieve greater international
convergence of accounting standards, an objective the FASB has been encouraged to
pursue by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Act”), the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), and many other parties.

On March 31 of this year, the Board issued, by unanimous vote, an Exposure Draft,
Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment
(“Proposal™). The Proposal is the result of an extensive public due process that began in
November 2002 before the project was added to the Board’s agenda. That process
included the issuance of a preliminary document for public comment, the review of over
300 comment letters and over 130 unsolicited letters, the review of relevant research
studies, consultation with our advisory councils and valuation and compensation experts,
field visits, public and private discussions with hundreds of individuals, including users,
auditors, and preparers of the financial reports of small businesses, and active
deliberations at 38 public Board meetings at which the provisions of the Proposal were
carefully developed with consideration given to all interested parties.

Based on our extensive public due process to date, the Board believes that the Proposal
would improve the financial reporting for equity-based compensation arrangements. We
believe that by creating greater transparency, completeness, and a more level playing
field in the accounting for different forms of equity-based compensation, the Proposal
would enhance the comparability of reported results between enterprises that choose to
compensate their employees in different ways. The Proposal would achieve that through
a number of provisions, including by eliminating the existing anomaly for fixed plan
employee stock options, which, as indicated above, are the only form of equity-based
compensation that is not currently required to be reported as an expense in the financial
statements. The Proposal also includes provisions that we believe would improve the
transparency of the effects of equity-based compensation on reported cash flows.

The Proposal reflects the view that all forms of equity-based compensation should be
properly accounted for as such and that the existing anomaly for fixed plan employee
stock options results in reporting that not only ignores the economic substance of those
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transactions but also distorts reported earnings, profitability, and other key financial
metrics. Thus, under current US GAAP, the greater the use of fixed plan employee stock
options, the greater the distortion of reported resuits. In contrast, this distortion does not
occur when enterprises use stock options, or similar instruments such as stock purchase
warrants, for purposes other than compensating employees, for example, in acquiring
goods or services or in financing or merger and acquisition transactions. In those cases,
current US GAAP does require that stock options or warrants be valued and accounted
for in the financial statements.

The Proposal would bring about greater comparability between the over 575 companies
that have voluntarily opted to account for the cost of employee stock options and many
others that have elected not to do so. It also would be responsive to the growing number
of companies, including major technology companies, whose shareholders by a majority
vote have approved nonbinding proxy resolutions mandating expensing of all employee
stock options. Management of a number of those companies has indicated that it is
awaiting completion of our project in order to respond to the demands of its shareholders.

The Proposal also would result in substantial convergence in the accounting for equity-
based compensation between our standards and international accounting standards that
will, beginning next year, be followed by companies in over 90 countries around the
world. In addition, Canada, who often has followed the lead of the US in improving
accounting standards, felt that it could not wait on this topic, and decided to mandate
expensing of employee stock options beginning in January of this year. It is our
understanding that implementation of their new standard has to date gone very smoothly.

Finally, and most importantly, improvements in accounting for equity-based
compensation can have economic consequences. More credible, comparable, and
transparent financial information about equity-based compensation transactions can
enhance the efficiency of capital allocation in our markets. Efficient allocation of capital
is critical to our nation’s economy.

The Board continues to actively seek input about the Proposal from interested parties.

For example, the Board discussed the proposal with representatives of small businesses at
the inaugural public meeting of our Small Business Advisory Committee on May 11.

The Board also plans to hold public roundtable meetings with valuation and
compensation experts, and users, auditors, and preparers of financial reports in the
coming days to discuss a broad range of issues about the Proposal.

Following the end of the Proposal’s comment period in June, the Board plans to
redeliberate, at public meetings, issues raised in response to the Proposal. Those
redeliberations will include careful consideration of the ongoing input received from all
interested parties.

Only after carefully evaluating the input and potential improvements to the Proposal at
public meetings will the Board consider whether to issue a final standard. The Board’s
current plans are to complete its redeliberations and be in a position to issue a final
standard in the fourth quarter of this year.
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Mr. DINGELL. I thank you. I also ask unanimous consent that a
fine op-ed article by Warren Buffett and a statement by FACTS,
the Financial Accounting Coalition for Truthful Statements, which
is a coalition of over 30 pension funds, consumer/investor groups,
and labor unions who oppose this bill and support FASB’s proposal,
also be inserted into the record.

Mr. STEARNS. By unanimous consent, so ordered.

[The information referred to follows:]

[Tuesday, July 6, 2004—The Washington Post]
Fuzzy MATH AND STOCK OPTIONS
By Warren Buffet

Until now the record for mathematical lunacy by a legislative body has been held
by the Indiana House of Representatives, which in 1897 decreed by a vote of 67 to
0 that pi—the ratio of the circumference of a circle to its diameter—would no longer
be 3.14159 but instead be 3.2. Indiana schoolchildren momentarily rejoiced over this
simplification of their lives. But the Indiana Senate, composed of cooler heads, re-
ferred the bill to the Committee for Temperance, and it eventually died.

What brings this episode to mind is that the U.S. House of Representatives is
about to consider a bill that, if passed, could cause the mathematical lunacy record
to move east from Indiana. First, the bill decrees that a coveted form of corporate
pay—stock options—be counted as an expense when these go to the chief executive
and the other four highest-paid officers in a company, but be disregarded as an ex-
pense when they are 1ssued to other employees in the company. Second, the bill says
that when a company is calculating the expense of the options issued to the mighty
five, it shall assume that stock prices never fluctuate.

Give the bill’s proponents an A for imagination—and for courting contributors—
and a flat-out F for logic.

All seven members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, all four of the
big accounting firms and legions of investment professionals say the two proposals
are nonsense. Nevertheless, many House members wish to ignore these informed
voices and make Congress the Supreme Accounting Authority. Indeed, the House
bill directs the Securities and Exchange Commission to “not recognize as ‘generally
accepted’ any accounting principle established by a standard setting body” that dis-
agrees with the House about the treatment of options.

The House’s anointment of itself as the ultimate scorekeeper for investors, it
should be noted, comes from an institution that in its own affairs favors Enronesque
accounting. Witness the fanciful “sunset” provisions that are used to meet legislative
“scoring” requirements. Or regard the unified budget protocol, which applies a por-
tion of annual Social Security receipts to reducing the stated budget deficit while
ignoring the concomitant annual costs for benefit accruals.

I have no objection to the granting of options. Companies should use whatever
form of compensation best motivates employees—whether this be cash bonuses,
trips to Hawaii, restricted stock grants or stock options. But aside from options,
every other item of value given to employees is recorded as an expense. Can you
imagine the derision that would be directed at a bill mandating that only five bo-
nuses out of all those given to employees be expensed? Yet that is a true analogy
to what the option bill is proposing.

Equally nonsensical is a section in the bill requiring companies to assume, when
they are valuing the options granted to the mighty five, that their stocks have zero
volatility. I've been investing for 62 years and have yet to meet a stock that doesn’t
fluctuate. The only reason for making such an Alice-in-Wonderland assumption is
to significantly understate the value of the few options that the House wants count-
ed. This undervaluation, in turn, enables chief executives to lie about what they are
truly being paid and to overstate the earnings of the companies they run.

Some people contend that options cannot be precisely valued. So what? Estimates
pervade accounting. Who knows with precision what the useful life of software, a
corporate jet or a machine tool will be? Pension costs, moreover, are even fuzzier,
because they require estimates of future mortality rates, pay increases and invest-
ment earnings. These guesses are almost invariably wrong, often substantially so.
But the inherent uncertainties involved do not excuse companies from making their
best estimate of these, or any other, expenses. Legislators should remember that it
is better to be approximately right than precisely wrong.

If the House should ignore this logic and legislate that what is an expense for
five is not an expense for thousands, there is reason to believe that the Senate—
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like the Indiana Senate 107 years ago—will prevent this folly from becoming law.
Sen. Richard Shelby (R-Ala.), chairman of the Senate Banking Committee, has firm-
ly declared that accounting rules should be set by accountants, not by legislators.

Even so, House members who wish to escape the scorn of historians should render
the Senate’s task moot by killing the bill themselves. Or if they are absolutely deter-
mined to meddle with reality, they could attack the obesity problem by declaring
that henceforth it will take 24 ounces to make a pound. If even that friendly stand-
ard seems unbearable to their constituents, they can exempt all but the fattest five
in each congressional district from any measurement of weight.

In the late 1990s, too many managers found it easier to increase “profits” by ac-
counting maneuvers than by operational excellence. But just as the schoolchildren
of Indiana learned to work with honest math, so can option-issuing chief executives
learn to live with honest accounting. It’s high time they step up to that job.

The writer is chief executive officer of Berkshire Hathaway Inc., a diversified
holding company, and a director of The Washington Post Co., which has an invest-
ment in Berkshire Hathaway.

Copyright 2004 The Washington Post

FACTS

Financial Accounting Coalition for Truthful Statements

Contact: Elizabeth Fender
917-670-1427
elizfender@yahoo.com

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
COALITION CALLS ON CONGRESS TO ALLOW FASB TO ISSUE RULE ON
EXPENSING STOCK OPTIONS

Washington D.C., May 19, 2004 -- The Financial Accounting Coalition for Truthful Statements
(FACTS) released a statement today asking Congress to stay out of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s process for considering a proposed rule requiring companies to expense all
stock options. FACTS is a broad coalition of 30 pension funds, consumer/investor groups and
labor unions advocating fairness and transparency in financial reporting. (See attached Statement
for list of members.)

FACTS, which represents millions of Americans, agrees that stock option compensation is a real
expense that appropriately should be included on corporate income statements, not hidden in
footnotes to financial statements. The group’s spokesperson, Liz Fender, commented that
“Congress interfered with FASB about 10 years ago and with all of the recent events that have
shaken the public’s trust in the financial markets, we are surprised that they are once again
contemplating such a move.”

The coalition believes that accounting rules are best decided not by Congress but by FASB, an
independent body charged with setting accounting standards. FASB has the expertise to fully
evaluate accounting issues. It has an open, independent process for considering new accounting
standards.

Less than two years have passed since the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 established a mechanism
ensuring that FASB would be independently funded and free from any pressures from special
interest groups. HR 3574/S. 1890, “The Stock Option Accounting Reform Act,” undermines this
important reform by allowing Congress to succumb to pressure from special interests and
override FASB’s independence.
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FACTS

Financial Accounting Coalition for Truthful Statements

OPPOSE H.R. 3574/S. 1890--OBJECTIVITY, NOT POLITICS
SHOULD DETERMINE STOCK OPTIONS REPORTING

e We speak for the millions of ordinary Americans who want faimess and accuracy in financial reporting
about corporate performance.

e Many that we represent have already lost confidence in companies that have violated or manipulated
accounting requirements. If the Congress sides with special interests to interfere with improving standards,
their confidence will be further shaken.

« H.R.3574/S. 1890, “The Stock Option Accounting Reform Act,” would establish the dangerous precedent
of Congress intervening to substitute special interest provisions in place of standards that are set
independently and objectively to achieve accurate and transparent financial reporting.

e H.R.3574/S. 1890 would inject Congress directly into the accounting standard-setting process by mandating
which stock compensation should be expensed and by what methodology, as well as establishing special
exemptions for small businesses. Nothing could be farther from the independence for FASB to set
accounting standards that Congress established in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

+ FASB'srole is to insure that companies provide transparency and accuracy in accounting standards, FASB
designs the ruler. It is for others to decide what to do with the measurements.

» Stock option compensation is a real expense. Excluding stock options distorts reported earnings and
misleads the public about true financial performance of companies. Excluding stock options also invites
excessive executive compensation, to the detriment of shareholders, and employees.

o Growing numbers of shareholder’s proposals are being adopted calling for expensing of stock-option
compensation and hundreds of firms from all sectors of the economy have begun to voluntarily expense,

e Now is the time to say "no" to the special interest plea for distorted financial reporting and "yes" to the
independent and objective process by which FASB determines the most accurate methods available to give
information to the public.
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FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING COALITION FOR TRUTHFUL STATEMENTS
FACTS,

Amalgamated Bank

American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations

American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees

Bricklayers & Trowe! Trades International Pension Fund

Building Trades United Pension Trust Fund

Carpenters Local Unions and Councils Pension Fund

Central Laborers

CFA Institute (formerly the Association for Investment Management and Research)

Citizen Works

Coalition to Stop Stock Options

Consumer Action

Council of Institutional Investors

CWA/ITU Negotiated Pension Plan

Florida State Board of Administration

City of Hartford Municipal Employees Retirement Fund

Hermes Pensions Management Ltd.

International Brotherhood of Teamsters

International Corporate Governance Network (ICGN) Accounting and Auditing Practices
Committee

Iowa Public Employees Retirement Systems

The Jeffrey Company

Lawndale Capital Management LLC

Missouri State Employees Retirement System

Montana Board of Investments

New Hampshire Retirement System

New Jersey Division of Investment

New York State and Local Retirement Systems

Ohio Highway Patrol Retirement System

Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund

Ohio Public Employees Deferred Compensation Program

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System

School Employees Retirement System of Ohio

State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio

Sacramento County Employees Retirement System

TIAA-CREF

UNITE Laundry & Dry Cleaning Workers Pension Fund

UNITE National Retirement Fund

UNITE Textile Workers Pension Fund

U.S. Public Interest Research Group

Universities Superannuation Scheme

State of Wisconsin Investment Board

(in formation)
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Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, in closing, I look forward to hearing
the testimony of FASB, of GAO, and our high tech witnesses this
afternoon. I am not opposed to trying to find a fair and reasonable
way to address the tech industry’s concerns with the FASB pro-
posal. I ask only that at least at this time we consider that we do
not fully understand what the virtues and vices of this are, nor
have we heard from everybody who wishes to be heard, nor has a
fair and open process been permitted to come to a proper conclu-
sion.

It is clear to me that the Baker bill is not the answer. It is equal-
ly clear to me that it is irresponsible and improper meddling in a
process which is too important to be tinkered around with by an
uninformed and ignorant Congress that doesn’t understand highly
technical questions of this kind.

I thank you and yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. STEARNS. And I thank the gentleman.

Mr. Ferguson? Okay. Mr. Stupak?

Mr. StuPAK. Mr. Chairman, thank you. I would also like to com-
mend Chairman Barton for his strong defense of the committee’s
jurisdiction over the issue before us today. The Energy and Com-
merce Committee has a long jurisdictional history over accounting
standards and the Financial Accounting Standards Board. It is
highly appropriate that we are holding this hearing, and I com-
mend the chairman’s leadership and the subcommittee chair for
holding this hearing.

Today’s hearing will clarify the need for the expensing of stock
options, the need to keep FASB free from political and business in-
terference, and the very real problems with H.R. 3574, the bill re-
cently voted out of the Financial Services Committee, that would
block the FASB proposal.

H.R. 3574 is evidence of exactly why Congress should leave ac-
counting standards to the experts. Politicians are not accountants.
Politicians should leave the rules of balancing the books to the ex-
perts. We can’t balance our own books. Under this Congress, the
United States has a debt of at least $7.1 trillion, and we will run
a deficit of at least $521 billion.

For over 30 years we have trusted FASB to set accounting and
reporting standards for private and public companies. Congress
interfered once in that independence in 1993 when it pressured
FASB to not implement a stock option expensing plan then. Had
we not made that mistake, perhaps some of the excesses of the late
1990’s could have been avoided.

Frankly, I think a few companies are trying to generate con-
troversy by making red herring arguments about the FASB pro-
posal. But a consensus among financial experts, accounting experts
and consumer advocates is that the FASB proposal is needed. Fed-
eral Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan, Treasury Secretary John
Snow, SEC Chairman William Donaldson, Warren Buffett, and the
big four accounting firms all support expensing of stock options.
Over 500 companies already expense stock options voluntarily. And
the International Standards Accounting Board, whose standards af-
fect 90 countries, will require the expensing of stock options in
2005. Canada already requires it. Stock option expensing is not
controversial. It is long overdue.
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Finally, I would like to conclude by saying that H.R. 3574 is a
deeply flawed bill. First, it applies expensing of stock options only
to the CEO and the four other highest paid executives in the com-
pany, and the bill sets up a method of valuing those executives’ op-
tions that doesn’t make sense. When calculating the value of those
options, the company is to assume that the volatility of the under-
lying stock is zero. Stock prices move. In fact, the greater the vola-
tility, the greater the value of the stock option. Warren Buffett
gave these two measures a flat out F for logic.

Another huge problem with the bill is that it would prohibit the
voluntary expensing of options by over 575 companies that are cur-
rently voluntarily exercising their options including Wal-Mart,
Ford, General Motors, Microsoft, Coca-Cola, and other innovative
younger companies like Netflix. Startup companies that are ex-
pensing stock options voluntarily are often seen as more attractive
investments precisely because they expense stock options. The crux
of this matter is transparency. Investors have the right to receive
accurate information about a company’s financial health. We know
too well what happens when companies cook their books. And this
committee knows too well the sham accounting gimmicks used to
inflate earnings and boost stock prices. Soaring stock prices al-
lowed Enron’s CEO Ken Lay to take home $123 million from exer-
cising his stock options the year Enron went bankrupt. $123 mil-
lion. Yesterday, Ken Lay was indicted on criminal charges. His in-
dictment should serve as a reminder to Congress why this reform
is needed. We should let FASB do their job.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman.

Mr. Bass.

Mr. BAss. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and as the Chair well
knows, I welcome this hearing. I welcome this hearing in the new
light, shall we say, of being able to consider before it reaches the
floor an important issue, not having the jurisdiction of this com-
mittee completely obfuscated by another committee.

We have, as the Chair well knows, taken the time here to have
significant hearings on this issue over the last couple of years, and
the content is extremely important.

I don’t want to have any of my comments be interpreted as either
supporting or opposing the issue of expensing of options, because
there are very good arguments on both sides, both for expensing
and against expensing options, and the purpose of this hearing is
to dive into those reasons or issues. And we have very good wit-
nesses here, not the least of which is one of my classmates and
former member of this committee, Rick White, from Washington.

However, as some other members of this committee have said in
their opening statements, we passed a couple of years ago as a re-
sult of scandals plaguing our economy, corporate world, the Sar-
banes-Oxley bill, and it contained phrases such as “independent
judgment” and “free from bias” when establishing the manner in
which the FASB should set standards, and to have credibility
given, independent credibility given to these regulatory agencies.

Now, I have heard from many of my constituents regarding the
concerns with the FASB proposal that would require expensing,
and I question whether the proposed legislation which might have
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been on the floor tomorrow had it not been for the leadership of
our full committee chairman and the subcommittee chairman,
whether this is exactly the way we should be going about it.

So I look forward to hearing the testimony of our witnesses here
today, and I thank you, Mr. Chairman, not only for holding this
hearing which you planned to hold quite a few weeks ago, but real-
ly working hard to make it relevant.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank my colleague.

Mr. Davis.

Mr. DAvis. I will waive, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay. The gentleman waives. He will have 3 extra
minutes on his questioning.

Mr. Shadegg.

Mr. SHADEGG. I thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I have a full
statement which I will put in the record.

I simply want to start by commending you for holding this hear-
ing. I think it is very important that we look at this issue. I am
a cosponsor of H.R. 3574, and I believe that there are legitimate
concerns to be looked at here, and I think it is important that this
committee examine those issues.

I personally am not fond of compelling the expensing of all stock
options. I am deeply concerned that that will hurt some industries,
particularly some in my own district that are technology, high-tech
startups and companies that have used stock expensing to
incentivize and to encourage very, very talented employees to take
a risk on their companies, and have done so successfully. And I
think just by dent of philosophy, I believe that everything we can
do within our economic system to give employees a stake in the
profitability of a company or in its success is a step in the right
direction. And so I think it is important that we look at anything
that would put that structure at risk. And I think stock options are
a part of the structure that give employees a stake in the company.

I am concerned about the FASB proposal for a number of rea-
sons. I am particularly concerned that there is no agreed upon
method of valuation which everyone says is in fact accurate. I un-
derstand that there is consensus that there are some proposals
that are more accurate than others and some sense that this might
be an improvement, but I think we should, if anything, in this area
go slow. And I think the Baker bill, the H.R. 3574 is a reasonable
compromise in going slow in this area.

I would suggest that it is focused at the top management of the
company, because those are the individuals who can in fact manip-
ulate. And if the concern is, as one of my colleagues said on the
other side, abuse of the corporation or of its financial structure
through stock options, those are the individuals that would be in-
volved in that.

I do want to make two additional points. There has always been
some concern expressed that setting the volatility at zero as the
Baker legislation does means we are setting the value of the option
at zero, and that is clearly wrong. There are five other factors that
go into the valuation of the stock. What setting at zero does is it
creates a level playing field. It is both simple, understandable, and
it produces consistent results which can be easily verified, accord-
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ing to Frederick Cook, a FASB appointed member of the Option
Valuation Group.

I think the second issue I want to address is the concern that
some have that the Baker bill would prohibit companies from vol-
untarily expensing. As has been noted, many companies are cur-
rently doing that. I know that from my work on this legislation in
the Financial Services Committee on which I also serve, that it was
certainly not the intent of the authors of the bill to prohibit any
company that chooses to voluntarily expense its stock from doing
so, and that it is at least the belief of Mr. Baker and the authors
of the bill that it in fact does not prohibit any company from choos-
ing to voluntarily expense all of the stock options with which they
issue.

I would conclude by simply saying that in a paper entitled Ex-
pensing Options Solves Nothing, a report by Harvard business pro-
fessor of Business Administration, he argued that, if anything, ex-
pensing may lead to a more distorted picture of a company’s eco-
nomic condition and cash-flow than current financial statements
provide. I think we ought to be guided by those words. I think the
Baker compromise is a reasonable compromise. I certainly believe
we ought to examine these issues. And I commend you, Mr. Chair-
man, for doing so. But, in the interest of my constituents who are
high-tech companies who believe this is a critical part of the incen-
tives they use to make their companies viable and to compete with
longstanding companies, I think it would be very—we would be ill
served to not look at these issues thoughtfully, and, I hope, require
expensing only where it in fact will aid the marketplace and aid
investors, and not where it will harm the viability of the American
economy and particularly high-techs and startups.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I yield back.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman.

The gentleman from Ohio. Mr. Brown.

Mr. BROWN. I thank the chairman. I also wish to send birthday
wishes with Mr. Dingell, who shares a birthday with my mother.
And Mr. Dingell, I would add, since my mother is not here to hear
it, is much younger than my mother.

But the issue of if our publicly traded companies account for
stock options has important implications for the integrity of cor-
porate governance and the soundness of American financial mar-
kets, that is why as we consider whether to interfere with efforts
to reform stock option accounting Congress should in fact heed the
physician’s maxim: First do not harm.

In 1995, as we remember, Congress overrode President Clinton’s
veto of legislation limiting shareholder securities lawsuits. The bill
was authored by the then chairman of this committee and cospon-
sored by its current chairman as well as the current chairman of
the Financial Services Committee. The bill was a not particularly
partisan one; in fact, the veto override passed overwhelmingly. But,
frankly, we got that one wrong, after Enron collapsed in 2001, leav-
ing corporate watchdogs pointing to the 1995 laws, one contributor
to a fast and loose corporate culture that spawned the Enron deba-
cle and a string of other corporate scandals.

Today, with another reform bill before us, Congress may be pre-
paring to repeat that mistake. H.R. 3574 derails FASB’s common
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sense standards, as Mr. Stupak said, for the clear, open and uni-
form expensing of stock options. Those standards are supported by
fed Chairman Greenspan, SEC Chairman Donaldson, institutional
investors like the Ohio Public Employees Retirement System,
which incidentally lost $114 million to the Enron scandal.

H.R. 3574 offers the illusion, as we do so often here, of corporate
accountability, because though it requires expensing of options to
top corporate officers, it also effectively requires that the company
place no value on those options. That bill actually undermines ex-
isting reforms by prohibiting companies, again as Mr. Stupak said,
that have already begun to expense their options from continuing
that practice. GM and GE, Ford, and UPS and Wal-Mart and Ama-
zon.com and more than 500 other companies believe they can com-
pete effectively with full disclosure, and shareholders for leading
tech firms like HP, Intel, Apple, and IBM believe their interests
are better served by expensing. But this bill makes that illegal.

Here is what President Clinton had to say in his veto message
of the 1995 securities law: Our markets are as strong and effective
as they are because they operate and are seen to operate with in-
tegrity. I believe this bill would erode this crucial basis of our mar-
ket strength. Unquote.

That is just as true today as it was just about a decade ago. I
look forward to the testimony of our witnesses, Mr. Chairman. I
hope we can approach this important issue today and as the legis-
lation advances with the renewed commitment to do no harm.

I yield back my time.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank the gentleman.

Mr. Green.

Mr. GREEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I would like to commend our Chairman Barton for the defense
of our committee’s jurisdiction on this legislation in particular, and
I would also like to thank you and our ranking member for holding
this important hearing.

It is interesting as we hold this hearing, Ken Lay, former CEO
of Enron, is in a courtroom in Houston facing charges for behavior
this bill seeks to prevent. Under this bill, Ken Lay’s stock options
would have been fully reported. And I support entrepreneurial spir-
it of American companies; however, we have seen in recent years
there is need to supply shareholders better information on the
value of their share holdings. This bill is a step forward in achiev-
ing that goal.

The legislation provides protections from deceptive reporting of
stock values and affords businesses the ability to use such options
to entice the best and the brightest. Such incentives are critical to
the development of technology and related industries where human
capital is the driving force of the industry. Under this legislation,
companies must report stock options going to the top five execu-
tives. It is the behavior of top heavy profits that has gotten many
large corporations in trouble, and I believe this is a strong start in
safeguarding the value of stock other shareholders possess.

And, Mr. Chairman, hopefully this is our first hearing and we
are moving in the right direction with this legislation, and I yield
back my time.

[Additional statements submitted for the record follow:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. BARBARA CUBIN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF WYOMING

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I look forward to our hearing today on an important matter of competitiveness.
The concept of using stock options as an incentive for employee performance helped
contribute to substantial growth in the tech sector and brought many small busi-
nesses from infancy to mega-employer status. Having employees who have a stake
in the health of the company is not only a good incentive for the employer to offer,
but also a great wealth-building opportunity for wage-earners.

Now, after some high-profile bankruptcies, stock options are looked upon in a
largely negative manner, and the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s proposal
for them to be expensed will effectively kill the goose that laid the golden egg. In
anticipation of the pending accounting rule update, many companies are changing
how they incentivize performance and how they report the awarding of options, 1
think this is an unfortunate trend.

I think we need to preserve the ability of small employers to recruit employees
using incentives like stock options. It’s difficult for small and start up companies
to compete with large companies on salary alone. Stock options offer a potential for
wealth building and an incentive for company growth.

I am also concerned with the assumption that we can predict the cost of stock
option such that they can be included on a company’s balance sheet. If someone
could really determine what the future value of a stock is, wouldn’t we all buy low
and sell high?

There is another aspect to these changes that no one seems to speak about, and
that is the assumption that the stock will always increase. How fair is it for a com-
pany to expense these options, then show a poor annual report as a result, then
watch the stock decline to where it is worth less than the price it was granted? Cer-
tainly nobody will be exercising their options then.

I look forward to hearing from our distinguished panel on these matters today and
want to continue our dialog as we tackle legislation addressing this matter. I yield
back the balance of my time.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. DIANA DEGETTE, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF COLORADO

Thank you Mr. Chairman. I am pleased that the members of the Commerce,
Trade and Consumer Protection Subcommittee have a chance to weigh in on this
very important corporate governance issue, especially given this Committee’s juris-
diction over the Federal Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

In July 2002, following the revelations of alleged fraud at Enron, WorldCom and
Global Crossing, the Coca-Cola Company, in an unprecedented move, began to vol-
untarily report the stock options it granted to its employees as an expense on its
income statement. According to Coca-Cola’s Chief Financial Officer, Gary Fayard,
the expensing of stock options, instead of simply disclosing them in the footnotes,
was the appropriate choice as doing so “more clearly reflected economic reality” and
ensured “that the confidence of our shareowners was maintained.”

Since July 2002, more than 500 other U.S. reporting companies, such as Exxon
Mobil, General Motors, BankOne, Microsoft, Amazon.Com and Netflix, have joined
Coca-Cola and started treating the stock options they give to their employees the
same way they do any other form of compensation: as an expense on their income
statements. Despite fears, the expensing of stock options has not led to the sky fall-
ing, stock prices plummeting or an employee exodus to China or India at any of
these companies.

Recognizing that hundreds of public companies are already doing so, FASB re-
cently released a draft rule that would require all companies to expense stock op-
tions on their income statement. The FASB rule does not prohibit companies from
granting options, but only requires that they are properly accounted for.

Yet, instead of supporting FASB’s efforts in crafting this long overdue rule that
would be instrumental in enhancing the integrity of companies’ financial state-
ments, restoring investor confidence and strengthening corporate governance in our
country, Congress, in an unprecedented move, is threatening to usurp FASB’s au-
thority and block the Security and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) adoption of the
FASB rule.

Such a measure would prove to be a significant step backward from Sarbanes
Oxley and would call into question the commitment this body made to strengthening
corporate governance only two years ago. The bill sponsored by Representative
Baker would not only fail to increase financial transparency or further honest ac-
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counting, but would politicize the accounting standards-setting process and would
compromise the independence of FASB.

Simply stated, Congress should not legislate accounting standards nor should it
interfere with the accounting standards-setting process. Not only would doing so
dramatically undermine the independence of FASB, it would set a dangerous prece-
dent. If Congress blocked the FASB rule requiring the expensing of stock options
because it might adversely affect technology companies, what would stop this body
from requiring FASB to change other existing rules, such as its rule on expensing
depreciation that decreases the bottom line for manufacturers? While unlikely, Rep-
resentative Baker’s bill would open the door to such actions and potentially set us
on a path down a slippery slope.

It is also important to keep in mind that the very companies who are lobbying
Congress against expensing stock options for accounting purposes are expensing
stock options for tax purposes. Currently, a company is able to dole out options with
no impact to its bookkeeping bottom line—the one Wall Street is interested in, while
simultaneously expensing options and reducing its bottom line—its tax liability—for
tax purposes. Such a discrepancy not only leads to an overstatement of earnings for
companies, but also a penalty to those companies who do not use options to com-
pensate their employees. The FASB rule would rightfully correct this double stand-
ard.

Many of the companies and some Members who are against the FASB rule claim
that there is no perfect way to value options and for that reason, options should not
be expensed. But as Warren Buffet recently stated in a recent Washington Post edi-
torial on the issue, “estimates pervade accounting.” In fact, accountants use esti-
mates for lots of things, including items already expensed on the income statement,
such as depreciation or amortization. In fact, many accounting experts have said
that the method to value stock options is much more accurate than the method to
value the useful life of a manufacturing plant or a corporate jet for depreciation pur-
poses. As Warren Buffet has admonished, “legislators should remember that it is
better to be approximately right than precisely wrong.”

Therefore, I commend FASB in its continued efforts to increase financial trans-
parency and strengthen corporate governance in America. Moreover, Congress
should not interfere with the accounting standard process at FASB nor should it
limit the SEC’s ability to recognize FASB’s authority. Doing so would seriously com-
promise the independence of FASB, politicize the accounting standard setting-proc-
ess and even more importantly, undermine Congress’ efforts toward improving cor-
porate governance in our country.

Mr. STEARNS. I thank my colleagues. We are ready for the first
panel. We have the honorable David Walker, Comptroller General
of the U.S. General Accounting Office. We have Mr. Robert Herz,
Chairman of the Financial Accounting Standards Board. And we
have our former colleague, Mr. Rick White, President and CEO of
Technet, Chairman, International Employee Stock Options Coali-
tion. And we have Mr. Steven Mayer, Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Human Genome Sciences.

From our colleagues, we have two individuals that are sort of pro
stock options and we have two individuals who are not for stock
options. So I think we have got a balanced hearing. And we wel-
come your opening statements, and we would like you, if possible,
to keep them under 5 minutes, and thank you.

We will start with you, Mr. Walker. Thank you.

STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID M. WALKER, COMPTROLLER
GENERAL, U.S. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Mr. WALKER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Members of the sub-
committee. It is a pleasure to be before you here today. In addition
to being the Comptroller General of the United States and head of,
effective yesterday, the Government Accountability Office, still the
GAO, I have been a CPA for over 30 years. So I have had to deal
with these issues both in the public sector and the private sector,
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the not-for-profit sector, for many years. I felt it was important
that you understand my background on this issue.

I appreciate the opportunity to share GAQO’s perspective on the
process of establishing accounting standards for private sector enti-
ties, in general, and the FASB’s proposed accounting for stock op-
tions, in particular. As has been noted by a number of members,
we fully recognize that the stock options accounting issue is a com-
plex and controversial issue on which reasonable people can and do
disagree.

On June 28, 2004, I sent a letter to the FASB as well as to the
Chair and ranking member of the Senate Committee on Banking,
Housing, and Urban Affairs. My testimony is based primarily on
these two letters.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for putting my entire statement in
the record, and I will summarize the highlights.

We support the concepts behind FASB’s current proposed state-
ment requiring that companies use the fair market value method,
which essentially results in companies recording stock options and
other share based compensation arrangements as an expense. In
our view, stock options and other forms of share-based payments
have economic value and represent a form of compensation ex-
pense. If they are not compensation, I don’t know what else they
are. Therefore, we believe that the economic substance of such
transactions should be reflected as a compensation expense and in
the calculation of a company’s net income in order to accurately
portray its financial results.

The current standard, which permits companies to choose be-
tween the intrinsic and fair market value methods, in effect allows
companies to select their own net income. It also creates a barrier
to comparable financial information, both domestically and inter-
nationally, because the choice of methods will result in differences
in reported amounts across companies due to the different methods
of accounting. We believe that a requirement to expense stock op-
tions and other share-based payments will provide additional
transparency, clarity, and comparability in financial reporting.

I would also note, as certain other members of the subcommittee
have stated, it would also serve to increase consistency between ac-
counting and tax treatment for share based payments.

We also support the four principal reasons that the FASB has
cited for issuing the new proposed standard. Notwithstanding ours
and others’ views on the merits of various accounting methods for
stock options, we believe that the principle of independence, both
in fact and appearance, with regard to standard setting is abso-
lutely crucial. It is essential to the credibility of and confidence in
the authoritative standard setting process. FASB, in carrying out
its standard setting activities, has an established process in place
to obtain and consider feedback from its constituent groups, includ-
ing financial statement preparers, auditors, institutional investors,
lenders, creditors, professional analysts, and various other parties.
This process is especially important given the complexity and con-
troversial nature of some accounting standards, including the one
being considered today, accounting for stock options and other
share-based payments.
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We believe it is critical that the FASB complete its analysis of
comments received on its exposure document on share-based pay-
ments and finalize its proposed statement in accordance with the
established independent standard setting process. In our opinion,
the FASB’s independent standard setting process, subject to SEC
oversight, which the Congress properly enacted, should be allowed
to proceed in its consideration of accounting for stock options.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my statement. I would be happy
to answer any questions after my fellow panel members have a
chance to speak. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Hon. David M. Walker follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. DAVID M. WALKER, COMPTROLLER GENERAL, U.S.
GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Dear Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to discuss with the subcommittee GAO’s perspective on the process for estab-
lishing accounting standards for private-sector entities and then, more specifically,
the current proposals for accounting for stock options. We recognize that accounting
for stock options is a complex and controversial issue on which reasonable people
can and do disagree. As a result, in light of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board’s (FASB) current proposed standard for accounting for stock options and other
share-based compensation, there has been a renewed interest for the Congress to
possibly legislate accounting rules for stock options. On June 28, 2004, we sent a
letter to FASB commenting on its proposed standard and a letter discussing the ac-
counting standard-setting process to the Senate Committee on Banking, Housing,
and Urban Affairs.!

FASB is a non-governmental organization empowered to establish financial ac-
counting and reporting standards for private-sector entities. Although this function
legally resides with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for public com-
panies as part of its mandate to administer and enforce the provisions of the federal
securities laws, the SEC has traditionally relied on FASB since 1973 to fulfill this
function. The U.S. capital markets depend on a system of continuously improving
financial information about the underlying economic activities of companies. This in-
formation is fostered and framed by independently established financial accounting
and reporting standards, collectively referred to as generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).

On March 31, 2004, FASB issued an exposure document on a proposed Statement,
Share-Based Payment, an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95, which
addresses the accounting for compensation to employees in the form of stock options
and other forms of equity. The FASB’s proposed Statement would generally elimi-
nate the ability for public companies to account for share-based services using the
intrinsic method (which generally results in no expense being recognized) and would
require instead the use of a fair-value-based method, which would generally result
in companies treating stock options granted to employees as an expense based on
their fair value when granted.2 It is important to note that in 1995, when issuing
the current standard that is in place, FASB clearly stated that the fair market value
is the preferable method. The current standard also includes guidance to that effect
and requires that if the fair market value method is not used, then disclosure must
be made of pro forma net income and earnings per share presented as if the fair
market value method had been used.

We support the concepts behind FASB’s current proposed Statement requiring
companies to use the fair market value method, which essentially results in compa-
nies recording stock options and other share-based arrangements as an expense. In
our view, stock options and other forms of share-based payment have economic
value and represent a form of compensation expense. Therefore, we believe that the
economic substance of such transactions should be reflected as compensation ex-
pense in the calculation of a company’s net income to accurately portray its financial
results. The current standard, which permits companies to choose between the in-

I U.S.General Accounting Office, Independent Standard-Setting Process for Establishing Ac-
counting Standards for Private-Sector Entities, GAO-04-480R (Washington, D.C.: June 28, 2004).
This letter contained as an enclosure our comment letter to FASB.

2The proposed standard would permit nonpublic companies to measure compensation costs
based on the intrinsic method of accounting at each reporting date until options are exercised
or otherwise settled.
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trinsic and fair value methods, allows companies to select the impact on net income.
It also creates a barrier to comparable financial information, both domestically and
internationally, because the choice of methods used will result in differences in re-
ported amounts across companies due to the different methods of accounting. We
believe that a requirement to expense stock options and other share-based payment
will provide additional transparency, clarity, and comparability in financial report-
ing.

We also support the four principal reasons FASB cited for issuing the new pro-
posal: (1) addressing concerns of users and others that the use of the intrinsic value
method results in financial statements that do not faithfully represent economic
transactions and can distort the financial condition and operations of the issuer; (2)
improving the comparability of reported financial information through the elimi-
nation of alternative accounting methods; (3) simplifying U.S. generally accepted ac-
counting principles by requiring the use of a single method of accounting for share-
based payment; and (4) enabling international convergence and greater inter-
national comparability in the accounting for share-based payment.

Notwithstanding our and others’ views on the merits of various accounting meth-
ods for stock options, we believe that the principle of independence, both in fact and
in appearance, is essential to the credibility of and confidence in any authoritative
standard-setting processes. With respect to the role of FASB in this and other areas,
we support its efforts, as the SEC’s designated independent non-governmental
standard-setting body, to identify issues for consideration, prepare exposure docu-
ments, conduct outreach efforts and solicit comments on exposure documents, and
consider the resulting comments in finalizing and issuing new accounting standards.
FASB, in carrying out its standard-setting activities, has an established process in
place to obtain and consider feedback from its constituent groups, including finan-
cial statement preparers, auditors, and users such as individual investors, institu-
tional investors, lenders, creditors, professional analysts, and various other parties.
These processes were established in order to balance the competing interests and
demands of the various groups while providing standards that promote transparent,
credible, and comparable financial information. This time-tested and proven delib-
erative process has served to strengthen financial reporting and ensure general ac-
ceptance of the nation’s accounting standards. This process is especially important
given the complexity and controversial nature of some accounting standards, includ-
ing the accounting for stock options and other share-based payments.

We believe it is critical that FASB complete its analysis of comments received on
its exposure document on share-based payment and finalize its proposed Statement
in accordance with its established independent standard-setting process. In enacting
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Congress recognized the importance of having
an independent standard-setting process that facilitates accurate and effective fi-
nancial reporting and protects investors. As a safeguard, the Act specified criteria
for the SEC to use for determining whether a private-sector accounting standard
setter’s principles will be considered as generally accepted. The SEC determined
that FASB met the statutory criteria established in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
In our opinion, the FASB’s independent standard-setting process, subject to SEC
oversight, should be allowed to proceed in its consideration of accounting for stock
options.

I would like to add that GAO is involved in setting government auditing stand-
ards and accounting standards for federal agencies. We have also implemented de-
liberative processes to obtain and consider the perspectives of affected parties on ex-
posure drafts of proposed standards. Standard setting is, by its nature, an iterative
process and the standard setter needs a high degree of independence to make deci-
sions on what represents the best standard in the public interest.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I would be pleased to answer any
questions you or other members of the subcommittee may have at this time.

For further information regarding this testimony, please contact Jeanette M.
Franzel, Director, Financial Management and Assurance, at 202-512-9471 or
franzelj@gao.gov. Michael C. Hrapsky also made key contributions to this testimony.

Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Herz.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT H. HERZ, CHAIRMAN, FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

Mr. HErRz. Thank you, Chairman Stearns, Ranking Member
Schakowsky, and members of the subcommittee. I am very pleased
to appear here today. I think this is a very important and timely
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hearing. I have brief prepared remarks and a full text of testimony,
which I would request be entered into the record.

Mr. STEARNS. By unanimous consent, so ordered.

Mr. HERZ. As you well know, our ability to conduct our work in
a systematic, thorough, and unbiased manner is fundamental to
achieving our mission. The standards we produce are essential to
the growth and stability of the U.S. economy, because creditors, in-
vestors, and other consumers of financial information rely heavily
on credible, transparent, comparable, and unbiased financial re-
ports. Financial accounting reporting is meant to tell it like it is,
not to distort or to skew information to favor particular industries,
particular types of transactions, or particular political, social, or
economic goals, other than the goal of sound and honest reporting.

We understand that our proposal on share based payments or eq-
uity based compensation is controversial, the subject is controver-
sial, but we felt it very important to address the accounting in this
important area for a number of reasons.

First, there was a high level of public concern expressed by in-
vestors, creditors, financial analysts, and many other parties about
the need to improve the accounting in this area.

Second, the complexity and noncomparability in this lack of
transparency created by the alternative accounting treatments
presently available for stock based compensation.

And finally, the opportunity to achieve convergence to a common
high quality international accounting standard in this important
area.

Our proposal is the result of an extensive public due process, a
process that began in November 2002 before the project was added
to our agenda. That process included the issuance of a preliminary
document for public comment, the review of hundreds of comment
letters, review of relevant research studies, consultation with our
formal advisory councils, and with many, many, many other par-
ties, including users, auditors, and preparers of financial reports of
small businesses, an active board deliberation at 38 public meet-
ings.

The proposal reflects the view that all forms of equity based com-
pensation should be properly accounted for as such, and that the
existing exception for so-called fixed plan employee stock options
results in reporting that not only ignores the economic substance
of those transactions, but also distorts reported earnings and other
key financial metrics.

As the Congressional Budget Office stated in their recent report
to Congress, if firms do not recognize as an expense the fair value
of employee stock options measured when the options are granted,
the firms’ net income will be overstated. Thus, under current ac-
counting standards, the greater the use of fixed plan employee
stock options, the greater the distortion of the reported results.

In the public arena, as mentioned, our proposal would bring
about greater comparability between the over 575 companies that
have voluntarily opted to account for stock options and the many
others that have not yet done so. It would also be responsive to the
growing number of companies, including many major technology
companies, whose shareholders by a majority vote have approved
nonbinding proxy resolutions mandating expensing of all employee
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stock options. The proposal also would result in substantial conver-
gence in the accounting for equity based compensation between
U.S. standards and the international accounting standards that
Willkloe followed by companies in over 90 countries around the
world.

As noted, our neighbor to the north, Canada, who usually follows
our lead in modifying their accounting standards, felt that it could
not wait in this area and decided to mandate expensing of em-
ployee stock options beginning in January 2004. I understand that
implementation of Canada’s new standard, which has been adopted
by over 1,500 small businesses and over 500 technology companies,
has to date gone very smoothly.

Now, since the issuance of our proposal for public comment, we
have continued to actively solicit input and response to the pro-
posal. In May, the Board discussed the proposal with representa-
tives of small businesses at the public meeting of our Small Busi-
ness Advisory Committee. Mr. Mayer is a member of that. Discus-
sions focused largely on the special provisions that were in our pro-
posal that were intended to alleviate the cost and complexity of im-
plementing the standard for small businesses. We are very sen-
sitive to the needs and concerns of startups and small businesses,
and recognize that special provisions might be appropriate.

In June, we held four public roundtable meetings, two in Palo
Alto, California, and two at our offices in Norwalk to discuss the
proposal. Over 70 individuals from a broad range of companies, in-
vestors, small businesses, valuation experts, auditors, and so on,
attended the meeting and gave their views. To date, the Board has
also 1received thousands of comment letters in response to the pro-
posal.

Beginning later this month, we will start redeliberating at public
meetings the issues and comments we have gotten on the pro-
posals. Those redeliberations will be systematic, thorough and ob-
jective and will include careful consideration of the input already
received and input that we will continue to solicit throughout the
process. Only after carefully evaluating at the public meetings the
input received and reaching decisions on the issues raised will we
consider whether to issue a final standard.

Our current plans are to complete our redeliberations and be in
a position to issue a final standard in the fourth quarter of this
year. So it was with great concern that I learned that the House
of Representatives may soon vote on H.R. 3574, proposed legisla-
tion that if enacted would cut short, preempt and override our cur-
rent efforts to improve the accounting for equity-based compensa-
tion.

We strongly oppose H.R. 3574, as we believe do most investors,
analysts, accountants and many companies. That opposition is
based on many conceptual and technical reasons, including, first,
the proposed legislation is seriously flawed. By mandating the ex-
pensing of only those stock options held by the top five executives
and stipulating an unorthodox method for valuing and accounting
for those options, the proposed legislation violates fundamental
concepts of economics and accounting and would legislate signifi-
cant distortions in companies’ reported earnings, profitability and
other key financial metrics.
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Second, the proposed legislation, although titled the Stock Option
Accounting Reform Act, contains provisions that have exactly the
opposite effect by largely preserving, protecting and perpetuating
the nonexpensing of stock options that has resulted in an unlevel
playing field favoring certain companies that are the greatest user
of fixed plan employee stock options over other companies that
have chosen to compensate their employees in different ways.

Third, the proposed legislation, as mentioned, would be in direct
conflict with the expressed needs and demands of many investors
and shareholders and would appear to prohibit the voluntary ex-
pensing of all employee stock options that has been adopted by over
575 U.S. companies.

Fourth, the proposed legislation would strike a real blow to the
FASB’s efforts to achieve timely convergence of high quality inter-
national accounting standards and is therefore directly inconsistent
with the language and intent of both the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
the related SEC policy statement reaffirming the FASB as the Na-
tion’s accounting standard setter.

Fifth, the proposed legislation would raise a host of other prac-
tical and implementation issues for companies, auditors, regulators
and the entire financial reporting system.

Finally, and very importantly, the proposed legislation would in
our view establish a very dangerous precedent in that it would
send a clear and unmistakable signal that Congress is willing to
directly intervene in the independent, objective and open account-
ing standard setting process based on factors other than the pur-
suit of sound and honest financial reporting.

For those many reasons, we believe that H.R. 3574 if enacted
would result in a major step backwards in the recent efforts by
Congress, the SEC, the FASB and many other parties to restore
public confidence and trust in the integrity of financial reporting.
As Federal Reserve Chairman Greenspan recently noted, the poten-
tial enactment of H.R. 3574 would be a bad mistake for the Con-
gress. We wholeheartedly agree.

Speaking not just for the FASB but for the millions of U.S. inves-
tors and others that rely on the integrity of financial reporting and
the capital market system, I respectfully urge all of you to oppose
this legislation so that we may continue our work on developing a
high quality standard that will improve financial reporting in this
important area.

Thank you, Chairman Stearns. I too would be happy to respond
to questions.

[The prepared statement of Robert H. Herz follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT H. HERZ, CHAIRMAN, FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS BOARD

Chairman Stearns, Ranking Member Schakowsky, and Members of the Sub-
committee: I am Robert Herz, chairman of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB” or “Board”). I am pleased to appear before you today on behalf of
the FASB. I want to thank you for the opportunity to publicly express our concerns,
and the concerns of investors, analysts, accountants, and many companies about
H.R. 3574,! which, if enacted, will cut short and override the FASB’s current efforts
to improve the financial accounting and reporting for equity-based compensation.

1H.R. 3574, 108th Congress, 1st Session (November 21, 2004).
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My testimony includes a brief overview of (1) the FASB, including the importance
of the Board’s independence and the ability to conduct its work in a systematic,
thorough, and objective manner, (2) the process the FASB follows in developing ac-
counting standards, (3) the basis for the Board’s unanimous decision to issue a pro-
posal to improve the accounting for equity-based compensation, (4) the input re-
ceived in response to the proposal, (5) the current status of, and the FASB’s plans
relating to, the proposal, and (6) some observations about H.R. 3574.

THE FASB

The FASB is an independent private-sector organization.2 We are not part of the
federal government. Our independence from enterprises, auditors, and the federal
government is fundamental to achieving our mission—to establish and improve
standards of financial accounting and reporting for both public and private enter-
prises, including small businesses.? Those standards are essential to the efficient
functioning and operation of the capital markets and the United States (“US”) econ-
omy because investors, creditors, and other consumers of financial reports rely heav-
ily on sound, honest, and unbiased financial information to make rational resource
allocation decisions.

The FASB’s independence, the importance of which was recently reaffirmed by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Act”),* is fundamental to our mission because our
work is technical in nature, designed to provide preparers with the guidance nec-
essary to report information about their economic activities. Our standards are the
basis to measure and report on the underlying economic transactions of business en-
terprises. Like investors and creditors, Congress and other policy makers need an
independent FASB to maintain the integrity of the standards in order to obtain the
financial information necessary to properly assess and implement the public policies
they favor.

Financial accounting and reporting is meant to tell it like it is, not to allow distor-
tions or skew information to favor particular industries, particular types of trans-
actions, or particular political, social, or economic goals other than sound, and hon-
est reporting. While bending the standards to favor a particular outcome may seem
attractive to some in the short run, in the long run a biased accounting standard
is harmful to investors, creditors, the capital markets, and the US economy.

The FASB’s authority with respect to public enterprises comes from the US Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The SEC has the statutory authority to
establish financial accounting and reporting standards for publicly held enterprises.
For 30 years, the SEC has looked to the FASB for leadership in establishing and
improving those standards. The SEC recently issued a Policy Statement reaffirming
this longstanding relationship.>

The Policy Statement, consistent with the language and intent of the Act, also re-
emphasizes the importance of the FASB’s independence described earlier.6 It states:

By virtue of today’s Commission determination, the FASB will continue its
role as the preeminent accounting standard setter in the private sector. In per-
forming this role, the FASB must use independent judgment in setting stand-
ards and should not be constrained in its exploration and discussion of issues.
This is necessary to ensure that the standards developed are free from bias and
have the maximum credibility in the business and investing communities.”

The SEC, together with the private-sector Financial Accounting Foundation
(“FAF”),® maintains active oversight of the FASB’s activities.

WHAT PROCESS DOES THE FASB FOLLOW IN DEVELOPING ACCOUNTING STANDARDS?

Because the actions of the FASB affect so many organizations, its decision-making
process must be open, thorough, and as objective as possible. The FASB carefully

2See Attachment 1 for information about the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

3See Attachment 2 for excerpts from recent materials about the importance of the FASB’s
independence and concerns about proposed legislation.

4 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Public Law Number 107-204, Sections 108-109.

5“Policy Statement: Reaffirming the Status of the FASB as a Designated Private-Sector
Standard Setter,” Exchange Act Release Nos. 33-8221; 34-47743; 1C-26028; FR-70 (April 28,
2003).

6 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Sections 108-109; the legislative history of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (“Act”) is clear that the provisions of the Act relating to the FASB were intended
to “strengthen the independence of the FASB...from...companies whose financial statements
must conform to FASB’s rules.” Senate Report 107-205, 107th Congress, 2d Session (July 3,
2002), page 13.

7Policy Statement, page 5 of 8.

8See Attachment 1 for information about the Financial Accounting Foundation.
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considers the views of all interested parties, including users, auditors, and preparers
of financial reports of both public and private enterprises, including small busi-
nesses.

Our Rules of Procedure require an extensive and thorough public due process.®
That process involves public meetings, public roundtables, field visits, liaison meet-
ings with interested parties, and exposure of our proposed standards to external
scrutiny and public comment. The FASB members and staff also regularly meet in-
formally with a wide range of interested parties to obtain their input and to better
our understanding of their views. The Board makes final decisions only after care-
fully considering and analyzing the input of all interested parties.

While our process is similar to the Administrative Procedure Act process used for
federal agency rule making, it provides for far more public deliberations of the rel-
evant issues and far greater opportunities for interaction with the Board by all in-
terested parties. It also is focused on making technical, rather than policy or legal,
judgments. The FASB’s Mission Statement and Rules of Procedure require that in
making those judgments the Board must balance the often conflicting perspectives
of various interested parties and make independent, objective decisions guided by
the fundamental concepts and key qualitative characteristics of financial reporting
set forth in our conceptual framework.

The FASB and the FAF, in consultation with interested parties, periodically re-
view the FASB’s due process procedures to ensure that the process is working effi-
ciently and effectively for users, auditors, and preparers of financial reports.!® Over
the past two years, the FASB and the FAF have undertaken a significant number
of actions to improve the Board’s due process procedures. Some of those actions were
intended to increase the quality and breadth of input to our process, including in-
creasing the input from users, auditors, and preparers of small businesses. Those
particular actions include the following:

e Establishing a Small Business Advisory Committee (“SBAC”) in order to increase
involvement by the small business community in developing accounting stand-
ards. The SBAC, whose members represent diverse perspectives and experi-
ences, comprises lenders, investors and analysts, preparers of financial state-
ments from a broad range of businesses, including controllers and chief finan-
cial officers, and auditors from the small business community.

e Establishing a User Advisory Council (“UAC”) in order to obtain more active user
involvement in our process. The UAC comprises representatives of individual
and institutional investors, investment and commercial banks, rating agencies,
and other groups that represent investors and key users. Several of the mem-
bers of the UAC are primarily users of financial reports of small businesses.

e Making our public Board meeting announcements available to interested parties
more broadly through an email subscription service.

e Making our public Board meetings available to interested parties for monitoring
via web cast on our website free of charge and via the telephone at a reduced
cost.

e Making all of our proposals for public comment, all of the comments received, and
the full text of all our standards publicly available on our website.

FASB’S CURRENT PROJECT TO IMPROVE THE ACCOUNTING FOR EQUITY-BASED
COMPENSATION

In March 2003, at a public meeting, the Board decided to add a project to its
agenda to address issues relating to equity-based compensation. That decision was
based largely on three reasons.

The first reason was the high level of public concern expressed by creditors, indi-
vidual and institutional investors, pension funds, mutual funds, financial analysts,
and other users of financial statements about the need to improve the financial ac-
counting and reporting for equity-based compensation. The concern was not just
about perceived abuses of executive compensation, but the broader issue of the ap-
propriate financial accounting and reporting for equity-based compensation, in par-
ticular the need to eliminate the exception from expense recognition that presently
exists only for fixed plan employee stock options. Those users of financial state-
ments that have been urging the FASB to eliminate the exception for fixed plan em-
ployee stock options include:

9See Attachment 1 for information about the FASB’s due process.

10The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) also recently reviewed the FASB’s due
process and concluded that “the FASB has the capacity...and is capable of improving both the
accuracy and effectiveness of financial reporting...” Policy Statement, page 5 of 8.
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e The Council of Institutional Investors (an association of more than 130 corporate,
public, and union pension funds with more than $3 trillion in pension assets)

e Institutional Shareholder Services (serving more than 950 institutional investors
and corporate clients worldwide)

e The Office of the State Comptroller of New York (an investor, shareholder, and
sole trustee of the nation’s second largest pension fund at approximately $100
billion in assets)

e Moody’s Investor Services

e The Central Pension Fund of the International Union of Operating Engineers and
g%rFticipating Employers (on behalf of more than 150,000 participants of the

e The Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association College Retirement Equities
Fund (a financial services company with approximately $262 billion in assets
under management, serving nearly 3 million education and research employees
at 15,000 institutions)

e The Investment Company Institute (a national association including 8,938 mutual
funds, 535 closed-end investment companies, and 6 sponsors of unit investment
trusts; its mutual fund members have assets of about $6.539 trillion, accounting
for approximately 95 percent of total industry assets, and 90.2 million indi-
vidual shareholders)

e The Association for Investment Management and Research (now known as the
CFA Institute, a nonprofit professional organization of 61,600 financial ana-
lysts, portfolio managers, and other investment professionals).!!

e The American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations (rep-
resenting 13 million of America’s workers in 65 member unions)

e The Conference Board Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise (co-
chaired by Peter G. Peterson, chairman of the Blackstone Group, former Sec-
retary of Commerce and chairman of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
and John W. Snow, (former) chairman, CSX Corporation and former chairman,
Business Roundtable).

In 2002, President Bush announced a ten-point plan to improve corporate respon-
sibility.!2 That plan including the following statement: “The authors of accounting
standards must be responsive to the needs of investors.”!3 There is no other issue
on the Board’s agenda on which investors have been clearer about the need for an
improvement in the existing accounting standards.

The second reason the Board decided to add a project to its agenda to address
issues relating to equity-based compensation was because of the complexity and
noncomparability and, thus, potential lack of transparency created by the alter-
native accounting treatments presently available for reporting equity-based com-
pensation. That lack of transparency has been magnified by the recent trend of en-
terprises adopting the voluntary fair value provisions of FASB Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (Octo-
ber 1995).14 The trend has increased the divergence between the financial reports
of enterprises that do not make wide use of employee stock options as compensation
and the financial reports of those that do, and between those enterprises that volun-
tarily expense employee stock options and those that do not.

As indicated above, fixed plan employee stock options are the only form of em-
ployee stock options that is not required to be reported as an expense in the income
statements of the enterprises that grant them. All other forms of employee com-
pensation, including cash salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, restricted stock, stock
warrants, performance-based stock options, indexed-based stock options, employee
stock ownership plans, are (and have long been) required to be reported as an ex-
pense. Moreover, when equity-based grants of any form are issued to nonemployees
for goods or services, they also are (and have long been) required to be reported as
an expense.

The exception for fixed plan employee stock options is clearly an anomaly in to-
day’s financial accounting and reporting. That anomaly results in an absolute and

1TA 2001 survey conducted by the Association for Investment Management and Research
found that more than 80 percent of financial analysts and portfolio managers responding to the
survey believed that stock options granted to employees are compensation and should be recog-
nized as an expense in the income statements of the enterprises that grant them. AIMR, “Ana-
lysts, Portfolio Managers Want Employee Stock Options Expensed on Income Statements, Global
AIMR Survey Shows” (November 19, 2001).

12Ten-Point Plan to Improve Corporate Responsibility sand Protect America’s Shareholders
(March 7, 2002).

131d.

14See Attachment 3 for a list of 576 companies that have voluntarily adopted option expensing
under the fair value method.
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relative distortion of profitability and other key financial metrics. The greater the
use of those instruments, the greater the distortion. As indicated above, the distor-
tion creates an unleveled playing field that inappropriately favors those enterprises
that are the greatest users of fixed plan employee stock options over other enter-
prises that either have chosen to compensate their employees in different ways (in-
cluding different forms of equity-based compensation) or use fixed plan employee
stock options but have voluntarily elected to expense them.

The distortion misleads investors, particularly, but not limited to, less sophisti-
cated investors. The overall effect is a diversion of investment and capital resources
away from their most efficient employment. As Federal Reserve System Chairman
Alan Greenspan stated, “[if] you don’t expense stock options, then you're getting a
distorted view as to what the profitability of a particular operation is, and you will
get a distortion in the allocation of capital.” !5 Many other economic experts that
have reviewed this issue agree, including former Federal Reserve Chairman (and
current chairman of the Trustees of the International Accounting Standards Com-
mittee Foundation) Paul A. Volcker,!® Nobel Prize winning economists Robert C.
Merton,!” and Joseph E. Stiglitz,'8 the Financial Economist Roundtable,!® the Re-
publican Staff of the Joint Economic Committee of the US Congress,20 the Con-
ference Board Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise,2! and the Con-
gressional Budget Office.22

Many enterprises, including some in the high technology industry, that have vol-
untarily expensed their employee stock options have requested that the Board man-
date the expensing of all employee stock options. It is also interesting to note some
of those enterprises, including Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., Netflix Inc., and Home Depot,
Inc., have historically offered broad-based stock option plans to many nonexecutive
employees and have indicated that adopting fair value expensing for all employee
stock options will not result in a curtailment of those programs.23

The third reason the Board decided to add a project to its agenda to address
issues relating to equity-based compensation was the opportunity to achieve conver-
gence to a common, high-quality international accounting standard in this area. The
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued a proposal in November
2002 that would require that all stock options be expensed at their fair value at
grant date.24 To maximize the opportunity for international convergence, the FASB
concluded that it needed to consider the US accounting requirements for equity-
based compensation concurrently with IASB’s consideration of its proposal.

The FASB has long been committed to actively working with the IASB and other
national accounting standard setters to promote international convergence of ac-
counting standards concurrent with improving the quality of financial reporting.2s
Both the Act,?6 and the Policy Statement,?’ indicate the support of the US Congress
and the SEC, respectively, for the FASB’s convergence efforts.

Since March 2003, the Board has held 38 public meetings to discuss the project.
Preparations for those meetings included thousands of hours of research on issues
relating to the project, including the review of the results of many research studies
on the topic.

'SI;Iearing of the Joint Economic Committee, US Congress, on “Economic Outlook” (April 21,
2004).

16 Hearing before the Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Spon-
sored Enterprises of the Committee on Financial Services, Testimony of Paul A. Volcker (June
3, 2002), pages 3 and 4.

17Hearing on H.R. 3574: Stock Option Accounting Reform Act, Before the Subcommittee on
Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises of the Committee on Finan-
cial Services, Summary of Testimony of Robert C. Merton (March 3, 2004), page 2 of 3.

18 Joseph E. Stiglitz, “The Roaring Nineties” (October 2003), pages 115-139.

19 Statement of Financial Economist Roundtable on the Controversy over Executive Compensa-
tion (November 24, 2003).

20 Joint Economic Committee, Republican Senate Staff, Economic Policy Research, “Under-
standing the Stock Option Debate,” Report 107-04 (July 9, 2002), page 18.

21 The Conference Board, “The Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise, Findings
and Recommendations, Part 1: Executive Compensation” (September 17, 2002), page 6.

22The Congressional Budget Office, “Accounting for Employee Stock Options,” Section 3 (April
2003), pages 4 and 5.

23News from Carl Levin, US Senator, Michigan, “Stock Option Roundtable Dismissed as One-
Sidet%" (May 8, 2003), page 2; Reed Hastings, “Expense It!” The Wall Street Journal (April 5,
2004).

24TASB Proposed IFRS, Share-Based Payment (November 2002).

25 FASB, Rules of Procedure (December 1, 2002, as amended), page 2.

26 Act, Section 108(a)(2).

27Policy Statement, page 4 of 8.
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In addition, the Board and staff have participated in public and private discus-
sions about the project with hundreds of individuals, including members of the Fi-
nancial Accounting Standards Advisory Council, the UAC, the Option Valuation
Group,28 and other groups and organizations representing preparers, auditors, and
users of financial reports. The Board also has conducted field visits with a variety
of enterprises of various sizes, including small businesses, covering a range of indus-
tries to discuss issues relating to the project.

In February 2004, at a public meeting, the Board unanimously agreed to the
issuance of a proposal for public comment. That proposal was issued on March 31,
2004, for a 90-day comment period.2®

The proposal contains a detailed Notice for Recipients encouraging comments on
over 20 specific issues. Attachment 4 includes the Notice for Recipients and a Sum-
mary of the key provisions of the proposal.

WHAT HAS BEEN THE INPUT RECEIVED IN RESPONSE TO THE PROPOSAL?

Following the issuance of the proposal for public comment the Board has been ac-
tively meeting with and soliciting input from valuation experts, and users, auditors,
and preparers of financial reports on issues raised by the proposal. For example, on
May 11, 2004, at a public meeting the Board discussed the proposal with over twen-
ty representatives of small and medium-sized businesses at the inaugural meeting
of the SBAC.

In addition, the Board held public roundtables on June 24, 2004, in Palo Alto,
California, and June 29, 2004, in Norwalk, Connecticut. Over seventy individuals
from a broad range of enterprises, including representatives from the high-tech-
nology industry, small businesses, valuation experts, compensation consultants, soft-
ware developers, auditors, financial analysts, institutional investors, professional
and trade associations, and academics participated at the four half-day public meet-
ings.

To date the Board has received thousands of comment letters in response to the
proposal. Consistent with the FASB’s Rules of Procedures Board members are re-
quired to read all of the comment letters received.

The vast majority of the comment letters received in response to the proposal are
form-like letters. Some of those letters are from employees of several high-tech-
nology industry companies. While heartfelt in their urging the Board not to do any-
thing that might result in their employers’ reducing the amount of employee stock
option grants, they generally do not address the financial accounting and reporting
issues raised by the proposal. Thousands of other form letters were received from
union employees and investors expressing unqualified support for the proposal.

Excluding the form-like letters, we have many other letters from a broad range
of enterprises, accounting firms, valuation experts, compensation consultants, trade
and professional associations, and academics. Those letters provide detailed input
on one or more of the many financial accounting and reporting issues raised by the
proposal.

WHAT IS THE CURRENT STATUS OF, AND THE FASB’S PLANS RELATING TO, THE
PROPOSAL?

Later this month, the Board plans to begin its public redeliberations of the pro-
posal. The redeliberations, consistent with the FASB’s Rules of Procedure, will ad-
dress the key conceptual, measurement, disclosure, and cost-benefit issues raised by
the proposal. Those issues will include (1) what is the relevant measurement at-
tribute and relevant measurement date for equity-based compensation; (2) what is
the appropriate basis for attribution of compensation cost; (3) what disclosures
should be required; (4) what is the appropriate transition and effective date for the
new requirements; and (5) what modifications, if any, to the new requirements
should be made for small businesses. For each of these issues the public redelibera-
tions will include careful consideration of the comment letters and other input re-
ceived from all parties.

The redeliberations also will benefit from the FASB staff and Board’s ongoing dis-
cussion of the key issues with interested parties from a broad range of perspectives,
including representatives of small businesses and valuation and compensation ex-
perts that the FASB will continue to consult with throughout the entire process. As

28The Board established the Option Valuation Group to provide information and advice on
how to improve the guidance in Statement 123 on measuring the fair value of stock options.
Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment (March 31, 2004),
paragraph C37.

29]d.
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with virtually all FASB projects, the redeliberations will likely result in a number
of changes to improve the proposal.

Only after carefully evaluating all of the key issues and carefully considering the
input received in response to the proposal will the Board consider whether to issue
a final standard. No final standard may be issued without approval by a majority
vote of the Board.

The Board’s current plans are to issue a final standard in the fourth quarter of
this year. The Board, however, has no fixed deadline for issuing a final standard
and will continue its public redeliberations as long as is necessary to develop a high-
quality and cost-effective accounting standard that will best serve the needs of in-
vestors, creditors, and other consumers of financial reports. As with all of the
FASB’s activities, the SEC staff will closely monitor and oversee the Board’s due
process on this important project.

SOME OBSERVATIONS ABOUT H.R. 3574

As many experts have indicated, the provisions of H.R. 3574 are seriously flawed,
violate fundamental concepts of financial accounting and reporting, and, if enacted,
would be harmful to the overall capital market system.3° The Board strongly op-
poses such an effort to block improvements to the financial accounting and reporting
for equity-based compensation. That opposition is based on many conceptual and
technical reasons, including the following.

First, H.R. 3574 would override the Board’s independent, objective, open, and on-
going due process to make unbiased decisions on the substance and timing of im-
provements to the accounting for equity-based compensation.3! As indicated above,
such intervention would be in direct conflict with the expressed needs and demands
of many investors and other users of financial reports. Such intervention also would
appear to be inconsistent with the language and intent of the Act and the related
Policy Statement, both of which were intended to enhance the independence of the
FASB.

Second, H.R. 3574 would have an adverse impact on the FASB’s efforts to achieve
timely convergence of high-quality international accounting standards in this impor-
tant area. As indicated above, such Congressional intervention would appear to be
inconsistent with the language and intent of the Act and the related Policy State-
ment, both of which indicate support for the FASB’s convergence efforts.

Enterprises in 90 countries around the world will begin to report all equity-based
compensation as an expense, in a manner generally consistent with the proposal,
beginning on January 1, 2005.32 Those enterprises will join enterprises in Canada,
which were required to begin expensing all equity-based compensation, consistent
with the proposal, beginning in January of this year.33 Of note, over 350 Canadian
enterprises, and hundreds of other foreign enterprises that comply with inter-
national accounting standards, are SEC registrants and are required to file their fi-
nancial reports in the US.

Addressing the impact of H.R. 3574 on the independence of the FASB and the
convergence of accounting standards, The Honorable Paul A. Volcker, Chairman of
the Trustees of the International Accounting Standards Committee Foundation,
stated in recent testimony before Congress:

I suggest that, before acting, Senators and Congressmen ask themselves two
simple questions:

“Do I really want to substitute my judgment on an important but highly tech-
nical accounting principle for the collective judgment of a body carefully con-
structed to assure professional integrity, relevant experience, and independence
from parochial and political pressures?”

30Letter from Edward Nusbaum, CEO, Grant Thornton LLP, to the Honorable Richard H.
Baker, US House of Representatives (March 17, 2004), page 4; Hearing on H.R. 3574: Stock Op-
tion Accounting Reform Act, Before the Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Insurance and Gov-
ernment Sponsored Enterprises of the Committee on Financial Services, Summary of Testimony
of Robert C. Merton; see Attachments 2 and 5 for additional comments from experts on H.R.
3574.

310f note, after appearing to mandate the substance and timing of the accounting for the ex-
pensing of certain stock options in Section 2, and constraining the substance and timing of any
existing or future accounting for expensing stock options in Section 3, Section 5 inexplicably
states that “[n]othing in this Act shall be construed to limit the authority over the setting of
accounting principles by any accounting standard setting body . ..”

32International Financial Reporting Standard 2, Share-Based Payment (February 2004).

33 Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments, Section 3870 (September
2003).
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“Have I taken into account the adverse impact of overruling FASB on the
carefully constructed effort to meet the need, in a world of globalized finance,
for a common set of international accounting standards?” 34

Third, although titled the “Stock Option Accounting Reform Act,”35 the provisions
of H.R. 3574 have exactly the opposite effect by essentially preserving, protecting,
and perpetuating the existing accounting for stock options that have resulted in an
unlevel playing field favoring certain enterprises that are the greatest users of fixed
plan employee stock options over other enterprises that have either chosen to com-
pensate their employees in different ways.

For example, the provisions of H.R. 3574 would appear to require that only stock
options granted after December 31, 2004, to the chief executive officer and the four
other most highly compensated employees of certain SEC registrants be reported as
compensation expense in those enterprises’ income statements.3¢ Thus, if an SEC
registrant grants stock options to employees other than the top five executives, that
compensation cost would not be reported in the enterprises’ earnings.

Moreover, the provisions of H.R. 3574 would appear to require that for purposes
of determining the “fair value” of the stock options granted to the top five executives
the “assumed volatility of the underlying stock shall be zero.”37 It is universally ac-
cepted that a large part of a stock option’s fair value is the result of volatility of
the underlying stock price.?® Thus, the amount of compensation cost for the top five
executives reported in the enterprises earnings would be substantially less than its
fair value.

A recent Washington Post editorial commented on the “top five executives” provi-
sions of H.R. 3574, stating:

The second problem with the bill is its illogical content. In the past, oppo-
nents of expensing options have claimed that the value of options is unknow-
able. But the House bill abandons that claim by requiring that companies in-
clude in their profit-and-loss statements the value of options for their top five
executives. Having conceded that, however, the bill goes on to say that the cost
of options granted to employees outside the top circle should be left out, imply-
ing that they cost nothing. But they do not cost nothing. In high-tech compa-
nies, which grant options generously to middle-ranking employees, the top five
executives get only a small fraction of the total—less than 5 percent in the case
of Intel Corp. or Cisco Systems Inc.

Moreover, the House bill stipulates that companies should use an unorthodox
method for valuing options that minimizes their worth. If the bill became law,
the options granted by Intel last year would force it to deduct a modest $3.5
million from its reported profit—compared with the hefty $991 million it would
have to deduct under the proposed FASB reform. Cisco, for its part, could report
$1.1 billion more in profit if the House bill passed. Small wonder that Intel and
Cisco have led the lobbying charge in favor of the legislation.3®

The provisions of H.R. 3574 also would appear to exempt certain SEC registrants
that are “small business issuers” from having to report any compensation expense
for stock options granted.4© Similarly, the provisions would also appear to exempt
certain SEC registrants from having to report any compensation expense for stock
options granted to employees for three years after an “initial public offering.”4! In
both cases, to the extent that a qualifying SEC registrant grants stock options to
its employees, the amount of compensation cost would be understated in those en-
terprises” reported earnings.42

34 Hearing on Oversight Hearing on Expensing Stock Options: Supporting and Strengthening
the Independence of the Financial Accounting Standards Board, Before the Subcommittee on Fi-
nancial Management, the Budget, and International Security of the Committee on Govern-
mental Affairs, United States Senate, Testimony of The Honorable Paul A. Volcker (April 20,
2004), page 2 of 2.

35H.R. 3574, Section 1.

36 H.R. 3574, Section 2(m)(1)-(2).

37H.R. 3574, Section 2(m)(3)(A)-(B).

38 Hearing on H.R. 3574: Stock Option Accounting Reform Act, Before the Subcommittee on
Capital Markets, Insurance and Government Sponsored Enterprises of the Committee on Finan-
cial Services, Summary of Testimony of Robert C. Merton (March 3, 2004), page 2 of 2.

39 “High-Tech Holdup,” The Washington Post (June 10, 2004), page A18.

40H.R. 3574, Section 2(m)(4)(A).

41H.R. 3574, Section 2(m)(4)(B).

42[n commenting on Sections 2(m)(4)(A) and (B), Associated Press, Business Writer, Bruce
Meyerson stated: “Bizarrely, though the purpose of these two exemptions is to ensure a contin-
ued source of cheap fuel for smaller businesses to grow, the bill would also grant a free three-
year pass to Google, an established Internet juggernaut which plans to sell billions worth of
stock in an initial public offering,” Bruce Meyerson, “Congress threatening to derail stock op-
tions reform—again,” San Jose Mercury News (June 8, 2004), page 2 of 2.
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The provisions of H.R. 3574 also would raise a host of practical and implementa-
tion issues that would likely be very disruptive to enterprises, auditors, and the en-
tire financial reporting system. As one example, the provisions would appear to pro-
hibit the SEC from recognizing any accounting standard relating to the expensing
of stock options unless and until two conditions are met: (1) an economic impact
study by the Secretary of Commerce and the Secretary of Labor has been completed,
and (2) the standard prescribes exercise or other settlement date measurement for
the options granted.43

Existing accounting standards prescribe as the preferable method of accounting
for employee stock options a grant date fair value measurement approach.44 The
more than 575 enterprises that have begun voluntarily expensing all employee stock
options are required to follow the preferable method.#5 That method, however, does
not encompass an exercise or other settlement date measurement approach as would
appear to be required by the provisions of H.R. 3574. Thus, the existing voluntary
expensing of all employee stock options by more than 575 enterprises would no
longer be permitted.

In addition, H.R. 3574 has a section entitled “Improved employee stock option
transparency and reporting disclosures.” 46 The disclosures required under those pro-
visions, however, are not “more detailed” or as comprehensive as those disclosures
required under existing generally accepted accounting principles.4”

Moreover, the H.R. 3574 disclosures fail to include the proposed improvements to
disclosures contained in the proposal responsive to the requests of many users of
financial reports, including new and improved disclosures about the related income
statement and cash flow effects of equity-based payment arrangements.48

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, H.R. 3574 would establish a dangerous
precedent in that it would send a clear and unmistakable signal that Congress is
willing to directly intervene in the independent, objective, and open accounting
standard-setting process based on factors other than the pursuit of sound and fair
financial reporting. That signal would likely prompt others to seek political inter-
vention in future technical activities of the FASB. In recently commenting on this
issue, the CFA Institute, whose members include more than 70,000 investment pro-
fessionals and educators, stated:

Politicizing the process can only work to destabilize it and will ultimately be
gletrimental to those investors who have the least ability to gather political in-
uence.*?

For all of the above reasons, H.R. 3574 would result in a giant step backwards
in the recent and ongoing efforts by Congress, the SEC, the FASB, and many other
parties to restore public confidence and trust in the integrity of financial reporting.
As Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan recently indicated, the enactment of
this proposed legislation “would be a bad mistake for the Congress.”>? I whole-
heartedly agree. Speaking not just for the FASB, but for the millions of US inves-
tors, creditors, and other consumers of financial reports that rely on credible, trans-
parent, and unbiased financial information, I respectfully urge you to oppose H.R.
3574.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, let me assure you that you, and the users, auditors, and preparers
of financial reports, including small business financial reports, can have confidence
that the Board will carefully consider the input received in response to our proposal.
That input will be carefully considered in an open, thorough, and objective manner.
Our ultimate goal is to develop, with oversight by the SEC staff, an accounting
standard that will faithfully report the underlying economic effects of equity-based
compensation transactions and, thus, significantly improve the transparency and in-

43H.R. 3574, Section 3(a).

44 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Com-
pensation (October 1995), paragraph 11.

45]d.; see Attachment 3 for list of 576 companies that have voluntarily adopted option expens-
ing under the fair value method.

46H.R. 3574, Section 4.

47 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Com-
pensation—Transition and Disclosure (December 2002), paragraphs 2(e) and 3.

48 FASB Exposure Draft, Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based
Payment (March 31, 2004), paragraphs C144-C156.

49 Letter from Patricia Doran Walters, PhD, CFA, Senior Vice President, Professional Stand-
ards & Advocacy, CFA Institute, to the Honorable Richard H. Baker and the Honorable Paul
E. Kanjorski, United States House of Representatives (May 10, 2004), page 3 of 4.

50 Hearing of the Joint Economic Committee, United States Congress, on “Economic Outlook”
(April 21, 2004).
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tegrity of financial reporting in the US. As indicated above, the enactment of H.R.
3574 would undoubtedly have the exact opposite effect.

Thank you again, Chairman Stearns. We would welcome the opportunity to re-
spond to any questions.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you.
Mr. White, welcome.

STATEMENT OF RICK WHITE, PRESIDENT AND CEO, TECHNET,
CHAIRMAN, INTERNATIONAL EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS
COALITION

Mr. WHITE. Thanks very much, Mr. Chairman, Ms. Ranking
Member, and the other members of the committee. It is great to be
back in the best subcommittee of the best committee in Congress.
I see a lot of my old colleagues who have moved up several rows
since I was here last time. It is really great to be here and great
to have this seat before you today.

I am currently the CEO of TechNet, a group of technology execu-
tives; we are kind of a trade organization for the technology com-
munity. I am also Chairman of the International Employee Stock
Options Coalition, which is a group of companies and associations
representing literally thousands of companies, both technology com-
panies and other companies that are concerned with the stock op-
tions issue.

I guess it is fair to say we frankly don’t care what this committee
or FASB or any other committee does with executive stock options.
What we are concerned about, what we do care very deeply about
is preserving the ability, the reasonable ability, to grant such op-
tions to rank-and-file workers as many companies have done suc-
cessfully over the past few years.

We do support H.R. 3574. I know that is not directly the subject
of this hearing. I want to address just a couple of points. I have
submitted some testimony for the record. I appreciate the chair-
man’s willingness to include that.

One issue that has come up and several members have men-
tioned it, and also I think Chairman Herz mentioned it several
times in his testimony, is whether it is appropriate for the Con-
gress even to be involved in this effort. I want to make sure that
people understand how important it is that Congress should be in-
volved. There are some things that we let experts decide in our so-
ciety, but there are some things we don’t let them decide. There are
some good reasons for that. We let engineers decide how to get a
spaceship to the Moon, we let lawyers decide how a contract should
be written, but we don’t let them decide whether we go to the
Moon, we don’t let them decide whether a contract should be
formed. Those are decisions that we reserve to others.

The reason is that experts are great in their specific area of ex-
pertise but sometimes that high expertise may prevent them from
focusing on the bigger picture. I would submit that is really the
problem we have here. That is the situation I think Mr. Herz finds
himself in, one that is totally understandable given his position. If
you listen to Mr. Herz’ testimony and follow this issue, he will tell
you basically two things. No. 1, accounting should be set by the
FASB because they are the experts on accounting and Congress
should stay out of that effort. I think he has said that today. That



49

is certainly understandable from his perspective. But he will also
tell you that accountants make up FASB, they understand account-
ing issues but they really don’t understand or don’t focus on any-
thing having to do with the U.S. economy, and FASB will not con-
sider, and I can give you 20 places where he has made this com-
ment, will not consider the impact on the U.S. economy of whatever
accounting standard it decides to implement. That is not in their
expertise. He is absolutely correct. So they won’t consider that.

But you put those two comments together and I think it reveals
a flaw at least in the way that Chairman Herz looks at our system.
He basically means we can set any accounting standard we want
but there is nobody in the chain of command who has the oppor-
tunity to decide whether there is going to be a negative effect on
the economy. I would submit to you that that is not a principle that
this committee can live with. Congress has delegated to the SEC
the right to establish accounting standards but not as a goal in
itself. The point of accounting standards are to accomplish things
that this committee thinks is important, not just to further ac-
counting theory. I would submit to you that if the FASB came up
with an accounting theory that made sense to accounting profes-
sors but had a really negative impact on the economy, that is some-
thing this committee would want to look at. You wouldn’t want to
let them do something that was esoteric and arcane and may make
sense for accounting reasons but had a big impact on economy.
That is something you would not want to happen.

By the same token, if Mr. Herz’ committee came up with a stand-
ard for some reason that made a lot of sense to accounting profes-
sors but really was so complicated that it could only be understood
by experts in accounting, I think we have all seen examples where
experts sometimes tend in that direction, but if it couldn’t be un-
derstood by the individual investor, the average investor, I suggest
that this committee would be concerned about that. We want a sys-
tem in our country where not just experts but individual investors,
the common individual investor, can understand what accounting
statements are all about. I think the committee would be within its
rights to get involved in a case where that happened, and I would
submit to you that we are in a case right here where both those
things have happened and where it is very important for you to get
involved.

Let me spend just a minute on each one, then I will stop so you
can ask questions. From an economics perspective, let me make
sure you understand the basics of our objection. If there are two
companies out there, one of them owned by the chairman and one
of them owned by the ranking member, that had the exact same
financial performance but let’s say the chairman kind of did the
wrong thing and only allowed the top executive to have stock op-
tions and the ranking member decided to do the right thing, which
most of us here I think would agree with, and let every employee
share in the ownership of the company, even though those compa-
nies had the same financial performance, even though they had the
same amount of money in the bank, even though there was no dif-
ference in the actual assets or debits owned by the corporation, the
company owned by the ranking member would look worse every
month, every earnings report would always look worse than the
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company owned by the chairman, who actually did the wrong
thing. So if we adopted the approach that FASB is suggesting to
us we are basically penalizing companies every quarter for doing
what we would like them to do, which is to let their employees
have a piece of ownership of the company. It is a public policy in-
centive that is 180 degrees from what it should be. I think that is
one of the things we are concerned about.

From an investors’ standpoint I think you should understand
that while there definitely is some difference of opinion on whether
we should expense things in the first place, and I think Mr. Mayer
may talk a little bit about some of those accounting issues, there
really isn’t any disagreement that any valuation we come up with
for these stock options is going to be a very complicated formula
and won’t really correspond to reality. It may make sense from an
abstract theoretical perspective, I think FASB would tell you that
in this situation any number is better than zero, but I can tell you
that if you take a number that goes through a formula, it is very
complicated, some people think it is better than zero, and you de-
duct it from a company’s earnings, the company still has the same
amount of money in the bank, still is doing the same thing, but its
earnings look a lot different than they would in another accounting
situation. While Mr. Herz may well understand that and maybe
the experts on Wall Street understand that and maybe the institu-
tional investors have people who can re-engineer this formula and
back this number out so they can see what the real economic per-
formance is, the average investor on the street won’t have that
ability.

So I would say that the two biggest criticisms that we have are
the very negative economic impact and the difficulty for the aver-
age investor to be able to have transparency in what is going on.
We are going to end up with financial statements that distort what
most people would consider the real economic performance of the
company. That might make sense if there were a clear accounting
consensus and there was a clear way to do it and everybody
thought it had to be done. That is not the case. We are in a situa-
tion where there is a lot of controversy, and so it doesn’t really
make sense to go down this path.

I will reserve the rest of my remarks for questions, but thank
you so much, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Rick White follows:]
July 8, 2004

The Honorable CLIFF STEARNS

Chairman

Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection Subcommittee of the
Committee on Energy and Commerce

2125 Russell House Office Building

Washington, DC 20510

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: Thank you for the opportunity to submit testimony on the
vitally important issue of accounting for employee stock options and to voice
TfechNet’s strong support for H.R. 3574, the Stock Option Accounting Reform Act
of 2003.

The Technology Network, or TechNet, is a national network representing 200 of
the nation’s leading companies in the fields of information technology, biotechnology,
venture capital, investment banking and law. We are proud of the role that our in-
dustries have played in the growth of the U.S. economy, due in large part to the
use of broad-based stock option plans to attract and retain talented employees.
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For many technical and public policy reasons, TechNet strongly supports H.R.
3574. By protecting broad-based stock option plans while requiring expensing of op-
tions granted to senior corporate officers, H.R. 3574 represents a compromise that
protects American workers while addressing concerns about senior executive com-
pensation.

Most important, the legislation will preserve broad-based employee ownership,
embodied in the 14 million American workers or 13 percent of the private sector
workforce who hold employee stock options. 94 percent of these stock option holders
consider themselves to be middle class, lower class or working class.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has proposed mandatory ex-
pensing of employee stock options using valuation methods that will significantly
distort financial statements in a way that threatens this trend toward broad-based
employee ownership. Mandatory expensing using the Black-Scholes or binomial
valuation models, as proposed by the FASB, will result in gross overvaluation of em-
ployee stock options. The resulting inaccuracies will have a tremendous negative im-
pact on the financial statements of companies that grant options broadly. If the
FASB proposal is enacted, these companies will have little choice but to severely
curtail or eliminate stock options to rank-and-file employees.

The Stock Option Accounting Reform Act protects rank-and-file American employ-
ees and preserves the broad-based employee ownership that has been the hallmark
of the technology industries and many other innovative companies.

H.R. 3574 also preserves our nation’s international economic competitiveness. At
a time when Congress is focused on domestic job creation, mandated expensing
threatens U.S. innovation and economic growth. All while many of our foreign com-
petitors are accelerating efforts to offer stock options without mandated expensing.

TechNet believes it is critical that Congress support this legislation and not stand
by while the FASB creates regulations that could have significant negative economic
ramifications. The FASB is engaged, perhaps inadvertently, in changing a long-
standing accounting policy that has enabled employee ownership, innovation and
entrepreneurship to thrive in American businesses. The FASB’s accounting regula-
tions will have a significant negative impact on economic policy in this country.
Under the guise of an accounting standard, the FASB is taking action that will
bring the U.S. economic model closer to that of Europe—an environment that dis-
courages employee ownership and fails to spur innovation and entrepreneurship.
The American ownership culture is one of our greatest competitive advantages as
a nation.

The Stock Option Accounting Reform Act does not dictate accounting standards.
The legislation preserves the American culture and tradition of broad-based em-
ployee ownership, innovation, hard work and new ideas. It simply returns to Con-
gress the prerogative to set economic policy.

TechNet also believes strongly that mandatory expensing of all employee stock op-
tions, as proposed by the FASB, is bad accounting. We have met with the FASB
to express our strong concerns with their proposal on a technical level, although
with no impact.

We believe there is a strong technical record that demonstrates that employee
stock options do not represent a corporate expense. There is also a strong technical
record asserting that use of the Black-Scholes or binomial models, as proposed by
the FASB, will result in inaccurate, unreliable and inconsistent measurement of the
fair value of employee stock options.

Existing option pricing models were created to value market-traded options, which
have very different characteristics than employee options. The unique features of
employee stock options are not accounted for under the Black-Scholes or binomial
models. As a result, the FASB’s proposal will require a wide range of subjective
judgments and estimates, resulting in widely divergent results depending on the
subjective assumptions a company makes. Even Dr. Mark Rubinstein, Ph.D. of Fi-
nance at U.C. Berkeley’s Haas School of Business, and a creator of the binomial
Rgg%l, raised these concerns about his own model when he testified before the

I have attached for the record several documents which describe in detail the
technical problems inherent in mandatory expensing under the FASB’s proposal.

In summary, we strongly urge Members of the Committee to support the Stock
Option Accounting Reform Act, H.R. 3574. This legislation supports broad-based em-
ployee ownership, hard work and innovation. H.R. 3574 is a critical economic policy
approach and we urge the Congress to support it.

Sincerely,
Rick WHITE
President and CEO of TechNet



52

June 29, 2004

Ms. SUZANNE BIELSTEIN

Director of Major Projects

Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7

P.O. Box 5116

Norwalk, Connecticut 06856-5116

Re: Proposed SFAS—File Reference No. 1102-100

DEAR Ms. BIELSTEIN: On behalf of the members of The Technology Network
(“TechNet”), thank you for the opportunity to submit comments in response to the
Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment, an
Amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95. We appreciate the opportunity to
offer our views on this important matter.

TechNet is a national network of 200 chief executive officers and senior partners
of the nation’s leading companies in the fields of information technology, bio-
technology, venture capital, investment banking and law. We are proud of the role
that our industries have played in the growth of the U.S. economy, due in large part
to the use of broad-based stock option and other equity-based incentive plans to at-
tract and retain talented employees. Many TechNet members maintain broad-based
employee stock option programs. By giving employees at all levels a chance to share
in their company’s financial success through equity ownership, broad-based stock
option plans boost productivity and are essential to America’s competitiveness and
economic growth.

For reasons discussed in this letter, TechNet has serious concerns with the
Board’s proposal to require mandatory expensing of employee stock options. We be-
lieve that the Board’s proposal would result in financial statements that substan-
tially overstate the value of employee stock options, providing less clarity and com-
parability to investors. Because of this substantial overvaluation, the proposal would
make it prohibitive to offer broad-based stock option plans, encouraging companies
to concentrate share ownership in the hands of senior executives.

The following addresses specific issues on which the Board seeks comment.

I. RECOGNITION OF COMPENSATION COST

Employee stock options do not constitute an expense.

We fundamentally disagree with the Board’s premise that employee stock options
constitute a corporate expense. The issuance of stock options does not result in a
corporate level cost that impacts net income.

Employee stock options do not represent payment for goods or services received.
Rather, employee stock options represent an opportunity for employees to share
ownership in the enterprise for the purpose of increasing shareholder value. They
are an employee-retention device, granted with a prospective view of future employ-
ment. A promise to issue employee stock options in return for a promise to provide
services in the future in no way meets the definition of a liability. The issuance of
an employee stock option results in:

e No outflow or consumption of corporate assets;
e No decline in the value of corporate assets;
e No creation of a liability representing actual or expected cash outflows;

Employee stock options have a contingent or hypothetical value to the employee
who receives them. However, this value is not realizable at the time of grant and
employee stock options cannot be converted into cash by either the employee or the
corporation. In fact, in many cases, this potential value is never realized. Further,
in any event, employee stock options will never result in the expenditure of cash
by the company but, in fact, have the potential to provide cash flow to the company.
Just as revenues or gains are not recognized until they are realized or realizable,
the grant of an employee stock option that has no realizable cost should not be con-
sidered an expense to the corporation.

We further believe that requiring a fictional income statement impact for a trans-
action that takes place wholly within the balance sheet is insupportable. Unlike a
fixed asset, the cost of which is an expense that is recognized over its useful life,
employee stock options do not generate an expense that should be recognized either
immediately or over time in the income statement. In fact, employee stock options
cannot be converted into cash and to the extent employee stock options are ulti-
mately exercised, corporate assets are increased by the amount of cash that the em-
ployee must pay to exercise the option.

Expensing stock options will also result in balance sheet entries that give a gross-
ly distorted view of a company’s capital structure. When employee stock options are
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expensed, the value of those options increases a company’s paid-in capital in the eq-
uity section of the balance sheet by a phantom number. The company’s capital struc-
ture appears altered although no money has changed hands and no stock has actu-
ally been issued, or may ever be issued. Further, because the increased expense has
impacted the company’s net income and therefore its retained earnings, the balance
sheet is further distorted. The equity section of a balance sheet should represent
real dollars invested in the equity of the company. Expensing will not only corrupt
income statements, it will serve to distort already complex balance sheets, to the
detriment of investors.

Recent studies of employee stock options and compensation at a comprehensive
sampling of companies provides further evidence that stock options are not com-
pensation in that they are generally not viewed by the employee or employer as
compensation for labor performed and are not granted in lieu of salary compensa-
tion. In their book, In the Company of Owners: The Truth About Stock Options And
Why Every Employee Should Have Them, Rutgers University Professors Joseph
Blasi and Douglas Kruse found that, in the companies examined, average employees
who held options were paid competitive wages and benefits irrespective of any op-
tions held. Options instead represent “capital income” that workers receive for shar-
ing the risk of ownership in the corporation.

Some have argued that a corporation incurs an opportunity cost in issuing em-
ployee stock options, but generally accepted accounting principles have not required
the recognition of opportunity costs. Reliable calculation of the opportunity cost as-
sociated with the issuance of stock options would clearly be impossible. And, indeed,
to do so would lead to confusing results.

If employee stock options are considered an expense on the basis of opportunity
costs, then companies should be able to account for the economic benefits that result
from employee ownership. Amending GAAP to incorporate such costs or benefits
into the financial statement would clearly lead to distortions, inaccuracies and in-
vestor confusion.

Any cost that may exist with respect to shares or options issued to employees re-
sults from the potential dilution of each investor’s share of company ownership,
which may increase when options are granted. This cost is already reflected in the
income statement in the earnings per share (EPS) calculation. Reducing net income
when employee stock options are granted will result in an inaccurate “double
charge” in the financial statements.

Because the potential “cost” of issuing employee stock options is borne by existing
shareholders in the form of potential dilution, we believe that the most appropriate
way to reflect the so-called “cost” of employee stock options is through consistent
and extensive disclosures of data regarding shareholder dilution.

The Board has suggested that financial statements include a range of subjective
estimates and that the estimated valuation of employee stock options is no different.
We firmly disagree with this view. The subjective nature of the inputs into the
Board’s proposed option valuation formulas, the unpredictable nature of factors re-
lated to employee stock options and the resulting challenges in arriving at an accu-
rate valuation are unique to employee stock options.

Admittedly, there are uncertainties involved in measurement of other items in-
cluded in financial statements including depreciation, pension and other retirement
benefits and even stock options granted to third parties as compensation for prior
work performed. All of these examples, however, involve costs that can be valued
and assigned a definite out-of-pocket expense; or are subject to later truing up. De-
preciation estimates, for example, merely represent timing issues; the cost of equip-
ment purchased is a readily determined number. Work performed by third parties
can also be assigned a market value. In the case of pension costs, companies are
required to estimate total cost, but these estimates are trued up to reflect actual
costs.

In contrast, there is no reliable way to estimate the value of employee stock op-
tions and the Board’s proposal does not provide an opportunity to correct results to
the extent they prove wrong.

The longstanding approach embodied in FASB Statement No. 123 is an ap-
propriate method of accounting for stock options.

We believe that the approach embodied in Statement 123 is an appropriate meth-
od of accounting for stock options. Statement 123 recognizes that there is not con-
sensus on whether employee stock options constitute an expense. For all investors,
Statement 123 provides relevant information and supports the public policy goal of
fostering broad-based stock option plans.

Investors and accounting experts have expressed considerable doubt about the ac-
curacy of existing valuation methods include those proposed by the Board. Man-
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dating that a distorted charge be incorporated into financial statements will result
in significantly less clarity, consistency and reliability in financial statements. The
established approach required by Statement 123 enables investors who consider the
“compensation cost” a meaningful number to easily discern a hypothetical com-
pensation charge and its impact on the financial statement.

Those who consider the “compensation cost” meaningless may ignore that cost.

II. MEASUREMENT ATTRIBUTE AND MEASUREMENT DATE

The grant date of the option is the appropriate date for public companies
to measure the compensation cost of employee stock options

Current stock option accounting rules require that if employee stock options are
expensed, they must be expensed at the date they are granted to the employee. Not-
withstanding our position that employee stock options do not represent an expense,
grant date is the correct valuation date because it is when the employer and the
employee agree to the terms of the stock option award.

Exercise date accounting permits reliance on an actual value, rather than esti-
mates. However, it would produce substantial swings in net income based on vola-
tility of the underlying stock. In addition, it would have the perverse result of cre-
ating a higher expense when the stock performs well. If employee stock options were
expensed at exercise, the better a company is at increasing shareholder value, the
worse its reported earnings would be.

The Board previously considered and rejected expensing employee stock options
at the date they are exercised. FASB also rejected the view that if employee stock
options were expensed at exercise, the “cost” of the option would be the difference
between the market price of the stock and the amount paid by the employee on the
date the option is exercised. More recently, the International Accounting Standards
Board concluded that employee stock options that are expensed, must be expensed
on the grant date.

We believe that this issue has been thoroughly examined and that the Financial
Accounting Standards Board and International Accounting Standards Board
reached the appropriate conclusion in determining that employee stock options
should be valued at grant date. Nevertheless, as discussed below, we believe the
Board’s current proposal is unworkable on any basis including a grant-date basis.

III. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Use of the Black-Scholes, lattice or binomial option pricing models will not
result in accurate, reliable or consistent measurement of the fair value
of employee stock options.

We concur with the Board’s view that the fair value measurement should be based
on observable market prices of identical or similar instruments in active markets.
We do not believe, however, that estimates of fair value arrived at using existing
option pricing models will be accurate and reliable. We also do not believe the Board
has provided sufficient guidance to “ensure that the fair value measurement objec-
tive is applied with reasonable consistency.”

Current option pricing models, including the Black-Scholes model and the lattice
or binomial models, do not “reflect] ] any and all substantive characteristics” of an
employee stock option. Each of these models was created to value market-traded op-
tions. Specifically, these models do not factor in the lack of transferability of em-
ployee stock options, as discussed below in the response to the Board’s proposal rel-
ative to expected life. As a result, both option pricing models result in substantial
over-inflation of the value of employee stock options. The result is a material distor-
tion of financial statements and a negative impact on the quality of financial report-
ing.
The Black-Scholes model, in particular, has been widely discredited as a reliable
method of valuing employee stock options. The Black-Scholes model was designed
to value short-term, freely tradable stock options, which have very different charac-
teristics than employee options. Many of the unique features of employee stock op-
tions are not accounted for by the Black-Scholes model. As a result, companies that
utilize this model must factor a wide range of subjective judgments and assumptions
into a complex valuation formula. Predictions of a range of variables, including in-
terest rates, stock volatility, and employee exercise behavior will determine the out-
come of these calculations, resulting in widely divergent results depending on the
subjective assumptions a company makes. The results will be unreliable and will
defy comparability.

We commend the Board’s apparent recognition that the Black-Scholes model has
limitations when valuing employee stock options, reflected in the Board’s preference
for binomial models. However, binomial models do not address the shortcomings of
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the Black-Scholes method. While the Black-Scholes method is designed to value
traded options and has known limitations with respect to valuation of employee
stock options, other existing valuation models have similar deficiencies. The Black-
Scholes and binomial models essentially rely on the same variables: stock price, ex-
ercise price, time to exercise, risk-free rate of return and expected volatility of the
underlying stock. As with the Black-Scholes model, volatility is the key input and
is difficult to predict.

In addition, these existing option valuation models were designed to value freely
transferable options, yet there are significant restrictions on the transferability of
employee stock options. Employee stock options cannot be bought, sold or pledged.
The Black-Scholes and binomial models do not incorporate a lack of marketability
discount to address such restrictions.

Further, the Black-Scholes and binomial models were designed for options that
are exercisable only upon expiration. Employee stock options, in contrast, typically
have long vesting requirements of up to 10 years and are then exercisable for a pe-
riod of time, but are worthless if the employee terminates employment prior to vest-
}_ng. The Board’s proposed option pricing models do not accurately account for these
actors.

The Board’s proposal also does not take into account restrictions that exist during
the vesting period, on the basis that only instruments that vest are ultimately ex-
pensed. Again, however, a failure to discount for vesting restrictions overstates the
potential value of an employee stock option.

Any potential value of employee stock options is also significantly reduced—and
made difficult to estimate—by the imposition of blackout periods or trading restric-
tions on employees. Many companies prevent trading of employee stock options
based on events such as product breakthroughs or major announcements. These
blackout periods vary by individual company and by individual employee, restricting
options exercise and trading opportunities for significant periods of the year. As a
result, the potential value of employee stock options is reduced and made substan-
tially more difficult to estimate.

In short, although the binomial models may have theoretical advantages over the
Black-Scholes method, in practice, they suffer from similar shortcomings. Binomial
models contain a complex series of subjective inputs, and values calculated are
greatly influenced by the many assumptions and choices made. Investors and other
users of financial statements will have no way to understand the complex process
of arriving at employee stock option valuations, nor will they be able to interpret
or compare the resulting financial statements.

Volatility estimates have a material negative impact on financial state-
ments that do not accurately reflect a company’s actual financial per-
formance.

The Board seeks comment on whether a specific method for estimating volatility
should be used and if so, what method should be used and why. We believe that
current option pricing models, including those proposed by the Board, favor compa-
nies in non-volatile industries and penalize companies in highly volatile industries.
In addition, these models do not produce reliable and comparable results in large
part because they require assumptions of expected volatility.

The Black-Scholes and binomial valuation models create a disadvantage for com-
panies in volatile industries. Assuming stock price and other terms are the same,
if the stock price is declining in the volatile market and staying constant in the non-
volatile market, the option value will be significantly higher for the company in the
volatile market, under the Black-Scholes formula.

In addition to creating a disadvantage for companies in volatile industries, the
Board’s proposal requires estimates of long-term volatility, inherently unreliable fig-
ures. The volatility of the underlying stock expected over the life of the option, up
to ten years, is perhaps the most significant prediction that must be incorporated
into option pricing models. Volatility estimates have the potential to result in sub-
stantial swings in stock option valuation yet corporate estimates of future stock vol-
atility truly represent efforts to predict the future.

Rather than rely on historical volatility, the Exposure Draft requires companies
in most instances to consider the extent to which “future experience is reasonably
expected to differ from historical experience.” Companies are further required to es-
timate future volatility over the life of the option, up to 10 years in the future.

Wide shifts in volatility are a unique feature of technology and high-growth com-
panies, in contrast to many other sectors of the economy with more predictable per-
formance characteristics. The high technology and biotechnology industries are sub-
ject to significant swings in volatility due to patterns of scientific breakthrough and
innovation that uniquely characterize these industries. Furthermore, these techno-
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logical and scientific breakthroughs or setbacks by a company—or by its competi-
tors—are impossible to predict.

These unpredictable events also have an unpredictable impact on volatility. Expe-
rience illustrates that positive events, including strong test results, regulatory ap-
provals and technology breakthroughs, can but do not always increase volatility. In
addition, macroeconomic variables and general market conditions also positively or
negatively impact volatility. Finally, the start and end dates or time period used to
calculate volatility as well as the number of data points used can significantly im-
pact the resulting volatility estimate. In short, events and their impact on volatility
are not possible to predict and positive or negative events can instantly make obso-
lete any valuation assumptions made at grant date.

Incorrectly estimating the impact of volatility can cause option valuation and ex-
penses to fluctuate significantly. For example, using the Black-Scholes formula and
making reasonable assumptions about stock price, option life, risk free rate of re-
turn and number of option grants per year, an estimated volatility of 60 percent
yields an estimated options expense number that is almost 100 percent greater than
the expense number that results from a 40 percent estimated volatility. Changes in
volatility estimates have a dramatic, material change in employee stock options ex-
pense, reported earnings and potentially to stock price.

Without a consistent or standardized method of estimating expected volatilities,
similar companies can generate significantly different expense results. Estimates or
predictions of volatility based on events a decade in the future and any valuation
based thereon will clearly be unreliable, except in the case of companies that grant
stock options sparingly (any expense number would be immaterial for companies
with limited option programs). We urge the Board not to adopt a proposal that will
create an unequal playing field by penalizing industries that experience high stock
volatility.

Employee exercise behavior is another significant factor that cannot be ac-
curately estimated.

The Board’s proposal permits use of expected option term rather than maximum
term as a means of addressing the absence of a market for employee stock options.
The Board’s proposal, however, would require companies to forecast employee exer-
cise behavior. Many variables impact employee decisions to exercise stock options,
including vesting horizon, option term, magnitude of in-the-money position, and the
portfolio of options that the employee can exercise in the near and long-terms. In
addition, employee exercise behavior differs based on job classification levels, gender
and age, restrictions on trading due to blackout periods and closed trading windows,
and a range of other factors. Personal decision-making based on individual expecta-
tions and needs is virtually impossible to predict, yet the Board’s proposal would
require such estimates.

The unique attributes of employee stock options are not taken into account
by the Board’s proposal resulting in overstatement of the value of em-
ployee stock option grants.

The Board’s proposed valuation models do not provide a sufficient discount for the
unique features of employee stock options. Shortening the life of an option by ad-
justing the contractual terms for expected early exercise and post-vesting employ-
ment behavior does not adequately account for the non-transferability attribute and
other unique features of employee stock options, resulting in overstatement of the
value of employee stock options.

Adjusting the “life” of the option from the contractual life may account in part
for the fact that employee stock options vest. However, this adjustment does not ad-
dress the other restrictions that exist including the fact that an option cannot be
transferred, hedged, pledged, or sold. As a result, many options expire unexercised
because an employee left a company before the options had vested or because the
option price was above the price of the stock when the options became exercisable.
In short, the option pricing models proposed by the Board do not address these fea-
tures of employee stock options and thus will result in significant over-inflation of
the value of employee stock options.

As a result of these shortcomings, current option pricing models, including those
proposed by the Board, allow a corporation to come up with huge differences in the
expense number depending on the inputs that are used. By failing to account for
the restrictions and other characteristics of employee stock options, current option
pricing models produce unreliable and misleading results that overstate the value
of employee stock option grants, particularly with respect to companies in volatile
industries.
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A recent study confirmed that the Black-Scholes model systematically overstates
the value of employee stock option grants.! In a detailed study of the leading valu-
ation models applied to an actual set of employee stock option grants covering 403
million options granted by nine major U.S. companies, the Black-Scholes model con-
sistently overstated the value of the option grants. The authors of the study cited
the failure of the Black-Scholes model to consider the unique features of employee
stock options.

The Board’s proposal does not provide sufficient flexibility to permit the
use of new option pricing models when and if developed.

The Exposure Draft indicates that the Board seeks to adopt a flexible standard
that will permit the use of new option pricing models when, and if, developed. We
are concerned, however, that the Board’s proposed standard appears to preclude the
use of any model that is not based on the Black-Scholes model or a lattice model.
Not only must any model used rely on the Black-Scholes inputs, but the Board’s pro-
posal refers only to lattice and closed and models such as Black Scholes and there
is no clear guidance on the use of alternative models once developed. We are con-
cerned that, as a practical matter, new models could not be used unless they were
derivations of Black-Scholes or binomial models.

We have significant concerns about the Board’s proposal to require options
thatl vest on a graded schedule to be valued and accounted for sepa-
rately.

In essence, the Board’s proposal would require that where options vest on a “grad-
ed schedule,” that each set of options constitutes a separate award that must be val-
ued separately and accounted for separately. Additional issuances to, for example,
new employees, also would presumably have to be accounted for separately to the
extent they were issued other than on a company-wide grant date. The result would
be multiple valuations for the same option grant and unnecessary complexity result-
ing in major implementation costs and challenges.

In addition, this approach will result in inappropriate front-loading of the option
expense. Under the Board’s proposal, the expense of new option grants is based on
“graded vesting” which accelerates the expense in the early years. Thus, there is
likely to be a greater financial statement impact, or front-loading of the expense,
in the first few years as each year will carry a ratable piece of the historical grants
and an accelerated portion of the new grants. This would be extremely difficult to
administer and impact comparability of financial statements.

The Board’s proposed transition rules would result in unreliable and in-
comparable financial statements.

We are concerned that the Board’s proposal will result in a significant lack of
comparability due to the inconsistent treatment of new option grants versus prior
option grants. The Board’s proposal would require unvested options to be expensed
based on the Black-Scholes value that was contained in prior footnote disclosures.
Newly issued options, in contrast, would be valued based on the new standard. As
a result, during the transition period, outstanding options would be valued in radi-
cally different ways.

In addition, estimates of the value of grants made in prior years using the Black-
Scholes method will, under this proposal, impact financial statements going forward
despite recognition that these “values” are overstated. The result will be highly con-
flfsing for investors, particularly in the case of companies that offer broad-based
plans.

We believe that the Board’s proposal will have a significant, negative im-
pact on emerging growth companies and other non-public entities.

We are particularly concerned about the impact of the Board’s proposal on non-
public companies given the importance of employee stock options to the success of
emerging growth companies and the reliance of such companies on stock options to
attract, retain and incentivize employees. Further, we believe that the subjectivity
and unpredictability of the estimates required by the Board’s proposal is exacer-
bated in the case of non-public companies.

All of the arguments outlined above apply to non-public companies. In fact, such
companies will face heightened challenges in estimating the volatility of the stock
that underlies the employee stock option and for which there is no market. There
is no reliable data to measure volatility for most non-public companies. Estimates
based on market volatility will not be reliable because company volatility is often

1“Valuing Employee Stock Options: A Comparison of Alternative Models,” Analysis Group/Ec-
onomics for Financial Executives Research Foundation.
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not comparable to industry volatility. In addition, venture-backed companies often
establish new industries with unpredictable volatilities.

The Board’s proposal states that, where it is impossible to estimate the fair value
of employee stock options, companies be required to use an “intrinsic value” method
where the value is adjusted each reporting period. Non-public entities may also elect
this method. We have concerns regarding the Board’s proposed use of an “intrinsic
value” method in which the value of employee stock options is adjusted each report-
ing period.

This approach will, in effect, bring the stock price directly into the income state-
ment. The expense associated with employee stock options will increase or decrease
each quarter depending on changes in the price of the underlying stock. Under this
approach, it is conceivable that the expense might even be negative in some cases.

In previous examinations of the expensing issue, the Board determined that meas-
uring volatility would be too difficult, resulting in the current use of the minimum
value method for non-public companies. We believe that estimating future volatility
for new, non-public entities remains a significant challenge and we urge the Board
not to require this approach.

A one-year extension of the effective date is not sufficient to address these con-
cerns. The substantial compliance costs that would be imposed on non-public compa-
nies would far outweigh any possibly perceived benefits resulting from a mandatory
expensing standard.

The Board should conduct extensive field-testing of proposed option pric-
ing models prior to adoption of any final standard.

There are fundamental differences of opinion within the accounting community on
the threshold issue of whether employee stock options constitute an expense. There
is widespread agreement among accounting experts and in the business community,
however, that current valuation models will not product accurate, reliable and con-
sistent results. As a result, we strongly urge the Board to require field-testing of
any proposed option pricing models prior to the adoption of any final standard.

Field-testing should be comprehensive and enable the financial officers and man-
agement of companies to make and test real-life assumptions to determine whether
these models can produce reliable and comparable results. Further, we believe that
the results arrived at through field-testing should be used to develop footnote disclo-
sures until it can be determined that they provide accurate and reliable results. If,
based on sufficient field-testing data, it is determined that the Board’s proposed
models provide credible, transparent, consistent, comparable and unbiased informa-
tion, and that the footnote disclosure has not addressed investor needs, then the
valuation of stock options on the face of the financial statements should be consid-
ered. There is ample precedent for field-testing in cases such as this, in which a
long-standing method of accounting is replaced with a newer, untested approach.

The Exposure Draft and resulting standard will not increase clarity or
comparability for companies or investors.

We support the Board’s stated goal of issuing “financial accounting standards that
can be read and understood by those possessing a reasonable level of accounting
knowledge, a reasonable understanding of the business and economic activities cov-
ered by the accounting standard, and a willingness to study the standard with rea-
sonable diligence.” We feel strongly, however, that the proposed Statement will not
achieve this objective.

On the contrary, as detailed in this letter, we believe that the Board’s proposal
would establish a standard that significantly reduces the reliability, comparability
and clarity of financial statements for companies and investors. We believe that the
proposed standard would impose significant burdens on companies, particularly
smaller companies, related to compliance and auditing. Further, we believe the
standard is so complex and subjective as to produce financial statements that can-
not readily be understood or compared across industries or over time by the average
investor.

The Board’s proposal will have a negative impact on the ability of compa-
nies to offer Employee Stock Purchase Plans.

The Board has taken the position that any Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)
is compensatory, and an expense must be recognized, unless all holders of the same
class of stock are entitled to purchase shares of stock on no less favorable terms
than the employee. The proposal thus requires companies to treat as an expense the
discount given to employees when they purchase shares under these plans.

Employee stock purchase plans are an important benefit to American workers.
More than 15 million workers at 4,000 public companies across the United States
participate in ESPPs. We are concerned that the likely result of the Board’s pro-
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posal will be the reduction or elimination of one of the primary savings vehicles for
millions of average American employees.

IV. ECONOMIC POLICY IMPLICATIONS OF THE BOARD’S PROPOSAL

Mandatory expensing will threaten the trend toward broad-based employee
ownership

Increasingly, employee stock options are being offered by companies in a range
of industries and the clear national trend has been toward increased employee own-
ership particularly among non-managers. Data from the National Center for Em-
ployee Ownership and other sources over the last few years shows that the number
of companies that offer options to all employees continues to grow. Currently, over
14 million American workers or 13 percent of the entire private sector workforce
hold stock options, according to a recent national study by Professors Joseph Blasi
and Douglas Kruse of Rutgers University’s School of Management and Labor Rela-
tions and Professor Richard Freeman of Harvard University’s Department of Eco-
nomics. 94 percent of these employees consider themselves part of the middle class,
working class or lower class, while only 15 percent identify themselves managers.
Mandatory expensing will threaten this important trend.

In the high technology and biotechnology industries that TechNet represents,
stock options and broad-based employee ownership have been an engine of growth,
helping to build some of the nation’s most innovative companies. TechNet member
companies—including many of today’s technology leaders as well as start-ups—have
grown due in large part to the ability to use employee stock options to attract and
retain skilled employees at all levels of the corporation.

A mandatory expensing standard is likely to result in the elimination of broad-
based employee stock option plans. Professors Brian Hall of Harvard Business
School and Kevin Murphy of the Marshall School of Business, University of South-
ern California, have conducted research showing that the perceived value of stock
options to executives at time of grant is typically one-half to two-thirds of the value
under the Black-Scholes method, and may be as little as one-third.2 A more recent
study of over 640 employees at 300 publicly-traded companies suggests that employ-
ees place a 30 to 50 percent discount on the value of stock option grants they re-
ceive, relative to the Black-Scholes value of the options.3 If forced to absorb a cost
50 to 200 percent greater than their perceived value, companies will face a major
obstacle to offering options.

For companies that broadly issue employee stock options, the inaccuracies that re-
sult through application of existing option pricing models are more likely to have
a material negative impact on financial statements, while companies that issue only
a small number of options—usually to senior officers—will not be as significantly
affected. Under a mandatory expensing standard, companies will be forced to re-
strict stock option grants rather than adding a significant expense, in accounting
terms, to the financial statement. The result will be a decline in broad-based stock
option plans.

In fact, recent studies and press reports confirm that companies will restrict op-
tion grants if a mandatory expensing standard is adopted. A 2002 survey of 117
U.S. companies showed that most of the companies surveyed would restrict option
grants to rank-and-file employees if employee stock options were required to be ex-
pensed.# In fact, the study suggested that four of every five companies would grant
fewer employee stock options. A number of corporations have already announced
plans 1:01 reduce option grants to non-executive employees in reaction to the Board’s
proposal.

The importance of broad-based stock options and their impact on economic growth
is undisputed. Studies confirm that broad-based plans have a significant impact on
productivity, innovation and economic activity. Companies that offer stock options
to most or all employees have experienced significant increases in productivity.

Most recently, Professors Blasi and Kruse provide empirical evidence that compa-
nies with broad-based employee stock option plans receive a one-time, but perma-
nent, boost to productivity of approximately 4 percent, compared to what their pro-
ductivity would have been without employee ownership. Total shareholder returns
increase by an average of approximately 2 percent.> Anecdotal evidence by employ-

2The Journal of Accounting and Economics, April 2002.

3How Do Employees Value Stock Options, Watson Wyatt Worldwide, March 2004.

4“Survey: Firms Say Expensing Would Hurt Rank-and-File,—San Jose Mercury News, de-
scribing a June 2002 study of 117 companies by iQuantic Buck.

5Joseph Blasi, Douglas Kruse and Aaron Bernstein, In the Company of Owners: The Truth
About Stock Options (and why every employee should have them), 2003.
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ees and managers in a range of industries confirm the power of stock options to mo-
tivate employees through equity ownership.

V. CONCLUSION

TechNet strongly believes that the flexible approach set forth in Statement
No.123 provides appropriate information to investors. We have serious concerns that
an expensing standard utilizing existing valuation methods as proposed by the
Board will result in inaccurate and inconsistent financial reporting.

Existing valuation models are not adequate for valuing employee stock options.
We believe that the Black-Scholes and binomial models proposed by the Board fail
to adequately incorporate factors unique to employee stock options. The need to
make multiple subjective determinations of the variables used in the Black-Scholes
or binomial stock option valuation models will threaten the comparability and con-
sistency of financial reporting across companies and across industries.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this important matter. Please con-
tact me at (650) 213-1160 for any further discussion of our comments.

Sincerely,
Rick WHITE
President and CEO

Mr. STEARNS. I thank my colleague.
Mr. Mayer.

STATEMENT OF STEVEN C. MAYER, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, HUMAN GENOME SCIENCES

Mr. MAYER. Thank you, Chairman Stearns, Ranking Member
Schakowsky, and members of the subcommittee. Thank you for the
opportunity to appear before you today at this important hearing.
I have submitted my letter to the FASB, my comment letter and
that of BIO, that I ask be included in the record.

Mr. STEARNS. My unanimous consent, so ordered.

[The material appears at the end of the hearing.]

Mr. MAYER. My name is Steven Mayer, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Human Genome Sciences. I am a
member of the Small Business Advisory Committee to the FASB,
as Mr. Herz mentioned, and I did participate in the first meeting
of that committee on May 11 of this year. I have been a participant
in the biotechnology industry for more than 20 years and have
served as Chief Financial Officer of a number of biotechnology com-
panies, both private startups and public companies, for 19 years.

I am pleased to appear today on behalf of BIO, the Biotechnology
Industry Organization, which represents more than 1,000 bio-
technology companies and related organizations. Most of these com-
panies are engaged in the search for therapies to prevent, treat and
cure diseases, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, auto-
immune disease, infectious diseases such as HIV/AIDS, and many
other serious conditions.

At Human Genome Sciences we were a pioneer in the discovery
of human genes and the application of those discoveries to human
therapeutics. We are currently testing in human clinical studies
breakthrough treatments for cancer, lupus, rheumatoid arthritis,
hepatitis C infection, and even the potential bioterror threat, an-
thrax. In addition, we are in preclinical development of treatments
for HIV infection and diabetes.

In all of my experience in the biotechnology industry, in every
company with which I have been associated and in virtually every
company with which I am familiar, stock options have played a key
role in the recruitment, retention and reward of the scientists, phy-
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sicians, professionals and staff. In fact, all of these companies use
broad-based plans that generally extend to most if not each and
every employee in the company. All of our employees at Human
Genome Sciences are eligible for our stock option program.

So I have a pretty good understanding of how stock options have
been used in our industry over a long period of time and an appre-
ciation of the fact that stock options have been a key ingredient in
making the U.S. biotechnology industry the world leader by a very
wide margin. I am concerned that putting this structure at risk
could jeopardize the important research going on in the biotech in-
dustry. That is why I am here today to speak on behalf of BIO in
support of the legislation that you are considering, H.R. 3574, and
to explain why I believe there are fundamental and fatal flaws in
the exposure draft prepared by the FASB that would require man-
datory expensing of stock options.

First, I believe mandatory expensing is bad policy that will di-
minish the entrepreneurial spirit of our industry, reduce the avail-
ability of capital and decrease the alignment of interests among
employees, management, and stockholders. Such a change will in
all likelihood have a detrimental impact on a broad range of rank
and file employees who today have an opportunity to accumulate
wealth through participation in the value that they help create.

Second, and most important, I believe expensing is bad account-
ing that will cause financial statements to become less reliable, less
transparent, less comparable, more volatile, less understandable
and less useful.

Some points. Employee stock options do not represent an expense
as defined in the FASB’s own conceptual framework, CON 6. I
would encourage all the members, or perhaps their staffs, to read
the conceptual framework. It is an excellent document. I commend
the FASB on it. But the FASB definition of expenses in that con-
ceptual framework states that “expenses represent actual or ex-
pected cash outflows that have occurred or will eventuate as a re-
sult of the entity’s ongoing major operations.” The grant, exercise
or sale of shares from a stock option never under any cir-
cumstances result in a cash outflow. In fact, they may result in a
cash inflow.

Another point. Expensing stock options I believe will actually dis-
tort earnings per share by double counting the impact of the op-
tion, first as an expense and then a second time as dilution. The
true economic impact of issuing stock options is already fully cap-
tured in the dilution of earnings per share. It is actually the stock-
holders who give up a share of their interest in the company in ex-
change for value created, not the company that incurs an expense.

Transparency. We hear it a lot. We talk about it a lot. Trans-
parency means that one can understand where the numbers come
from and how they were derived. Few people I know understand
the Black-Scholes model, including many of those who use it. No
one I know understands the lattice model nor do they understand
how they will come up with the many estimates required to imple-
ment it. This single number is only a theoretical estimate of a cost
that is never actually incurred, that never results in a cash outflow
and that may in our industry, in the biotech industry, overwhelm
every other category of expense in the income statement.
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This is not transparency. What we have today with extensive
footnote disclosure already required by the Securities and Ex-
change Commission is much more transparent. The information is
readily available to any investor or creditor who wishes to use it.
Increasing the complexity of financial statements in this way will
only make the information less accessible to the average investor,
the small creditor, the independent analyst. The large institutions
will have the legions of analysts needed to untangle and interpret
these complex statements resulting in a less level playing field
than we have today.

My third point is that the cost of implementation and the dif-
ficulties of auditing the many estimates that would be required to
implement the expensing of stock options have been severely un-
derestimated and will far exceed, in my view, any benefit that
could possibly be derived from taking the extensive information al-
ready available in the footnotes to financial statements and embed-
ding it in the income statement as a single theoretical estimate.
The implementation of this new standard will be a crushing burden
to many companies in our industry.

My grave concern is that the forces that are defining this new
accounting approach are driven by a desire to reshape executive
compensation and not by the goal of improving financial reporting.
Is accounting policy the right way to address the executive com-
pensation issue? In this setting, I am hopeful that Congress will
act to preserve reporting standards that result in clear, reliable,
comparable and informative financial statements.

Thank you again for this opportunity. I will be happy to answer
any questions.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Mayer. Let me ask you something,
Mr. Mayer. From your testimony, you are saying that you would
agree to expense stock options for all employees if we used the lat-
tice model?

Mr. MAYER. No. I am saying that I think using the lattice model
would be an incredible burden on companies because people don’t
understand it.

Mr. STEARNS. Black-Scholes, you don’t think that——

Mr. MAYER. Black-Scholes is a simpler model that people cur-
rently use for doing their footnote

Mr. STEARNS. But your position is you do not think any stock op-
tions should be expensed, is that correct?

Mr. MAYER. That is correct.

Mr. STEARNS. Mr. White, is that your position, that no stock op-
tions should be expensed?

Mr. WHITE. As a theoretical matter we don’t think it makes
sense to do it. As a matter of policy it may make sense to make
a distinction for the top five since they do have the ability to ma-
nipulate the price of a stock.

Mr. STEARNS. So we are clear that your position is pretty
straightforward that no stock option should be expensed. On the
other side, Mr. Walker and Mr. Herz believe they should be. When
you look at other people who have experience in this matter, I men-
tion Alan Greenspan, Paul Volcker, SEC Chairman Bill Donaldson,
Treasury Secretary John Snow and Warren Buffett, all think they
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should be expensed. Both of you individuals do not agree with
them. Canada is starting to expense them and so is Europe.

So at this point we also have all seven members of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, we have the four top accounting
firms and legions of investment professionals that say they should
be expensed. Not only that but Warren Buffett, who has had 62
years of investing, is one of the most wealthy men in the country,
has pointed out in his recent editorial that he believes stock op-
tions should be expensed. The question is, in his editorial he was
concerned about, and as has been pointed out by one of the mem-
bers of the panel, is that the idea of zero volatility means there is
no expense.

So I guess the question is, and this is for you, Mr. Herz, H.R.
3574 requires that the assumed volatility for options granted to the
five highest paid executives in a corporation be zero. Mr. Buffett
says that is impossible. In his 62 years he has never seen a stock
that doesn’t fluctuate. He calls it an Alice in Wonderland assump-
tion to state that it would be zero.

So let me ask you a question. Can you expense a stock if its vola-
tility is considered to be zero?

Mr. HERZ. You would get what is called the minimum value ap-
proach, which is just accounting for the discounting of the strike
price, but you can actually then engineer the strike price to get a
zero expense and just keep the value the same by multiplying the
number of the grant of the options. The answer is that it defies all
rational, proven finance logic that underlies the whole financial

Mr. STEARNS. Let’s be fair. In that bill they also have other cri-
teria besides the zero volatility. So comment about those. Do they
make it more credible?

Mr. HERZ. The bill has what is called a true-up at the end for
the spread between the grant price and the value of the stock at
that end, whether it is higher or lower. That is what is called exer-
cise data counting. That is not an accounting that is supported by
many accountants. It is an accounting that the CBO looked into.

Mr. STEARNS. Does FASB support the other options that are in
the bill as a criteria?

Mr. HERZ. No.

Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Walker, the other criteria that is in this bill
besides the zero volatility, do you find those credible to use for ex-
pensing options?

Mr. WALKER. I think they are issues that are reasonable to con-
sider but the fact of the matter is I think it is unrealistic to not
consider volatility. To a certain extent, Mr. Chairman, what I am
hearing is an advocacy for social accounting.

Mr. STEARNS. What is social accounting? Define that.

Mr. WALKER. There is a big debate that happens from time to
time saying that you ought to invest or not invest in certain types
of things because of social or societal interests. What I am hearing
from the two panel members who oppose the FASB’s proposed ac-
tion is that accounting shouldn’t be based on economics, it
shouldn’t be based upon consistency and transparency and sub-
stance over form, it should be based upon what kind of social impli-
cations it might have.
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I might add, as an anology, I used to be Assistant Secretary of
Labor for Pensions and Employee Benefit Programs, so I am very
familiar with ESOPs, employee stock ownership plans, profit-shar-
ing plans. The Tax Code has all kinds of incentives in it for broad-
based, employee-based share arrangements. It also has a number
of additional flexibilities with regard to Federal laws in order to try
to encourage those types of arrangements, but that is different
than how you ought to account for those types of arrangements.

Mr. STEARNS. Let me just conclude. Mr. White and Mr. Mayer,
you have testified that stock options should not be counted as ex-
pense because, in your words, “they represent an opportunity for
employees to share in ownership.” But, Mr. Mayer, don’t we ex-
pense the direct grant of stocks? Aren’t they expensed when I give
you stocks personally?

Mr. MAYER. Yes. From an accounting treatment——

Mr. STEARNS. If it is true that we force you to expense the stocks
when we give them to you, why wouldn’t it be possible to expense
the option for the stock?

Mr. MAYER. Stocks have certain value. If I give you a share of
stock, it is liquid, you can take it

Mr. STEARNS. And we are saying options do not have that?

Mr. MAYER. Do not have certain value. In fact that is exactly the
point.

Mr. STEARNS. Doesn’t the corporation go out and have to commit
those at a certain price before they give it to the

Mr. MAYER. Absolutely not. No. Typically—it depends on the
company but typically the company will reserve shares.

Mr. STEARNS. That is what I mean. When they reserve those
shares, isn’t that a commitment by the company typically and at
that point somebody owns those shares and is protecting that price
value before it goes up or down?

Mr. MAYER. No, absolutely not. The shares that are reserved are
set aside at the behest of the stockholders, the owners of the com-
pany, not by management, and under today’s rules all stock option
plans must be——

Mr. STEARNS. But who is going to buy those stocks when it is ex-
ercised?

Mr. MAYER. The public market would.

Mr. STEARNS. And who is going to guarantee that price—if you
are going to buy it at 32 and it is 200, who is going to guarantee
that 32?

Mr. MAYER. Well, the 32 is a contractual commitment by the
company.

Mr. STEARNS. Isn’t a contractual commitment an expense if it in-
volves options of stocks?

Mr. MAYER. No, it is not an expense. In fact an expense as de-
fined by FASB is a cash outflow. There isn’t a cash outflow.

Mr. STEARNS. Let me just conclude with Mr. Herz. I am a little
over my time. Yes, Mr. Herz.

Mr. HERz. Options clearly do have value and any options are
given for other purposes, to acquire goods and services, they are
used in M&A transactions, stock purchase warrants are used as
part of financing packages. In all those cases, it has been long es-
tablished accounting that you value them and you account for that
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properly. It is just this one form of employee stock option that has
this kind of narrow aperture in the existing accounting literature
that has been used to not account for them.

Mr. STEARNS. My time has expired.

Mr. MAYER. If T could just correct what I think is a misconcep-
tion on the volatility issue. Zero volatility does not mean zero value
by definition under Black-Scholes. I am less familiar with the lat-
tice model, but you plug in zero volatility into a Black-Scholes
model, you will not get zero value. You will get a lower value than
if you plug in a higher volatility. In fact volatility is the most sen-
sitive parameter and is exactly why I am so concerned about this
because nobody here can predict what the stock market volatility
will be over some 7 or 10 years.

Mr. STEARNS. My time has expired. The gentlelady.

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. White, I have
to tell you that I was shocked and offended by what I view as the
very—you don’t have to put your mike on because I am going to
ask Mr. Herz to respond—patronizing tone of your testimony in
saying that we had to consider these larger economic questions. I
want to tell you something. That is why we are here right now, the
effect on the economy. If you doubt that, talk to some of these em-
ployees of Enron or other victims of corporate misconduct. The rea-
son that we are so concerned about setting some neutral industry
standards and accounting standards and looking at what FASB is
trying to create here is because we have economic victims of this
corporate irresponsibility and misconduct and, in the case perhaps
of Ken Lay, of criminal activity. So we are looking at larger ques-
tions here.

I don’t want to say too much because I saw Mr. Herz taking
some notes while you were talking. I want to give him some time
to respond to your patronizing testimony. But you were concerned,
Mr. White, about my company not doing as well because I had to
report those expenses. I just wanted to read to you, in March 2004,
a leading compensation firm, Towers Perrin, issued a study exam-
ining 335 companies that switched to stock option expensing and
found that stock performance was the same on average as the rest
of the S&P 500 and Mid Cap 400 indices. Stock option expensing
did not affect company stock prices. The same dire prediction had
been made and shown to be unfounded when FASB first required
companies to begin accounting for their obligations to employees re-
lating to retiree health care benefits.

So I would say, don’t be concerned about my company. Were 1
to expense those stock options, it appears that I would be doing
just fine as these nearly 600 other companies seem to be doing, as
Canada, as 90 other countries. And the idea of harmonizing what
we douwith the rest of the world, it seems worth commenting on
as well.

I would like, Mr. Herz, to give you the opportunity to respond to
soglle of the comments that Mr. White made regarding the inappli-
cability.

Let me just say one other thing. It seems to me that what you
were suggesting, Mr. White, was politicizing the question of these
accounting standards and it seems to me that your suggestion,
rather than helping, undermines investor confidence in accounting
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practices, allows companies to misrepresent their true financial po-
sitions, does not allow for honest and transparent accounting, and
prevents investors and pension funds from making informed deci-
sions. It seems to me that is what I heard Mr. Walker saying, too,
I think, is if we want to establish confidence, then doing exactly
what FASB, or perhaps we need more discussion about the exact
nature of it, but the idea of what FASB was suggesting is the direc-
tion we ought to go.

Mr. Herz.

Mr. WHITE. You are not going to let me respond, is that correct?

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. You took more than your time as it was and
I would like now Mr. Herz to use my remaining time. If there are
others who want to give you time, that would be fine.

Mr. HERz. Thank you. Because I was going to say that I was
kind of grateful to Rick for characterizing my own statements,
which I think he mischaracterized some of them. On the issue of
not considering the impact on the U.S. economy, our mission is ex-
actly about—as you say, it is about the efficient allocation of capital
in the economy. We think that is a huge public policy goal.

Different groups come to us, different industry groups come to us
always and say, my public policy mission is the highest in the econ-
omy. We had a group from the steel industry come and quite ra-
tionally say steel needs to be made more competitive, the costs are
too high, we want you to exempt us from showing pension costs.
I asked, do you still have those costs? Yeah, but we want you to
put it in the footnotes, make you look more competitive. When we
were doing the thing on special purpose entities, we had a number
of people who were purveyors of different structures saying, well,
my special purpose entity is good, it allows companies by keeping
it off the balance sheet to borrow more and they can hire more peo-
ple and they can invest in things. We can’t make those kind of deci-
sions nor should we have to.

For us, as I said, it is about trying to get the right accounting,
the issue of investors and backing the thing out. The fact is that
investors, shareholders, institutional investors have all kind of
voted either in resolutions or in all sorts of surveys and they all
back our proposal strongly and the idea of expensing.

He said there is no clear accounting consensus. Yeah, there is
some debate on some of the technical issues, but on the basic issue
of expensing, as mentioned, all the accounting firms I know, not
just the big four, the next two large ones, in the international
arena, the International Accounting Standards Board approved
their standards by 14 to nothing. On that board are people from
nine different countries from all parts of the world. So I think there
is a fair amount of consensus on this issue.

Ms. ScHAKOWSKY. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, I seek unanimous
consent to put into the record a letter that myself and Mr. Dingell
and 22 Members of the House and Senate sent to FASB and also
the list of the 576 companies that have voluntarily adopted option
expensing, a report from Bear Stearns.

Mr. STEARNS. By unanimous consent, so ordered.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Congress of the United States
THaghington, BE 20510

June 30, 2004

Financial Accounting Standards Board

Director of Major Projects

File Reference No. 1102-100

401 Merritt 7

P.O. Box 5116

Norwalk, Connecticut 06856-5116 Sent by electronic mail to director@fasb.or

RE: Employee Stock Option Accounting

To Members of the Financial Accounting Standards Board:

We are writing In strong support of the Exposure Draft on Share-Based Payments,
which has been proposed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to amend
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 and 95 on accounting for stock options. The
signatories to this letter, Members of Congress from the U.S. House of Representatives
and U.S. Senate, are strong supporters of an honest accounting standard that would
require all employee stock option compensation to be shown as an expense on corporate
financial statements.

Current U.S. accounting standards allow companies to choose whether or not to
report stock option compensation as an expense in their financial statements. Many
companies have chosen not to report any expense, even when claiming stock option
expenses on their tax returns. Stock options are the only form of compensation expense
that may be completely omitted from a corporation’s financial statements. All other
forms of compensation — including stock grants, stock appreciation rights, performance
awards, golden parachutes, health and retirement benefits — must appear as an expense.
The issue is not whether these forms of compensation provide useful incentives, but
whether all of them should be reflected honestly on company financial records as
company expenses.

Stealth Compensation

The unique and unwarranted accounting treatment afforded stock options has fueled
stock option abuses linked to excessive executive pay, inflated company earnings,
dishonest accounting, and corporate misconduct.
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Since the 1980s, stock option compensation has funneled millions of dollars to
{J.S. corporate exccutives and contributed a substantial portion of the compensation paid
to chief executive officers (CEOs) at U.S. corporations. Business Week has estimated
that, in the aggregate, employee stock options now account for “a staggering 15 percent
of all shares outstanding” at U.S. publicly traded corporations. In 2003, CEO pay at 350
major U.S. public companies averaged $8 million, with stock options typically providing
the largest single compensation component. Stock options have frequently provided such
striking sums as the $123 million paid to Enron’s CEQ in 2000, the $700 million paid to
the CEOQ of a high technology company in 2001, and the $130 million paid to another
CEO in 2003. At many companies, this compensation never appears on the company’s
financial statements as an expense, despite the size of the payment and the comnmon
practice of deducting it as an expense on the company’s federal corporate tax return. At
these companies, stock options have functioned as stealth compensation.

In addition to fueling excessive executive pay, the omission of stock option
expenses from company financial statements, combined with the inclusion of this
expense in company tax returns, have resulted in overstated earnings. Federal Reserve
Chairman Alan Greenspan has stated that “[t]he failure to expense stock option grants has
introduced a significant distortion in reported earnings™ and estimated that, from 1995 to
2000, stock options were used to overstate reported company earnings by an average of 3
percent. Focusing primarily on high technology companies, Bear Stearns has calculated
that, if companies in the Nasdaq 100 index had included stock option expenses, their
reported 2003 eamings would have fallen by as much as 40 percent.

But overstated earnings are not the only accounting problem associated with stock
options. A September 2002 report issued by a blue-ribbon panel established by The
Conference Board found that the current accounting treatment of stock options helped
“foster{] what appears to be a vicious cycle of increasing short-term pressures to
manipulate eamings in order to bolster stock price in order to cash in on options.” A
more recent study by Texas A&M University of 100 companies that restated their
financial results in 2000 and 2001, used regression analysis to determine that the factor
most likely to result in a financial restatement was whether the CEO had substantial, in-
the-money stock options. Stock option abuses and the dishonest accounting associated
with them have damaged the credibility of not only individual companies, but also overall
investor confidence in the accuracy and reliability of U.S. corporate financial statements.

In response to this loss of confidence, since 2002, nearly 600 U.S. corporations
have decided voluntarily to begin expensing their stock options, including such American
giants as Coca-Cola, General Motors, General Electric, Dow Chemical, Amazon.com,
Home Depot, and Wal-Mart. Other companies, however, especially in the high
technology sector, have announced that they will not expense stock options until required
to do so, even when pressed by a shareholder majority vote to begin expensing, This
division of approach means that, until FASB acts, there will be a discrepancy between
those companies that are voluntarily expensing options and those that are not, when there
ought to be a level playing field in which everyone operates under the same accounting
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rules. Failure to correct this discrepant accounting would continue to disadvantage
companies that openly report their stock option expenses and continue to hinder investors
attempting to compare corporate performance.

Consensus Position

The position taken in the Exposure Draft in favor of stock option expensing
reflects the consensus position of most accounting experts. The International Accounting
Standards Board, for example, has already issued a standard requiring stock option
expensing beginning in 2005. This standard will apply to companies in over 90 countries
around the world, including in Europe, South America, Africa, and Asia. Canada began
requiring stock option expensing this vear. A 2002 survey of financial experts by the
Association for Investment Management and Research found that more than 80 percent
supported stock option expensing. All four of the major accounting firms in the United
States, Deloitte & Touche USA, Emst & Young, KPMG, and PricewaterhouseCoopers,
also favor expensing.

Other economic, financial, and accounting leaders also support stock option
expensing as good for investors and good for markets. They include Federal Reserve
Chairman Alan Greenspan, Treasury Secretary John Snow, Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) Chairman William Donaldson, Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board Chairman William McDonough, former SEC Chairman Arthur Levitt,
former Comptroller General Charles Bowsher, investors Warren Buffett, John Biggs and
Pete Peterson, Nobel Prize winners Joseph Stiglitz, Robert Merton and Myron Scholes, as
well as respected groups such as the Council of Institutional Investors, the Investment
Company Institute, Financial Services Forum, Consumer Federation of America,
National Association of State Treasurers, Institute of Management Accountants, and The
Conference Board’s Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise.

Opposing Arguments

Some opponents of stock option expensing argue that, due to the difficulty of
precisely estimating stock option values, expensing would confuse rather than educate
analysts and investors about a company’s financial condition. But financial statement
users already rely on many estimated valuations called for by accounting rules, from the
value of goodwill to the reserves required to protect against uncollectible receivables or
loans. As Warren Buffett once said, the only value that everyone agrees is incorrect for a
stock option is zero. The better approach is the one taken in the Exposure Draft, which
requires use of stock option valuation methodologies that produce a reasonable estimate
of stock option compensation expenses.

Some opponents wam that requiring stock option expensing would impose
significant costs on new businesses and deter investment; however, evidence provided at
a Senate Committee on Small Business and Entrepreneurship hearing on April 28, 2004
shows the opposite. One of the hearing witnesses, Mr. Roberto Mendoza, testified that
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his startup company, Integrated Finance Limited, decided from its inception to expense
all stock option compensation, and found that its stance actually attracted investors by
demonstrating the company’s adherence to transparent accounting. Mr. Mendoza also
testified that when he determined that the company’s draft audited financial statement
had failed to include any stock option expense, his accountant agreed to include that
expense at no additional cost and was able to calculate the expense itself in less than 20
minutes. This testimony shows that calculating stock option expenses can be quick and
inexpensive, and need not be burdensome to new or small businesses.

Other opponents claim that, by lowering company earnings, stock option
expensing would cause company stock prices to fall and depress investment prospects.
But the facts, again, show otherwise. In March 2004, a leading compensation firm,
Towers Perrin, issued a study examining 335 companies that switched to stock option
expensing and found that stock performance was the same, on average, as the rest of the
S&P 500 and Mid-Cap 400 indices. Stock option expensing did not affect company
stock prices. The same dire prediction had been made and shown to be unfounded when
FASB first required companies to begin accounting for their obligations to employees
relating to retiree health care benefits.

Other financial analysts have also rejected dire predictions about depressed share
prices and investment. They include Goldman Sachs Global Equity Research (“We do
not expect a material impact on the share prices of most firms.”); UBS Investment
Research (Expensing is “medicine for the long-term health of companies and investors.
It will shed light on the true profitability of many companies, helping to separate those
that deserve investor capital from those that do not.”); Merrill Lynch (The argument that
expensing options will harm U.S. technology leadership and job creation is based on “the
following faulty logic: U.S. technology leadership and job creation depend on the
systemnatic misrepresentation of financial statements. One might as well argue that
money spent on R&D shouldn’t count as an expense because it provides employment and
helps industries advance.”); Credit Suisse First Boston Equity Research (“We expect
companies to pay closer attention to the economic cost of their stock option plans.
Companies don’t focus much on costs that they don’t have to account for.”); and
Congress’ own nonpartisan Congressional Budget Office (“[R]ecognizing the fair value
of employee stock options is unlikely to have a significant effect on the economy . ..
however, it could make fair value information more transparent to less-sophisticated
investors.”).

Still other opponents claim expensing stock options would stifle innovation in
business. But many of the nearly 600 companies currently expensing options are
successful, high technology innovators like Microsoft, Netflix, and Amazon. They also
include such diverse companies as Boeing, General Motors, Dow Chemical, BankOne,
and UPS, each of which relies on technical innovation for business success. The CEO of
Netflix, a high technology company that began expensing stock options last
year, has stated: “[IJnnovation continues unabated. ... We innovate because it thrills us,
not because of some accounting treatment.”
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Another red herring argument is that expensing would eliminate broad-based
stock option plans and hurt average employees. These contentions are also contradicted
by the factual record. Companies that currently offer broad-based plans to their
workforce such as Home Depot, Wal-Mart, and Netflix, have already determined that
they can expense options without having to terminate their stock option plans. Other
companies, such as Microsoft, are replacing stock options with stock grants, thereby
ensuring that their employees actually receive company stock. It is also important to
remember that most U.S. employers, including many private companies, small
businesses, and partnerships, don’t offer stock option compensation to any of their
employees, executive or otherwise. A nationwide survey conducted by the Bureau of
Labor Statistics in 2000, a banner year for stock options, found that only 1.7 percent of
U.S. private industry employees actually received any options during the prior 12-month
period. In short, neither broad-based stock option plans nor average workers would be
hurt by honest accounting.

Additional proof that stock option expensing will not hurt American business is
the track record actually compiled by the nearly 600 companies that have voluntarily
agreed to begin expensing. These companies represent nearly 25% of the number of
companies on the Standard and Poor’s index of companies and over 40% of that index
based on market capitalization. None has experienced the dire consequences predicted
by expensing opponents.

Conclusion

Honest accounting will help, not hurt, American business. Now is the time to end
years of misleading accounting and recognize the expense associated with stock option
compensation. FASB almost took this course of action ten years ago, but retreated due to
political pressure. We urge FASB to stand firm this year and do what you think is the
right thing to do. We commit to do our part by opposing legislative efforts in Congress to
override FASB’s judgment and politicize the accounting standards-setting process.
Reversing FASB’s judgment on this issue would undermine key accounting reforms
strengthening FASB’s independence, open the door to new Enron-style abuses, and
signal that accounting maneuvers to prop up earnings are still acceptable.
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Requiring companies to expense employce stock options will strengthen the
accuracy of corporate financial statements, bring U.S. accounting standards into
alignment with international standards, and help restore public trust in our financial
reporting system, our companies, and our markets. We urge FASB to go forward as it
has proposed and promulgate a final accounting standard to require stock option
expensing beginning in 2005.

Sincerely,
P les -
John McCain arl Levin
AéMVC%“-M
Paul Gillmor Pete Stark

/s /

’ Joseph Biden © Jon Corzi)e\)

D WS R/ §

Richard Durbin Russell Feifdoid
Peter Fitzgerald ’ Herb Kohi
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Bill Nelson Mark Pryor
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Key Points

*** We have identified 576 companies that have volunarily begun cxpensing stock options under the fair value method.
These companies are listed in Appendix A.

*+* One hundred sixteen of these companies are in the S&P 500 and represent 41% of the index based on market
capitalization (see Appendix B). Seven of these companies are in the NASDAQ 100 and represent 12% of the
index based on market capitalization {(see Appendix C).

*** Three hundred thirty of these companies have market capitalizations in excess of $1 billion. One hundred four of
these companies have market capitalizations in excess of $10 billion.

**+ Two hundred forty of these companies are from the financial sector.

On March 31, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) released its Exposure Draft of a proposed revision to SFAS
No. 123, which, if approved, will require public companies following US GAAP to begin expensing employee stock options under the
meodified prospective method for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2004, For December year-end companies, this means the
standard will take effect January 1, 2005, Under the modified prospective method, companies will be required to expense all unvested
share-based compensation awards granted, modified, or settled afier December 15, 1994. However, companies will not restate results
of previous years. To learn more about the proposed changes to SFAS No. 123 in the Exposure Draft, please see our March 30, 2004
First Call, Accounting Issues: Expensing Employee Stock Options in 2005 Would Lower S&P 500 Earnings by Less than 3%.

‘We have identified 576 companies that have voluntarily adopted the fair value method as of April 28, 2004 (see Appendix A for the
list of the companies). One hundred sixteen of these companies are members of the S&P 500 and represent 41% of the index based on
market capitalization. Seven of these companies are members of the NASDAQ 100 and represent 12% of the index based on market
capitalization. In Appendix B, we identify the S&P 500 companies that have adopted the fair value method and provide the 2003 pro
forma stock option expense for all members of the index (based on the index composition as of March 19, 2004). In Appendix C, we
identify the NASDAQ 100 companies that have adopted the fair value method and provide the 2003 pro forma stock option expense
for all members of the index (based on the index composition as of March 19, 2004),

The 576 early adopters listed in Appendix A are a fairly even distribution of large and small companies. Three hundred thirty of the
576 companies identified as voluntary adopters in Appendix A have market capitalizations in excess of 31 billion. One hundred four
of the 576 companies identified in Appendix A have market capitalizations in excess of $10 biltion.

A large concentration of the adopters are in the financial sector. Of the 576 companies, 240 (42%) are companies in the financial
sector.

Bear Stearns does and seeks to do business with companies covered in its research reports. As a result investors should be
aware that the firm may have a conflict of interest that could affect the objectivity of this report. Investors should consider
this report as only a single factor in making their investment decision. Please refer to the last page of this report for
important disclosure and certification information

BEAR, STEARNS & CO. INC. 383 MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 10179 (212) 272-2000 WWW.BEARSTEARNS.COM
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‘The vast majority of early adopters have opted to use the prospective method to expense stock optiens. We have identified the method
adopted by 546 of 576 companies. Of the 546 companies, 454 (83%) are using the prospective method, 54 (16%) are using the
modified prospective method, and 38 (7%) are using the retroactive restatement method. In accordance with the Exposure Draft,
companies that have adopted the prospective method will be required to change to the modified prospective method in the first fiscal
year beginning after December 15, 2004,

Under the prospective method, the fair value method of expensing stock options is applied only to options granted in the year of
adoption and subsequently {under FAS No. 148, this method is no longer ailowed to be adopted for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2003). For definitions of the prospective, modified prospective, or retroactive restatement methods see Exhibit 1. Fora
more detailed explanation of the implications of adopting under the prospective, modified prospective, or iver

methods, see our February 12, 2004 First Call, Accounting Issues: Companies Continue to Voluntarily Adopt Expensing of Stock
Options Using the Fair Value Method.

Exhibit 1. Alternative Transition Methods Permitted Untii 2004

Prospactive method: The fair value method of expensing options is applied only to options granted in the year of adoption
and subsequently. Entities are not permitted to use this method for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2003.

Modified prospective method: The fair value method of expensing options is applied to all unvested options and options granted in the
year of adoption and subsequently.

Retroactive restatement method: The fair value method of expensing options is applied to all years presented as if it had been adopted
for option grants after December 15, 1994,

Source: Statement of Finantial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASR Statement No. 123.

For a detailed explanation of the ing for stock-based p ion under FAS No. 123 and expected emerging changes in
stock-based compensation granting trends, see our July 2003 A ing Issues, A ing for Stock-Based Comp ion:
Restricted Stock and Employee Stock Options Compared.

BEAR, STEARNS & CO. INC, 383 MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 18179 (212) 272.2006 WWW.BEARSTEARNS.COM
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Q2R Bank of the Ozarks e Dec-03 No. a1 2003 12003 Finance Regional Banks. Prospective
ONE Bank One Deel3 Yes. 56,561 2002 672002 mance Major Bariks Prospective
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BED Bediord Property invastors inc Des03 No 459 2003 31472003 Finance Real Estate investmant Trusts. Modihed Prospective
B8 BedSouth Cop. Dec-l3 Yes LA 2003 2282003 3 Major i
BURE Dac-03 Ne 45 2003 DU Finance. Progpecive
BETA ‘Beta O# 8 Gas inc Dec-03 No. 4 2003 W80T Energy Minerats. Of & Gas Production Prospective
AQCB Beusystems Intemational irc. Maré. No NiA 2003 072003 Consmer Non-hurabies. Bevorages: Non-Alcchofic Method Mot Spacified
BBL BHP Biton PLC. Na 52659 2008 1072372003 ‘Non-Energy Minerals. Other BelaisMinerals Modified Prospeciive
BICR Siotoral inc Dec03 No 40051 2003 3132003 Health Techrology Medical Speciaties Praspactive
BK Blackrock fnc. Dec03 Ne, 3897 2003 515/2003 Finance. inyestrent Managess Prospective.
BA Boeing Co Dec- Yes 3785 1898 1958 Electronic Technolagy Aetospaca & Defense Prospective b}
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BSHE Boss Holdivgs inc. Decd3 Ne i 2093 32812003 Consumer Non-Duraties Apparaiff ostwear Prospectve.
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aware that the firm may have a conflict of interest that could affect the objectivity of this report. Investors should consider
this report as only a single factor in making their investment decision. Please refer to the last page of this report for
important disclosure and certification information
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TSR Credit Suisse Grous Decd3 Ko 3874 2003 52008 Finance Major Banks. Prospective
TREO Creo & Sepd3 No 2004 YA rology
CEl Crescent Real Estale Ecuiies Co. Dac£3 No 1574 2003 282003 Finance Real Estate investment Trusts Prospectve
CWN Crown merican Realty Dec0d No. NiA 003 1212003 Financs. Trosts pecti
fee) Cepem Castle Intemationat Inc. Decd3 No. 39 2003 5/$372003 Speciatty fi Prospeciive
L3868 ) Intemationat Dec-03 No 84 2003 1102003 Praspective.
€8x CSX Comp Dec03 Yes 6,731 2003 262003 Transporaton Ralroads Prospeciive
=0 Cummins ne Deot3 Yes 2687 2003 5212003 Producer Manufecturing Trugks/Construction/Farm Machinery Prospeciive
oex DaimlerChrysler AG - ADR Dec03 No. 45857 2003 412003 Consumer Durables ‘Motor Vehicles Prospective.
OTMG DaaMEG Cop Dec03 No 25 2003 811612003 Eiecyonic Techmology Prospactive
DU Dei Monte Foods Company AprD4 No 2421 2003 222003 Congumer Non-Durables. Pt
OFG Delphi Financiat Group, In¢. Decd3 o 1271 2003 32003 France Frospective
o Dehixe Com. Dec 03 Yes 209 2004 031212004 Mudifiet Prospective

Deutsche Bank AG Deo03 No 47968 2003 32772003 Finance Prospedive
DIPY Diamontchuster intemationat Mar-04 o 358 2003 E1372003 Prospective
s Diverstiad Securly Solutions ine. Dec03. Na, 3 2003 SI572003 Commerdia Services Prospeciive
NSKY Document Securtty Sysems inc. Dec03 No. 1018 2003 1311472003 Commercial Services Prospective
00L Dot Foods (h) Dec-03 Ne NA 2003 792002 Consutner Noe-Dirables Prospeciive
16 Dioltar Thrifty Automntive Group e Dec83 No 893 2003 51412003 Finance
ore Darmizr ing Dec:03 No 27457 2002 4KN72004 Process industries. Pr
DRU Dec3 No. 3807 2003 2472003 Finance Mociied Prospective
0OW ‘Oow Chemical Company Dectd Yes 3741 2893 262002 Process industies Prospective
£33 OFL Ine Dec03 No 2328 2003 220/2003 Liiies. Prospedive
ow Drew ingusties inc Decd3 No. k) 2002 32812003 ‘Producer Manutscturing Products. Prospective
DRE Duie Realty Dec03 Ne 4,064 2008 2002 Finance Real Estate lnvestment Trusts Frospective.
o0 Dot Dec03 Yes 46423 2000 452002 i Chesmicats: s Prospecive
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APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense or Intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method {Continued)

BEAR
STEARNS

Accounting and Taxatlon Research
Pat McConnell, CPA (212) 2724183

Janet Pegg, CPA (212) 2724191

Chris Senyek, CPA (212) 272-2509

Dane Mott (212) 2724080

April 28, 2004
(8§ tn miitons}
Maket  Adoption  Announcement
Tigkar Company YewrEod S8PS0  Caphatmation  Yesr stefs} Sector Ind
ToN Tynamex i WG Mo 6 2008 6003 Trmspoation i FreghhiCouners
DN Dynegy hnc Decl3  Yes AN 20 AHIZ03  Ubles Gas Distibuors.
EACE eAcceeration Corp Dect3 Mo s 200 11202003
ERMC Eage River Miting Corp. Decd3 Mo S ONA 4002004 NonEnergy Minerals Presious Metals
EcP Easigroup Propaties I Dec0d Mo &3 a0 QS04 Finance Reat Estate Invesirent Trusts
LS Foalege.cam nc Decl3 ™ Na [T TIIZ000 | Technoiogy Senies tertiel Sofware/Services
EGAM EGames nc ant4 o 7 2m $142002  Consumer Durables Recationa Prodkats
€60 Eidorado Gokd Corp. Decdd Mo 5 2000 QDR NonEnergy Moty Precious Melas
£ Ete Phamaceutical fnc Madd Mo 4 200 162003 Mealth Techedogy Phammaceuscals: Generic
KSEE Emerging Visin inc Cecd) Mo s oom 4052004 Relah Trade Specialy Sores
EaR Emerson Blectronics Sepd T Yes &G 20 52002 Wanidachiing Bloctial Prodicts
NYNY Empire Resorts Inc Decd3 Mo a3 200 5152003 Consumer Senvioss CasnosiGaming
ENH Enduance Specialy Holdings Limited Decdl Mo 2184 200 82003 Finance FropertyCasualy losurarce
£oN Energen Devtd Mo w20 SHIZI4  Uthes Gas Dishibutors
EBF £nés Business Foms g Febdd Mo 21700 S2IRNY o ‘Comercial Printng/Forms
ETR Entergy Cop Teol3  Ves I TEI6:  Uthles Elocwc Utiies
ETOP Entopn e Dectd Mo 7 s =) Fiealh Tachrology Phamaseutials: Otbet
T Equant NV {1} D3 Mo 2595 200 172001 Tochnology Servioss informzdon T iy Sevices
EOP Equity Offce Properties Decl?  Yes 06 200 03 Fiance Real Estate lnvestment Trusts
£OR Equity Residental o3 Yes 7853 03 SH32603  Finance Rea! Esils Investrent Trusts
S Essex Fropeny Trust inc [ 1,308 200 0315068 Finance Roal Estate Investmen! Trusts
RE Everest Re Group, L1 Dec0d Mo a2 W02 Fhuance PropertyiCasuaty surance
EXFO Exfo Electo ptcal Engineering o Al N M6 2004 0I2004  Electroni Tectmokgy Eectronic Equigmentnstruments
Expeda, inc ) Decl3 Mo NA 2008 252003 Consumer Senvices Other Consumes Servicas
xoM Exon Mol G Do) Yes AT 2008 262003 Energy Mineras Irtagated OF
AW Fapnio blae Tecdd  Yes 6783 2008 TONI0E Finance FinanceiRenliasng
FFG FBL Flnancial Group, nc Decdd Mo 2003 w02 Francs UieiHealh Insurance
il Federated lnvestors inc Decld  Yes Iz 2003 Q1204 Finance Invesent Maragers
o1 FelCor Loding Trust o Decdd Mo st 200 W02 Eiance Real Estate investment Trusts
o ians D3 Mo 5153 2000 IZY2009  Finance Specialy Insurance Prospectve
] iR Tird Bancorp Bechy " Ves LT Gz Fhance Reglonal Bats Retroactive Restaternent
FCBR Firt Camwmany Bancorp Oecdd Mo 5 200 1ARN3  Fiancy Regional Basks Prospectve
Fuc Fist Financia Bareorp Cafomia Dectd  No 3 2000 162000 Finance Mafor Banks Praspective
R First indusiral Realy Trust, oo Decod Mo 48 200 12208 Fioanos Read Estale Investmant Trusts Prospsctive
FKYS First Keystons C Decdd Mo 12 20 S0 Finange for Qanks Prospeciive
FNSC First National Bancsaes 17 Gectd Mo B WA Fivancar Regional Barks Prospecive
FNCB First ool Comemaity Bancexp, toc Oectl N st 20 5901 Finance Major Banks Erospective
FNRN First Northem Community Bancor Dec0) %o %200 U0 France Regiona Barks Prospective
FRC Pt Regublic Baok Dectd Mo 55 2003 S20008  Finance Regional Barks Prospective
FBF FlgelBoston Firanct Corp Decdd Ve A 200 BP0 Fance Nior Banks
e Flating Comparies o Dect3 Mo 0 200 002 Disubulon Services Food Distibxors ‘Wethoa Not Speced
FMC Technologies Inc Decdd Mo 1867 204 Q3262004 e . i
£N8G. FNB Bancor Deold Mo 7% 200 ABURO Fance Regiona! Banks Prospeciiva
1 FNK Miing Company fnc Decdd Mo 26 20M 1NEA03 Non-Energy oer
4 Ford Motor Company Q) Dec0)  Yes 8745 7003 U002 Consumes Duradles Motor Vehides Moded Prospective
¥o6 Fording Canadian Coal Trust Dol Mo %0 2om TAROOA  Energy Minerals Coel Prospective
) Four Sessons Hatels Dectd Mo 195 2008 QT4 Consumes Services HotelsResonyCriseines Praspective
WA France Telecommurications (v) Dec0d Mo st 2002 NG Major Modfed Pospective
FRE Fradle Mac Deco3  Yes nen we TRYN2 Finance i ¥ '
8Bl Decd3 Mo 1380 2003 2 Finance nvesiment Managers Frospocive
GBP Gables Reskieotal Dects Mo 200 007 Frarce Real Estte irvesirert T3k Praspacka
XY Galaxy Nutrtionat Foos Mot No u o am H10003  GonsumerNonDwabes  Food: MeatFisiiDairy Prospective
Al Galagher (A ) Decld Mo 9 200 2008 Finarce insurance joes Praspective
GRCB GBC Bancorp ) Okl Mo NA 2003 WIE003  Fnance Reglonat Banks Method Not Speciied
S Generg} Bacric Decdd  Yes w8314 __ 2002 12002 Producer Menulagluing i
o8 Generat Employmen Emlerpises. e Sep03 Mo 5 WE002 Commerdal Services Persannel Services Fleihod Not 5pAcios
oM General Molors Cecd3  Yes 72 2008 962002 Consumer Durables Slotoe Vehicks Prospecie
[ Gentine Pons Oectd  Yes 839 2000 Y2003 isvibuton Seices Whclesale Distitutors Prospecive
3 Gecegia Pacifc Comp Deol3  Yes 9655 2008 100003 Process Inusres Pulp & Paper Prospective
S Gilan & Ciocia dngd  No 5 20 V210004 Consumes Services Other Consuymes Servioes Prospeciive
[ Gokiman Sachs Group e Now0d  Yes CE ) BIG0E  Finance Tnvestment Bark/xokers Frospective
VA Granite Constuction inc Decd3 Mo 0 200 3282003 Engineeri Prospective
oxp Great Phains Energy D0l Mo 2243 2003 NN Ueites Electic Uies Modifed Prospecive
GREY Grey Global Group Ine Dec03 Mo w200 w202 C 2 Prospectve
oNTY Sancshares, nc Decdd R 552000 9002 Fivancs jonal 830 Hodifed
GTRC Gufter Center Decld Mo W2 208 WIZOR ek Trade Spedaly Stoves Prospectia
HRB HeR Block fot f} Mg Yes 6245 2004 W2 Consues Senvices Oher Congirner Serdces. Praspecive
Haights Cross Comraupicatons, nc, Decdd  No NA 2002 1022003 Consumet Servioes Publshing: Educationat and Professional  Prospective
HAF ‘Halimark Financial Services ine: Decd Mo 2 2008 552003 Finance ProportyfCasuatty lnsurance
HANA Haparo Teleaom o Deotd Mo T4 2003 62003 i Mafor Telocommunications Modified Prospecive
W Hancock John Financi Serves Dectd  Yes E ) §1A2063 " Finance Financia Conglomerates dive
R Handieman Campany At Mo S84 200 02002 Diswhution Services Whotesale Distbutors Praspectve
X Hatio James Industries NV Mrod o 28 200 282003 gy i
R Hapsen internatonst dustres Jn%k No 5645 2003 BIG20R  Consumer Durables EncyonicsiApglances Praspectve
e Hatord Fingndal Services Greup, Ing Decl3 _ Yes 9 2008 9242002 Floance Bhli-Ling Insurance Prospucive
Faruman Commercial Properies REFT WA Mo NA 2003 W03 Finance Real Esiale wvestmert T1usts Frospecive
HR Harvest Natural Rosources Dect3 Mo 560 2003 03 Energy Mnesals O & Gas Production Prospectve
HE Hawaiian Elegts ickustries e Dectd o 1918 2002 102112003 Eectic Uiktdes Moditied Prospacive
HCP Health Care Property Invesiors nc Decod Mo 6289 2002 w003 France Reat Estale Invastmer Trusts
HeN Heabh Gare REIT ing Deeld Mo 191 2m SR003  Finance Trusts Prospectve
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APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense o Intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method (Continued)

Accounting and Taxation Research

BEAR
STEARNS

PatMcConnel, CPA (212) 2724193
Janet Pegg, CPA (212} 2724191
Chrs Senyok, CPA (212) 272-2508

Dane Mott (212) 272-2080

Apri} 28, 2004
(§ In mitlions}

ket Adopion  Aanouncement
Ticker Company YoarEnd SEPSN  Cophsbzabon  Your Dae(a)  Sactor Industry Hethod Adopto
FETC Viaihech o Dool3 Mo W am Y2204 Heaflh Tecbrology “Medeal Spocatas Prospectve
ML Homosol inc Decd3 Mo 2 1 QY204 Heatth Technoogy Sictechnology Prospectye.
HeC Heroules e Decdd Ve 13 00 YIA03  Process industles ‘Cherical: Majo Diversfied Prospactve
HPG Heritage Propane Parters Aug-03 No NA 2003 111262003 Utfites Gas Distrbutors. Modified
AW hwonds Properties ng Qecd Mo 12 200 03 Fiams Real Estte investrent Trusts Prospectve
SLMM ‘Hockey Company Dec 03 No NA 2003 DU262004 Consumer Durables Rewreational Products Prospective
He Horms Depoline S0t Yes B8 20 B0e  Rewd Trage Mo mgrovemen Chains
HHE Horme: Propecties of New York nc Decld Mo 1231 2008 8772002 Finance Trusis oy
L Homnil Foods Corp 03 Mo s 2008 7203 ConsumerNonDurabies  Food: MeauFishiDaly Prospectve
T Deot3 Mo 3960 2007 62002 Foance Roat Esaie investmen Trugts Prospoctve
H Fousehold intemationdl inG {m) Dec-03 Ho NIA 2602 122002 Finance FinanceRentalLeasing Prospective
THX Houston Exploration Compacy Decdd Mo 1437 2008 U3 Energy Minecals 0¥ & Gas Production Erospecive
HEC HSBC Haklings PLG {m) Pecd3  Ne 62445 2002 220003 Finance Major Banks. Prospective
HY Hedson United Bancon Dec-03 No 1636 2003 42003 Flnance Regionai Banks th
HM Hudsan Valley Hoging Duco3 Mo NA__ 2002 WA __ France Regnai Sarks Prospectve
HS Hughes Eecironics Corp DecD3 No. 24,960 2003 SB/2003 Consumer Servives Cable/Satalkle TV Prospsctive
HBEX Hombokit Bangorp Decf3 No 54 2003 YZ82003 Firence Major Banks. Ispective
Hees Hyperdymamios g No 5 2004 0U232004  Techookogy Servoes ieformason Technalogy Services Retoaciee Resttement
W BT Bancop inc Dectl Mo o 0 Y1500 Finance Regional Banks Prospect
0 ve Sopo3 Mo 48 200 U005 jrdusyiel Services Offeld Services Fy Prospechve
v T Limfed Deol3 Mo T2 20 T3 NomEnargy Meras “Cifer Metalsi Frospect
MKTA nglos Markors e Sep03 Mo w200 20T Retad Trade Food Retat Prospectve
5 nsignia Financia Group, ¢ {g) 0ol Mo N a2 TR Feanon Real Estate Development Praspectie
D Wnegramed Aerica inc [ » 0 W Healtn MedieaiNursing Services Prospective
sy intaracive Com () Decgd Mo 538 2003 142001 Retai Trae Prospective
TGE ematona) Thoroughbreds Breeders T Mo ) 42005 Consumer Servicas CasinowSaming Prospacive
ICCSA intzmet Commerce W Mo 53 200 OG0 Technology Services tame? SoftuarefServices Prospecte
Nt interstale Holels & Resorts, Ine Decdd Mo we 20 SH22008  Consumer Servkes HotelsResortsCriseines Prospectie
WA s Astomotve i Decld Mo B0 2000 QR ProducerManfoctuing  Aulo Parts: OEM. Prospective
i) nuestmens Technoiogy Group New Deco3 Mo LI Q1208 Feance Prospective
WS RWESTooks ks BecG3 No ] WIS Frvncs Savogs Hanks Prospecive
oM fomega Decdd Mo 28 200 TARD0?  Blectronc Technsiogy Computer Perpherals
PR PC okdings, Ltg Decd Mo 189 2000 G0 Fnance PropertyiCasualy insurance Prospeciive
s 300 el Mo 2w AN NonEnergy Minerals Steal Prospectie
I iron Mounta e Degd3 Mo 37812003 STR00 34 Sarvk Miscudaneons Commercial Senioss __Prospective
5 opat blemasonal NV [ 15420 CYTQZ008  NonEnergy Miveras Steel Frospecive
8F1 Star Financiat D3 No 4183 2008 772412002 Fi Reat Estats Investment Trusts Prospective
HUGO ivanhoe Mines Limited Dec03 No 1800 2002 1003 i 15K
o4 3P organ Chase & Co. Decdd  Yes w2000 R0R  Finance Financial Conglomerates Prospectve
JEF e Do) Mo 2061 2009 250003 Fiance Srospectve
WASK o-ham Stores ng s Mo 538 203 TOR0I | Retal Trade Specialty Siores Wodfed Prospacive
el Johnson Contols e Sep03 Ve B8 M3 W0 Producer Mandacng  Au Parts OFM Frospectve
e Jories Apparel Giop inc Decdd s om0 THR02  ConsumerNonDurables  AppareUFootwear Prospactive
oD Kebworst Co. ) Jnd Mo e 28 4OB2002  CansumerNonDursdies  Appars¥Footwear o Adopied
XEY KeyCorp Dec03 _ Yes 12422 2003 07008 Finarce Major Barks Prospective
€ Keyspan Corp Becd3 Yes 5808 2003 SENL Ui Gos Distbulirs Frospectve
KIR Keystons Property Trust Dacd3 Ho 638 2008 414/2003 Finance Real Estale fnvestment Trusts Prospeciive
KRG Kiroy Really Corp Cecdd Mo gz 2002 §IY0L Fnance Real Estale nvestment Trusts Sraspective
M Kirco Reaky Com fectd Mo 48 200 W00} Finance Real Estele Investmant Touss Prospectve
KFS fr Dee03 Ne, 841 2003 021572004 Finance
KR Kinaet Hokling Comp Tole Mo THE I W01 Retad Trade "iscou Stoies Prospecive
KNOL Decd Mo w200 304200 Blecrani Tectnology Communicatons Equipment Praspectve
KPN Koaikigke PTT Nedeertands Dec-03 No 18382 2003 DW1272004 dcatc Maijor
A8 \abranche & Co, oo eod3 Mo o1 2003 SAS003 Finanos invesimert Banku/Brokers
LHO Lasalle Howl Froperies Deol3  No 53 200 QU0 Fioance Feal Exiato nvestment Trusts Prospecie.
A Tear Com Dec03 Mo Tags 200 TOIB002 Produces Mandadiurig  Aulo Parts: OEM Prospecive
AEE Los Enteprises Sepl Mo 213 200 TINZ Consumer Services iog; Newspaper;
w Masoning Serdi  No 5215 2003 117142003 ce invesiment Banks/Broters Prospective
LE6 Leggen & Plan Dectd  Yes 4603 2003 N2 Consomer Durables Homme Furishiogs Prospectve
LeH e Srothers Hoklings o Nowg3 _ Yes 247 2004 44004 ivasnent Progpective
wmr ‘Levet § Communications. e Dec 3 No 2%8 1998 * Technology Sesvices Information Technology Services. Prospective ()
LBi Libetts investments Del Jurdd HNo 147 2003 TR0 Finance Real Estale Investment Trusts. Prospactive
LRY Liberty Property Trust Dae-03 Ne 3,487 2003 412272003 Fivar Real Esfate Invastmant Trusts Prospective
LECO Lincoln Elecric Hokdings. e sl No 124 203 SWI6R02  Prodscer Manuiacnrng  incustial Machinery Prospectvn
ING onal Cop Qecd3 _Yes 830 200 8007 Fiace UieHeat: insuance Revoactve Restatoment
T o e [T T 00 HiS00)  Commeroal Semees FinanCol PUDSHIGISeVEs Prospecve
Y6 Lioyds T98 Group PLC Decdd Mo Qa1 23 SIS Fnarce Finacial Conglomerates Prospective
STAR Lone Slar Mteakhouse & Saloon inc Dec-03 N 2002 41472003 Services Restautants Retroactve Restatement
oW Longbow Miring Corp. Decdd Mo 2003 QL0 NorEnorgy Minarels Erecious Melals Retroacive Resiatarent
LOW Lowe's Congaries, e Jange  Yes e 2009 197000 Retal Trade siome Improvemant Chains Prospectve
& L7 Propeties e Deod3 ™ Mo W 20 0 Real Estale Invesinent Trusts Bospecive
ke Lumeris LTD Decdd Mo 7 20 42003 Health Technokogy Modhcat Speciat Prospactve
o Lyonoel Cherical Go Decgd Mo sz 2003 13002 Process induskies Chemicals: Specialty Prospectve
M8 MET Bank Cop Dec03 No 10,076 2003 81912002 Finance Regianal Banis. Retmiactive Restatement
MRD MacDarmid it Decgi3 No. 1031 2001, A12001 industrial ties Prospecive
WAC Wacerch Corgany Deegs  No PL) T France el Eviale nvesiroert TS Frospectve
o Mook Cab Realy Cop o0l Mo 2218 2002 26003 Finanoe Real Exuate investment Tusss Prospectve
MGEN Magic Media Networks inc 03 No ¢« 2172008 Con MovesiEnterizioment Prospectie
14GA Magna intesational i Deck3 Mo s 2003 02004 Produoes Manutacturog  Auta Parts; OEM Prospectie.
MR Magrom Huree Resouwoss, Decd3 Mo 7592003 62003 Energy Minerals 0¥ 8 Gas Prodecion Prospective

BEAR, STEARNS & CO. INC. 383 MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 10179 (212) 272-2006 WWW BEARSTEARNS.COM



80

APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense or Intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method (Continued)
B E AR Accounting and Taxation Research
PatMcConnel, GPA (212} 272-4193

Janet Pegy. CPA (212) 2724191
STEARNS cn:: esenyEk. CPA (212) 272-2509

Dana Mol (212} 272-4080

April 28, 2004
{8 tn mititons}
Satat  Adopon  Announcement
Ticker Company YowEnd SAPSGD_ Captaliation  Your Daefa) _Sectar inguaty Method Adostad
WE Manufaciirod Viome Commonites Inc. Decdd Mo 3 200 STHI0S  Finance "Renl Estato Invesument Trusts oddied Frospective
MEC Manwldo Financial Corp. Dect3  Na 1 200 012004 Flaaxe UtiHeahh Insuratoe Prospectve
RO Savathen O Deod3  Yos 039200 G602 Energy Minerals i Refiing/Markeling Prospective
e Masitans inc Deold Mo ] 003 Transponiaton Marpe Shipping Prospectve
MAS Masco Cop Dopd3  Yes 12877 2008 42003 Produser Manufacuting Bulkding Products Prospective
WXRE ‘Max R Coptal Lid Decdd o O 200 TR0 Fnance U Ling insurance rospeciive
MRY Moy Dopt. Stores B Yes s34 20 YINI02  Retal Tade Depastment Stoves Prospecive
wia MBIA o Decld  Yes ams 2 TR0 Specaty insurance Hodlng Prospective
woz DS fne gl No 2307 2004 030472004 ndusty Prospectve
8 Meadowbrook Insurance Group, ng Deod3  We i64 2003 SE2003  Fance PropectyCasuaty insursnce Prospuglive
WEL Meston Fisancal Corp Decd3  Yes B2% 2003 WNIOZ | Fnnce vestmenl Managecs Praspectve
MREK Mercantle Sankshares Dac03  No 3421 1085 1995 Finance Reglonal Banks Prospecive )
X Meristar Hosphalty o Qoc0l Mo “200 U0 Finamce Real Estate lovestmen! Trusis Prospeciive
MER HepiLynch & Company 1nG Dectd Yoy 6090 2004 3052006 Finance s i
i) Mesish i Dec0d  Ho 59 2008 SN0 Proucer Manufaotuing Bukling Products Prospecive
MET Netle fic Dec03  Yes ®3 200 Wiz Feance Cledbieaith insuance Frospecine
MIG MGIC tnvestment Corp Decld  Yes T 200 YA Foance PropertylCasuaRy Insorance Prospective
MSCC Mirosem Corp Sepdd Mo w5 A0 U003 Elecronk Technokogy Semiondueiars Modfied Prospecive
MEFT Micrasoft Corp s Yes Wzl 2004 Tia200
MRR B A Realty Trost Deol  No NA__ 2003 303 Flnanee Real Extate bvesimen! Trusts Prospective
MWFS B Wisconsin Financial Serices e Becdd No L] TH2A2000  Fance ‘Mo Ba Prospectve.
MS Mlis Corp Oecl3 Mo 2w a0 W3NG Finance Real Estale fnvestment Trusts Praspacte
HRAE Mize Corp, Ol No W NA 08302003 Electonks Technology ' i«
Masissippt Chemicat Corp Jn0t Mo 2 20 41192000 Procass industies Cherticals: Agficutyral Prospective.
HOLA Malson e Mads Mo 296 2008 102 ConsumerNonDuables _everages Akohok Mo Hot Specied
MONM Momaadh G Dol Mo 20 a0 Fia2008  Fioance Raal Esoie veaimant 11uS6 Brospecive
MNRTA  Monmouth Redt Estate investnent Com Sepdd Mo 182200 W03 Feence Real Estate ivastment Trusts Prospective
MRH Monpeer Ro Hoidings Lid [ 210 200 W02 Fhance PropedyiCasuoty losurance Blethod Not Specifed
M0 Moody's Corp Decd3  Yes 9571 2003 2102 G i Prospectivy
4D Morgen Stapiey Novdd _ Yes 8281 2003 H132002___Fiance Prospeae
NeC Natonaf Cty Corp Decd3 Yes 5 200 07273002 Finance ko Barks Prospective
NADS ational iversiiod Senvicos Inc. D3 No 2003 VA0S Foeno Real Estats Investment Trusts Prosache
NP Nationaf Financil Pariners Cop Decdd Mo 1052 20 832003 i ol Publishing/Ser Prospeciive
OO Natonal G Transco PLC Mardd o 255 200 SRNG  Udies Flectic Uikdes Reyoactve Resiatement
NP Nationat Processing Inc Decl3 Mo 187 2003 2152003 i 5
N Hatonar Western Lfe nsurance Co Dect3 ™ Ho 556 552005 France ‘UfaiHoath Insurance Maodifed Prospecive
NG Navigators Group g Decl3 Mo 35 2008 302004
NFLX Notfix Inc Decl3 o 156 200 S203 RetahTrade el Retail Reiroactve Rostalement
L Newbergar Berman (o) Desd3 Ko NA 2008 A0 Fipawos vestmen: Managers Prospecive
Naw Jersay Sepl3 __ No 1048 2003 10302002 Uitikes. Gas Dstrbutors Prospective.
HEN Rew Mediam Enterprises . s No WA 2003 QUZVE0S | Blectrori Tedinatogy %
iy New Plan Excel Reaty Taust e Decdd Mo 229 2003 Y6ow3  Finance Rel Esate invesment Trusts. Prospectve
NSK Now Skies Satefites KV Dt Mo s 2008 512000 i Speciahy ik Prospectva
Ny Rexsnloc Den0d  No 490 2003 703 Epergy Minerals G & Gas Producton Prospectvs
NMR Noirura Holdings tnc Mar0d Mo P24 2000 12880002 Financa Modifed Prospoctve
§RO Rotanda o [ 00 11972002 Non-Energy Minoras "Other Matsls/Mierals Prospecive
TR Nostek Hoklings Inc Dedd Mo NA 2008 W04 Produces Manutacting Slking Produsts Prospectve
NT Horlet Networks Decl3 N M 0B 42008 Slechonc Techrokgy Telecommurications Equipment Prospeciive
oA North Amatican Paladiun Decll  No 2 o0 JU2R4 NonEncigy Miversls Precious Vells Prospecive
NOMLE Norther Dynagty Minecals Lig. Dec0d N A 2000 O7QUE03 __ NonEnery Minerals Ot Retroadive Restatement
THAC Nortiwest Axines Tecdd ™ Ro %06 2008 Q02005 Transporiason Holies Prospecive
HE NovaStar Fitanciatinc Decl? Mo & 2008 RN Financs Trusts
I Nymagic nc Dec03 Mo % 2008 WENOE Finance Specialy insurance Prospeciive
oRH Odyssay Re Holdngs Cop Decdl  No s 20 U0 Finance PropenyiCasiaty insurarce Prospective
o] OidRy Dectd  No 45 200 882003 Fingnca Insumarce Praspech
G i ioup Bec i3 No SR TR0 Procass Tndusties ‘Chemcals: Speciay Prospertve
oMM oM Decdd  No 2003 12000 Ol Prospective
oMC Ompicom Group o Decdd  Yes 83 2006 03162004 i 2
oNeY Oncolyics Bolech e Dach? Mo w7 HIGRO03  Heath Technokgy Biotechnology Prospecive
OKE Qneak g Dol Mo 247 2008 2202003 Uiifies Gas Dighoutors Prospecive
MR Ot Growp o Decls o w0 312063 Electronks 1 echrokogy ociroric EqupmenvSIIments ‘Prospectve
ORNGFPK  Orange PLC [y} Dec0d Mo we w0 62412003 i Wireless spect
Oresns Homebuikirs Com v No w2 2 923203 Consumer Durzbles Homebuiding Prospective
PCAR PACCAR ine: Doc03  Yes 0419 2008 92412002 Produces Manufactuing Tnks/Constructon/Farm Machinery  Prospective
o5 PagiiCars Healh Systers Dec03 Mo 3516 2008 402008 __ Health Sorvions Managed Heallh Care Prospective
SPOT ‘Fanamsat Cop Dacld Mo 345020 2005 Conmunicatons. Specialy Telecommurications Prospecihve
PZZA Papa Jobeis intemational inc Decl3 Mo w0 02 TH202  Consames Senvices Restaueants Prospectie
UL Parafet Pevoiesn Corp Decl3 Mo s 20 SUHRD0S  Energy Minesals 04 & Gas Prodiuction Prospective
PRE Partnerte Limied Destd Mo 0w 200 132003 Finance Huti-Une insutance Prospedt
PMRT Pawniat lng Jandt  No 9...2008 152003 Finance FinanosRenabieasing
P50 Pearson PLG BecGd Mo TATNA HIRG Consumer SeGEs Publshing: BosksiMagazines Prospectve
PNG PenteAmeka Growp, Inc Decdd Mo 09 2008 B0 Fnance i pect
Ll Pernsyivasia REIT Dectd  No 1168 2003 W2 Fioance Reat Estate Investment Trusis Hodifed Prospective
Pepskn inc Decdd Vs 0% 200 w2003 Consumes Non-Curables  Food: M i
PRGD Perigo Co. Jngd  No 15% 200 400 Heaith Technoiogy Phamaceuiaky Other Roloss
FoH Personal Group Foidings FLC Teols Mo W0 20w TAHNA Fevarce Wscetaneous Frospecive
Pez Pevo-Canada D3 N w00 2003 QUZHA04  Erergy Minerals iegrates OF Praspective
sy Persec Eneigy LG, [ 538 NA 0672712003 r '
PHG Priips Electonics KON Docd3 e T B0 QU004 Producer Mandactsing ndusiial Conglomerales Prospectve
i3 Ceod3 Mo 1202003 Susi003_ Finance Progpucive

BEAR, STEARNS & CO. INC. 383 MADISON AVENUE NEW YORK, NY 10179 (212) 272-2000 WWW BEARSTEARNS.COM



81

APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense or intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method (Continued)

Accounting and Taxatlon Research

BEAR
STEARNS

April 28, 2004

Pat MeConnell, CPA (212) 2724183
Janet Pegg. CPA (212) 2724191
Chiis Senyek, CPA (212) 272.2609
Dana Mott (212) 272-4080

($ i roifions)
arket Adoption  Anyiouncemant

Ihcker Com YostEnd S4P500 _Capitamtion  Yeur atefa)  Sactor Industyy Nathod Adopted
PRW Pinmacia West Capital Cop Tec0s Vs 364 00 TARNE . UBes Elockic Uiiizs Prospecive
U6 Figer fatbay Comparies Des03 Mo 108 2003 22003 Face nvestmont BankaBrokers Frospectie
06 Hacer Dome ing Decd3 Mo QYOS Non-Energy Minerals Pracious Metals Prospecie
PLL Plum Creek Tavber Co. Dects  Yes w0 Frace Rea Estate invastrent Trusts Prospectie
£HE PMC Captat e Dec3 Mo 3012003 Miscellaneous Investment TrustsMyal Furds Praspocive
pec TRIC Commercal st Decds Mo WSARS  Fiance Re Esiate investent TRsts Frospectve
PNC PNC Financial Servces Group, Decd3  Yes 902 Finance Major Batks Prospective
pre Pago Producing Company Decdd o GO0 Energy Mnerals Gt & Gas Procuction Prospactve
8POR Papuia, e Cecd) Mo OOAZ Fin Mo Sanks Method ol Spacifed
PRAA B Deel3 Mo TR0 i A 5 Commercial Sevkes _ Praspecive
w5 Fost Properies nc [ 03 Fance RealEsiate ivesimant Tovss Prospectve
ot Polsh Corp of Saskatchewan fnc. 0ecl3 Mo 50%  Brocass industies Chemials: Agriouiural Prospectve
PRG PRG industies inc Dot Yes 2202004 2
PPL PP Corp Decdd Yes. 100472002 Utities. Electric Utites. Prospertive
PRDS. Deed  Ho NA 182002 Technolegy Services information Yechnotogy Servioes. Prospucive.
5] Premonr Decd3 Ho : BE002  Energy Mineeals Ol Pef Eling Frospecive
PP Prentis Properdes Trust Decd Mo 003 France Reat Estate Investment Trusts Prospectie
psur PriceSman Mgl Mo w5200 RewiTrade isoount Stores Prospactie
PR Primedia Comgany Ine: Oec0l Mo 25004 i
2 Principat Fnancial Gty Dect3 __ Yes 872002 Finance Fiogndial Congomerates Prospoctive
) Procler & Gambe {q] Jongs Ves BE000 Consumer NonDurabies . HousehoiPersonal Care Hot Adopied
#GR Pragressive Corp Ohlo et Yes 1203 Finance PropertylCasualy inswanos Prospective
AL Prolectva Lite fec3 Mo 1985 Fance UfefHeath insurance Prospective {b)
PRYD Provide Commercs nc. 4 No 9222003 Relal Trate Catidog & o Order Prospectve
PuX dic Trust Dec03 No U204 Finance Miscelianeous Prospective.
FrG Provdan Fnancel Group, e [ 0 France Rogior Banks Pospetive
PRY Prodonial Financial inc Dol Ves Y12 Finance Finsndil Congomerstes Prospacive
PS8 5 Business Patks, e Decdd Mo SO2002  Finance Real Estale lovestment Trsts Frospective
PSA fublic Siorage inc Docd3 Mo N2 Fanca Real Estale Investmen! Trusts Prospectve
] Puta Homes. o De®®  Yes 312003 Gonsumer Durbies Prospective
QIMRE vtz Mewsnian Resoorces 110, E ) Non Energy Mierals Predous et Prospactve
oW Quebecor Wartd o [ 262004 i Frospecive
Qe Qupplnc Dect Mo U003 Procioer Manutscieg Incustat Machinery Prospecive

Rae Systems Inc Dectd No 582003 o rospects
asw sng__ Ho 02002 Producer Manutactwiy Siscollancous Marwfacuring Modifed Prospective
R Raymong James Frncal N 03 Fnace vesiment Barks/Brakers Hoded Pospecive
RONG RCN Corp Dec03  No 2000 Major ospective (b}
o Reaty fnoome Decod Mo 6007 Finarce Real Esute Investoen Trusss Prospectve
RA Reckson Assodated Reaty Corp Dol Mo N2 Frence Real Estate nvestment Trusts Praspective
RFCG Refocus Goup Inc Decd No 3192003 ‘Health Technology ospect
RGA Group of America, e Deods Mo 020 Floance eiFealts Insurance
R Renaissancefte Haldings Lid Dects  No 42002 Firazoe Property/Casualy insurance Prospectve
RENG Republc Bancorp Desdd Mo 303 Firance Regional Banks Prospecive.
REFB Bancsbares inc ec03 Mo THAS  Finaoce Regional Banss Prospectve
RV Revactable Techologls nc Oect3 Mo 142007 Weslth Technology i e Praspaciie
REY Reynoids & Reynokis Company Sepd3 Mo RO Techvciogy Services Informaton Techooiogy Services ‘Relroocive Reslarmen
RES RES Hote lavestors, I 1} Dect3 Mo B0 France Real Estoe lavestinent Trusts o
Aoa Ritchie Broters Auctonsers Dectd Mo 2 : Frospactve
D Rite Ad Corp fobo Mo 7 Retail Trade Drugsiore Chains Modfios Prospective
RE B4R Decgy  Yes SHSE03  Consumer NonDurablgs ___ Tobaccn Prospecive
ROW Robm & Hazs Co. Becl3 Vs JR00T Process iusties “Chemicals: Major Drvarsied Prospettie
RONG. Ronson Corp Decdl o 4003 Erectronk: Technology Actospace & Defense Prspactive
RSA Royal & Sun Allance nsurance Groug PLC Decdd Mo G203 France HutiLine bsurance Hodiied Prospecive
RY Royst Bank Of Canada Octdd No. 12042003 Flnance Malor Bar Prospective
RYS Royal Group Tachnotogies Sepls Mo 2 Buiding Prosucts Prospective
RUSH Russel Metals nc [ ZE0F Distiulion Services Wholesele Disvbxtors Brospecive
RML Russeh Cop [ 529003 ComsumerNonDuebles  AppateiFootwear Prospecive
SKFg 8 And ¢ Famous Brands sandé Mo QI Retal Trage ApparalFostwear Relai Prospectve
SAFC Saleco Com Decdd Vs W2 Finarce Muti-ine surarcs Prospective
s Saksinc Jngs  No BI2002___ Retad Trade nt Stores Prospectve
S Saver-Darfoss W Decds Mo BARI08 Prouces Manueciung Auto Parts OEM Praspectia
85 Saul Centes tnc Decls Mo G1A2003  Financn Real Estae investoon Tusis Prospective
8 SBC Compuricaion Decd3  Yes 1282003
SUNE Schlotzshys I D0l Mo 13000 Consumer Services Restaurarts Prospacive
si8 Scrlumberger U Oec0d  Yes T23R003___ ndusuial Servioes Oiftels ServicesEuipment Prospactive
T Sentish Annuly & e Fodngs L el Mo U0 France Tieifieafh isurancs ‘Hodiied Prospective
SHG Satts €. Spad Mo TS Process hdusties Chemicals: Agicunurd
SCST SC3 Transponaton ino Desls Mo 4GTNT Transportaton Treking Prospectie

Secuy Bank Comp D3 N 0D Finsace Reglonal Banks Prospectve
380 SED termati avd o 2142000 Disibuon Servbes Electronis Diskitalors Prospectee
SV ‘ServiceMaster Dec-03 Ho 2000 Consumer Senices Other Consumer Services Prospective
SR Shaw Communiations e Agd3 Mo 52004 Gonsuras Services Cabie/Saleiia TV Prospectve
8 Sieens AG Sep03 No 121512003 Producer Manufaciuring Indysiial Conglomeraies Prospective
SPG Simon Propety Dec-03 Yes. 71312002 Flnance Real Estate lavestment Trusts Prospective
$30, Mangfacturing Co. inc Dect3 Mo 5A703  Produces Manutacturing Buiding Produets Frospectve
EQ) Sitfeld Foods, e Rorbd Mo BIUI00 Canstmer Nan-Durables . Food: ealF SRy Fraspecte
$50C SmurtiStone Contalnr Corp Decds  No H122003  Process infuses CootahersPackaging Prosgective
SOMX Sonex Research e Decd3 o 57202000 i B
SBNK Sonoma Vatey Hancorp Dect3 Mo 52003 France Savings Banks Prospectva
S ing. Jun0d No 2002 Finance. Progpecive
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APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense or intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method (Conti

ued)
BEAR Accounting and Taxation Research
Pat McCannell, CPA (212) 272-4193

Janet Pegg, CPA (212) 272.4191
STEARNS Cn:::‘aenyex,CPA (242}272-2509

Dane Mot (212) 2724080
April 28, 2004
{§ In millions)
Rkt Adoption  Announcemant

Jickor Sompary Youfnd 3309 Copabmton ex . Dswis  Sechor Jadust S E,
S¥ ‘South Jersey Industries Inc. Pac0? No 887 2000 81472003 Uliies. Gas 0o Prospeci
UG Sauthesn Union Pariandie Corp Jurrdd No 1455 2002 573012063 Utkties. (Gas Distrbutors t
SWWC Southwest Wales Co. Dec0d No 02 200 282003 Utiifies ‘Water Utiities Ratoaciive Restalement
sov Bovereign Bancarp Dec0d o 5818 2002 TA§2002 Finance Savings Banks Prospactive.
Fon fint FON Geoup Deed, Yes 18840 2008 B3 icati Major veati Prospective.
PCS ‘Sprint PCS Group. Dac-03 Yes 8910 2008 51472000 Wireless Prospeciive
SJ0E St Joseph Capitat Comp. Decdd No 38 2003 037282004 Finance Regionat Banks Prospectve.
SFG Stancorp Financiat Group, Inc. Dee 03 No 1834 2003 130203 Financs. Lile/Health Insurance Prospective
8T8 Star Scenitfc Inc. Dec-03 No. e 1999 1998 Consumer Non-Durables. Tobawo Prospective (o)
SREDF. Srarheld Resoucoes Inc, Feb0d No MiA 2003 02052004 fi Prospective
36X Stamett LS Company 03 Ne. 106 2003 V72003 Consumer Durables Tools & Hardwan Prospective
Eia) Stata Sueet Corp Dec-03 Yes. 15,335 2003 B132002 Finance Financial Conglomarates. Prospective
scrP ‘Staef City Productions inc {u} Deod3 Ko - 2003 VIR0 Relad Trade Speciatty Stores Prospective
SCS Steelease tnc. Feb-04 No 1961 2004 YN0 g & e Prospective
37CS. Steviing e Inc Dec:03 No. 1818 2003 81412003 Distribeon Services Whdesale Distributors, Prospertive.
SRE ‘Stoneridge Dec-03 No £ 2008 0352004 Producer Manutactusing Auto Pants: OEM Prospeciive
SGLBF Swratos Globial Cory Dec-d3 e 405 2003 172212004 Speciatty Prosprctive
ST Student Loan Comp Dee-03 Ne. 2876 2008 2572008 Finance Fmance/Rentaii easing Prospective
SMT Summit Properties tnc. Dec03 Ne 701 2003 J1TI2008 Finance. Real Estale tnvestment Trusts Prospeciive
SiC Y i “ 2, Decdd No. 18,100 2002 TIN002 Finance. Finangiz Prospective
SUN Sunoco, inc Dec-03 Yes 4608 2002 91112002 ¥ OH Ry rOSpAK
1 SunTeust Banks, Inc Dec-03 Yes 12,895 2092 BI32002 Fipance Major Banks. Prospeciive
™ Tan Range Exploraions Gorp. Deold No WA 2003 03/15/2004 Non-Ecergy Minerals. Precious Metats Prospective
SKT Tanger Factory Outiet Centers Decl3 Ho 516 2003 562003 Finance Trusts it
picid Targat Cotp Jan04 Yoy 0848 2003 4102003 Reta? Trade Discount Stores. Prospective
TARR ‘Tamagon Reatly investors Dec3 No we 2002 BI52002 Finance Real Estite investnent Trusts Prospactive
TGO Taubman Centers, ing. Dee-03 Ko 1026 2003 32472003 Financa Reat Estaty Investment Trusts Prospective
TEWC TB Woods Corp. Dec03 No 41 2008 SR2003 wf g i F
B TCF Financial Corp Dec3 No 353% 2000 Finance Regional Banks Prospective (b}
TN Techritrol, in¢ Dex83 No 928 2003 12472002 Elecronkc Technology L Prospective
TKN Teknion Cop Nov-03 No. NiA 2003 71812003 Producer Manutacturing. Offics Equipment & Suppbes. Prospactve
TSN TeiaSonara AB Dec03 No 200 002 873012003 il Haj
TBM Teom inc (s} Dec03 Ko 1018 2003 152008 Electonic Technology Telecommunications Equigement Prospective
T8C Ternbex inc. Sep-03 No NA 2004 21372004 Nan-Energy Minesais Forest Products. Prospective
N Temple-lnland Decdd  Yas s 2003 HE2002 e ContainersPackaging t
THC Tenal Healthcare Corp Dec03 Yes 536 200 ANBR003 Retoactve Restatesent
HRZ. The Hertz Corp (k) Dec 0} No. N 2003 ¥182003 Finance Finance/Rentalfl easing Modified Prospective
PHC ‘The Peoples Holding Company Decd3 No pied 2002 1111812002 Fir Regional Banks Mothod Not Specified
™ ‘Thomas Industries inc. Dec-03 No 598 2003 031272006 Producer Manufaciuring Electricat Produds Prospective
ALE HTinc Sep03 No 3 2004 0212004 Idustriad Senices, Environmantal Secvicas Prospective
TOD Texdd Shipryarts Corp Mard4 No % 2003 6172003 Producer Manufaciuing Metal Fabrication Prospective
TORM TOR Minerats tntgmational Inc Dec63 No 37 2003 1412003 i iz it R
™ Totonke Dominion Bank O3 No 21565 2003 32612003 Firanes Wajor Banks Prospedive
TOPTF. Trans Orient Petrolearn Limited Ju-03 No 2 2002 013072004 Energy Minerals Ol 8 Gas Production h
I Transaa Com. Dec03, o 2417 2003, eIy Utiides. Biactric Utiites Method Nol Specified
TRH ‘Yransatiantic Holdings Dool3 No 4802 2003 312872003 Finance Propesty/Casually insurance Prospeciive
TRP ‘Transcanada Pipelines Limiled Dec03 No 2580 2002 03572004 i i Prospectiva
RIG Transocean ing. Der-03 Yes 8,766 2003 H26/2003 Industrial Services Contrao Driking. Prospactive
TARB ‘Travelers Propenty Casuafty Corp () Dex03 Yes NA 2003 R0 Finance Proparty/Casually Insurance Prospective
IRz Trizer Properties lne Deed3 No 2,168 2008 TUB2003 Finance Trusts Prospective
TRMK “Trustmark Corp. Dec-03 Na 3,588 2003 212003 Finance Regional Banks Prospective.
™V Tumi Resoures L Desd3 No 40051 2003 TR Non-Energy Minerals. Metais Mining Prospective
TP Tuppsrware Intsmational Dewd3 Yes 1126 2003 BIB2002 Consurtier Durables ‘Home Fumishings Prospective
uer Uil Dec 03 No. 701 2003 2003 Finance i.ieitieath insurance. Prospective
i UL Houdings Dec3 Ko B35 2003 22812003 Ubies Electic Utifties Prospeciive
UMH United Mcbie Homes, e Becld No 121 2003 BIA42003 Financs Real Estate investment Trusts Prospective
UNsy Linited National Bancorp {1) Deci3 No NA 002 30202003 Finanes Reglonst Banks Reiroactive Reststement
uPs United Pasce Servios inc. Dec3 Yos. 80002 2003 Y2002 Transporiation A FreightCouriers Prospective.
UR Unitti. ine. Decd3 Ne 290 2003 41012000 Finance Mufti4ing insurance. Prospeaive
uct ‘Unocat Corp Deod3 Yes, 10,077 200 12003 Energy Minerals O & Gas Production Prospective.
UNM Unumprovident Corp Decd3 Yo 4501 2008 BN Finance. LiteiHealth insurance f
VAR UB Airways Group, Ine. Decb3 No 142 2009 811472003 Transportation Pitnes Progpactive
Uss US Banoop Decd} Yes 49,607 2004 H20I004 Finance. Regional Baniks. Refroactive Restatemant
WY Valisy Nationat Bancorp Dec03 No 2551 2002 7002 Finance. Reglonal Banks Prospeciive
VMBG Va Deo03 Ne, 3 2000 $115/2003 Prospective.
YNDC Vendingdata Cop Decd3 No 73 2008 182000 Electronic Technology Electionk Equipment/instruments Prospeciive
vz Varizon Communications Inc. Dec03 Yes. 105,112 003 12572002 i Major W Prospective
VLGEA Vitlage Supermarket inc RN No 98 2008 6672003 Retait Trade. Foort Retad Prospective
P Vintage Petroieum it Decd3 No 79 2003 O}122604 Energy Minerals. it § Gas Production Prospeciive

Vistoon Corp Decdd Yes 1379 2003 101482002 Progucer Manufacturing Auto Parts: OEM Prospective
VST Viaistate Inc. Dae3 No 5398 2003 053/30:2004 Distribution Services. ‘Wholesste Distributors Method Not Speciied

Viven Inc Tec03 No 184 2003 03232004 Transportation Trucking Prospective
VNG Vormado Realty Trust Decd3 Ko 6212 2003 BID00R Firance feal Estale fovestment Trusts. Prospective
WHE W Holding Co. Inc Dec-03 Na 1,858 2003 3000 Finance Savings Barlks Modified Prospecthie
BER W R Beridey Cop Dec03 Ne 3489 2003 152003 Finance L, Prospective
WL WP Slewan & Co., Lid Decdd No 817 2003 002 Finance Investmen! Managers Prospective
W Vi Decls Yes 65,182 2062 711802002 Finance Majx Barks Prospective
Wt Wai-Mart Stores nc. Jan0d. Yes 252.908 200 BHAR002 Retad Trade Discount Stores. Retroactive Restatament
WRNC ‘Wamaco Growp, ic Dec-03 No %1 2003 5182063 Consumer Non-Durables: AppareiFootwodr Prospective
i Washington Mutual, ing Deo3. Yes. 862 2003 12002003 Finance. Savings Banks Prospeciive.
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APPENDIX A: Companies that Currently Expense or Intend to Expense Stock Options using the Fair Value Method {Continued]
BEAR Accounting and Taxatlon Research
Pat McConnel, CPA (212) 2724193

Janet Pogg, CPA (212) 2724191
STEARN S cn::“s‘m::‘:. cPA (212)272-2.:»09

Dane Mott (212) 272-4080
April 28, 2004
($ I mitiions)
Mackat  Adopton  Anwouncement

Ticker Som YoscEnd AR50 Caphalzation  Year Dana) _Sectar I Mathod Adopted

“Washinglcn Post Co Tocld . Mo SO0 2002 TRRRKZ | Consimer Services TUtkhing: Newspapers 2
WFT Waatheriors inlemalionat Lid Dec03 No 5843 2603 302004 i i
WBST Websler Finaociol Decdd Mo 218 W2 T2 France Savings Banks Prospective
WR! ‘Weingarten Really investors Decdd No 2457 200 WITRR003 Faarce Real Estate investment Trusts. Prospecive
WRR elisord Real Propertes, ng Qo3 Mo 20 92003 Fance Prospeive
WEKE Westbenk Corp. [T W 200 CYO008 Fience Regional Baris Prospectve
WBK Walw Banking Cop. Sep3 No 2843 2002 YBT3 Finance Major Banks
WS WES Financial inc Decl}  No 18 200 6112003 Finance FinancelRentalLeasing Prospective
WHT ‘Wheaton Rver Mnersis iriied Desds Mo 1308 200 QUISEO04 Moo Enssgy Minerals Precious Metals bisthos ot Specfod
WiNA Winark Corp D3 No 151 2002 31192003 Retad Trade Speciaty Sewes. Prospedive
WiR Wi, Dot Sk e wbh " Yas TE 9% 3% Relal Tade Food el Prospeckve (5]
INT World Fust Senices. Dectd Ko % w0 [ i z Prospective
X 2, Capital L1g Docd3  Yos 084 2003 YIS Firanca mmmmm nsurznce Prospedtive
Yoo Yankeo Gondle Co. e Decd3  No 131 200 0222003 Consumer Non-Ourables Cmsumer Sundeies Prospective
a1 Zenith Natoral insurence Corp Do No 6 2002 U203 Einarce Line Insyrance Pruspective
ZHNE Zhors Techrologes nc 5) Decds o %020 S0 Eledroric Todmobgy Tk Equment Praspectie

owce: Company reports and press releeses; Factet Rasearch Systems nc., Hest Sleams estimates.

N - information not available

[ 5 i ity it vebse method.
® 3 & . 143, hselors, i
iShine Ay 23, ‘pan i - To date,
(d) Avis Goug was acquired by Condantin March 2001
{) On July 10, 2003, Great West
) On October 20, 2063, Cathay Bancoep, . and GBC Bancorp complted e merger,
{g)in Juy 2003, CBRE HoldngsInc. and insignia Financial Grou, i mergad operations.
03, . nc. (NYSE: DOL Murdock,
) Expadia s 3 subsidiary o neractive Gony
@ " 1t
201, H i 18.5% of Here stock.
rch 28, 2003, i Hokding:
(r\)DnAnﬁtZW. SLP-D'J rger thai combines The St e . (NYSETARA and TAPB).
Eoman,
o Thursday 19 June 2003, ks
P S an Bscal 2004, ¥ s 21108, e compary
€)0n 1 10,2000 . OV
) On Novembes 13, 2008, Zhwfemmlms, weand mm\ Inc. menged. Zhone Technaiogies. nc. i , Cafforia
0)0n Jarary 2. 2004,
m Eaoanl 3 Orangs ae subskiaes ofFance Tescom
pany T i 2 2 5 , 2003, the company was stl applying APS 25.
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APPENDIX B: Pro Forma Income From ing Operations of the S&P 500 By Sector and Industry Group (8 in Mi
BEAR “Rocounting it Taxation Revearch

STEARNS

Tachtased Siock-Baaes Decrensa in
Raporied  Companeation Companaation Pro Forma Nt Incame} !
Natincorsal  nciuded (o ‘nclided i Nat bicomel nerease o
Mathod of Pistloss)  Reportad Totat Roported Tots Woilosss | Ropored  Proforme  Neiloss
Fical  Adopilon of e rom Hiteum Stockbured Wi trom Stockbeuad o | EPSkem  EPShem fom
Company Nams Tiher Yowend  FairVauaMethed | cont Opar. _cont oper wation Cor Oper. ___ Companation_ Gont Oper. | Gont Opar, _Cors Oper, _ Gent Oper.
Consumer Dlscretionsry
Auto Componients (5]
Coopat Tes & Fokbw o8 peess
Dora Cor. BON Dac0d
et Gomaraton oPH  Decd3
Goosyear Tre & Fubker (67 61 a2
ohnsen Goniras st Sapd  Prospscine
Yistven 73 Decor__ Prospeci
TR,
Automoblies (3
Ford botor £ Dec3  Modthed Prospective 5091
Gener) Metors o Doco3  Praspacine 26520
iy Duvigon e Der03 T80
o T
Reiatd Dec iy Prosphcive 3536
e
ool Nowad 11840
oRt Vayas 203
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Biack & Dacher Corp. BOK  Decdd 272
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K8 Homa KEA L Newt3 08
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Puns Homat, e PEM Decod  Powedwe 74
Sopaie SNA___ Becs 787
Starey Vearks E w7
Tupparvars Com TR Decds  Prospeave 75
oS, Wi Dwsl 240
£ TS
loternat 8. Satatog Betei 1)
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o o]
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Brunswich Corp Be Dec-03 1352 N
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New Yok Trmas C1.& WT O Desd 8
Qo Grovn oMG_ Deco3 w2
Tano Warsar e WX a3 B
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APPENDIX B: Pro Forma Income From Continuing Operations of the S&P 500 By Sector and ndustry Group (8 in Millions)
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APPENDIX B: Pro Farma Income From Continuing Operations of the S&P 500 By Sector and Industry Group (8 In Millions)
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APPENDIX B: Pro Forma Income From Continuing Operations of the S&P 500 By Sector and Industry Group (5 in Miions)
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APPENDIX C: Pro Forma Income From Continuing Operations of the NASDAQ 100 By Sector and Industry Group (8 in Millions)
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ANALYST CERTIFICATION

The Research Analyst(s) who prepared the research report hereby certify that the views expressed in this research report
accurately reflect the analyst(s) personal views about the subject compames and their securities. The Research Analyst(s)
also certify that the Analyst(s) have not been, are not, and will not be receiving direct or indirect compensation for
expressing the specific recommendation(s) or view(s) in this report.

Pat McCounnell/Janct Pegg

IMPORTANT DISCLOSURES

Bear, Stearns & Co. Equity Research Rating Svstem:

Ratings for Stocks (vs. analyst coverage universe):

Outperform (O) - Stock is projected to outperform analyst’s industry coverage universe over the next 12 months,
Peer Perform (P) - Stock is projected to perform approximately in line with analyst's industry coverage universe
over the rext 12 months.

Underperform (U) - Stock is projected to underperform analyst's industry coverage universe over the next 12
months.

Ratings for Sectors (vs. regional broader market index):

Market Overweight (MO} - Expect the industry to perform better than the primary market index for the region
over the next 12 months.

Market Weight (MW) - Expect the industry to perform approximately in line with the primary market index for
the region over the next 12 months.

Market Underweight (MU) - Expect the industry to underperform the primary market index for the region over
the next 12 months.
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Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Shadegg.

Mr. SHADEGG. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I apologize,
I have very little time. I would like to ask you to keep your an-
swers brief if you possibly could. Mr. Walker, in the other com-
mittee that considered this legislation, a witness from CBO came
and testified. They were supportive of the FASB rule. I asked him
a question kind of following along Mr. White’s question, which was
in your study did you study the economic impact on the economy;
that is, the impact on the economy of this rule? Actually I asked
him what factors did he look at and what did it show. He re-
sponded that in point of fact in its study CBO had not looked at
the impact on the economy, they had simply looked at how the
process could be done.

To my knowledge, GAO has not done a study of the impact on
the economy of enacting the FASB rule, has it?

Mr. WALKER. No, we haven’t. It is my understanding CBO did
look at the impact on competitiveness, though, and said it would
not have an adverse impact on the competitiveness of U.S. compa-
nies.

Mr. SHADEGG. That is not what he said. I asked him what factors
they looked at and he said they had not.

Mr. WALKER. They are different issues. You are correct, he did
not look at the other.

Mr. SHADEGG. Mr. Herz, would you agree with me that this is
a gray issue; that is to say, that it is not clear and black and white
and it is not an issue where every logical viewer of the issue would
say yes, we should move to expensing stock options?

Mr. HERz. I think any knowledgeable person in economics and
accounting would agree.

Mr. SHADEGG. I am troubled by that.

Mr. HERZ. I think you can debate which method. That is a de-
bate, a vigorous debate we have had at the Board.

Mr. SHADEGG. I think you are interested in where I am going so
let me go there. You have pointed out that all the major accounting
firms are now on the side of expensing and you have said you are
on the side of expensing but just a few brief years ago in December
1993, your name appeared on a letter by Coopers & Lybrand say-
ing that using stock option pricing models would result in unreli-
able information and would have an adverse impact on the com-
parability and usefulness of financial statements.

Your name appeared on that letter. I presume you supported
that position then. So I guess all of the consensus that you say ev-
erybody now, anybody knowledgeable now, would say absolutely
should expense. So that letter was not only wrong 7 or 10 years
ago, it was dramatically wrong?

Mr. HERZ. That is not a letter. It is a thing called a data line
to the practice. All it did was explain people’s views.

Mr. SHADEGG. They seemed to be pretty strong views. They say
point blank using option pricing models results in unreliable infor-
mation and would have an adverse impact on the comparability
and usefulness of financial statements. Those are pretty strong
words.
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Mr. HERZ. As I said, that thing expressed people’s views, re-
ported people’s views, my personal views. I can say that since that
time I have studied this issue for many, many, many years.

Mr. SHADEGG. And changed your opinion?

Mr. HERZ. I don’t think I had that opinion at that time.
| Mr. SHADEGG. Your name and phone number appeared on the
etter.

Mr. HERz. It says for more information on this subject, please
contact one of the following three people.

Mr. SHADEGG. You put your name and phone number on a letter
that says for more information when you disagreed with the letter?

Mr. HERZ. The letter was a report on views. It was not people’s
views.

Mr. SHADEGG. Mr. White, let me ask you, the chairman read a
pretty lengthy list of people who have said that they think we
should move to expensing. I note that all of those people that he
recited represent large, well-established companies. None of them,
I believe, have made their fortune in startups and quite frankly I
noticed a stark absence of anybody in the high tech field or the
biotech field. I guess I would like to give you an opportunity to tell
me the perspective of startups and the perspective of biotechs and
high techs on this issue and the concern of those companies.

Mr. WHITE. I appreciate that. Actually what I would like to do
is just read a list of other people who actually don’t think that ex-
pensing is appropriate. There is a long list, but a couple you might
consider are Commissioner Paul Atkins from the SEC. He dis-
agrees with that. Glen Hubbard, formerly at the White House.
Larry Lindsey, formerly at the White House, also doesn’t agree
that expensing is appropriate. Some of you may remember the
Honorable Tom Campbell, who was a great Member of this institu-
tion, now the Dean of the Business School at Berkeley, he doesn’t
agree with the comments that have been expressed.

As I think Congressman Shadegg pointed out, there are profes-
sors at Harvard, Princeton, Rutgers, Berkeley, Stanford and many,
many other schools across the country who disagree with that. I
think there has been an effort to suggest that this is a closed issue
by people who really understand it, and I think that is absolutely
false. There is a real, legitimate, principled debate in accounting as
to whether this should be booked as an expense at all.

Mr. SHADEGG. My time is going to run out, Mr. Mayer, but let
me ask you in conclusion, one of the things that troubles me with
the concept of expensing is that there is in fact not agreement on
a correct method of expensing, so much so that FASB itself doesn’t
propose to dictate a method for expensing. I guess I would like you
to explore that as a concern, and there has been reference on the
other side to the idea that this proposal, expensing stock options,
would have precluded the Enron scandals and other recent scan-
dals. My memory tells me those were not the abuses. As a matter
of fact, with regard to some of those I think they were special enti-
ties where those companies spun off all of their losses, not showing
those losses on their books, which would not in any way have been
improved or given a better picture or been avoided if we had had
this rule.

I appreciate your comments.
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Mr. MAYER. Certainly the method of estimate is one of the great
concerns that all of us have in the implementation of this plan. The
Black-Scholes method is one that people do understand, although
we also understand the drawbacks of it. The lattice model is a
model that no one understands. One thing that has not been ad-
dressed is how these will be audited. The lattice model would re-
quire us to make quarterly estimates of employee behavior going
forward 7 to 10 years, of stock market volatility going forward 10
years, and other factors that would all get rolled into this model.
By rough calculation for our company, we would have to make sev-
eral tens if not hundreds of thousands of calculations each quarter,
and how those will be audited I don’t think anyone has yet ad-
dressed.

As far as the question of the recent corporate scandals, I am not
a real student of those. However, it is my understanding that stock
option accounting has not played a role in any of those.

I have to take issue with a couple of people who have said that
this current method prevents investors from making informed deci-
sions. The current SEC disclosure is very clear and very fully in-
forms in footnotes of financial statements all of the information
that someone could want and in fact even the CBO report that has
been referenced says that this information is already available to
investors in the notes to firm’s financial reports. So the information
is there. This has nothing to do with cash-flows. It is merely a dif-
ferent type of accounting treatment from the one that has been in
place for I think some 25 years.

Mr. SHADEGG. Thank you very much. My time has expired. I
thank the Chair for indulging me.

Mr. STEARNS. I recognize Ranking Member Dingell.

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, I find myself very interested in the
thesis that this legislation would require that no longer would cor-
porations that have chosen the method of using fair valuation of
options be able to use those.

Can you explain, Mr. White, or perhaps, Mr. Mayer, why we
should ban General Motors or any of the other U.S. corporations
who have decided they want to use this mechanism from using it?

Mr. WHITE. We shouldn’t. I agree. As I understand the bill, it
doesn’t do that.

Mr. DINGELL. It does do that. Mr. Mayer?

Mr. MAYER. I agree we should not, and it is also my under-
standing that the bill does not do that.

Mr. DINGELL. I find myself very interested, also, in the fact that
the bill says that there would be no—that it would be presumed
there would be no volatility in the stock. That is a curious thing.
Doesn’t that fly in the face of all of our experiences with the in-
dexes? Most recently, for example, the Dow has gone from some-
thing like 8,000 to 10,000 and it moves somewhere around 100 or
so points a day. That seems to be at variance with fact, does it not,
gentlemen?

Mr. WHITE. It flows out of the great complexity of this and the
inaccuracy of trying to estimate the value of these things on the
date of grant. It is a little like predicting the value of your stock
into the future, which is a very difficult thing to do. The problem
is with volatility a very small change in your assumptions about
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volatility drives a huge change in the valuation, and so it makes
it very subject to manipulation. It is the biggest area of inaccuracy
in the whole process.

Mr. DINGELL. But to assume that there is no volatility affords
people to do some rather innovative accounting, doesn’t it? And it
would enable us to see people who had this particular responsi-
bility to in fact manipulate the stocks because they could assume
there is no volatility. For example, when the bottom fell out of AOL
or when the bottom fell out of Tyco, they could assume there is no
shift in the value of the stock.

Mr. MAYER. Actually I think quite the opposite. By having zero
volatility you stabilize the basis on which these calculations are
done. That eliminates a huge variable and in fact the most sen-
sitive variable to the calculation. If you allow people or require peo-
ple to guesstimate or estimate volatility going forward, that esti-
mate is going to be always changing and that is where games will
be played.

Mr. DINGELL. So we have then an assumption that there will be
no volatility in stock. That is a bad assumption, is it not?

Mr. MAYER. I think it is a

Mr. DINGELL. It may be inconvenient that there is this volatility
but it is still there, isn’t it?

Mr. WHITE. It just points out the futility of this whole exercise.
You can’t get this number right, and so the effort to make it zero
is to stabilize it so it is not quite as wrong as it otherwise would
be. That is really the problem.

Mr. DINGELL. Thank you.

Mr. Herz and Mr. Walker, would I be fair in assuming that all
accounting was absolute and was done on absolute numbers? Or do
we find that there are a lot of estimates that occur in the account-
ing process?

Mr. WALKER. There are a lot of estimates that occur in the ac-
counting process. Let me give you another one that was controver-
sial. Health care costs, inflation. There was a huge controversy
over accounting for post-employment health benefits because of the
difficulty in trying to project what the estimated total cost of health
care would be, but in the end FASB came up with a clear, con-
sistent and transparent accounting treatment despite that fact.

Mr. DINGELL. I note here that the prohibition on using the fair
value of stock options would affect large numbers of U.S. corpora-
tions. This question is to Mr. Herz and Mr. Walker. It would affect
foreign corporations listing on the U.S. market functioning under
international accounting standards, would it not?

Mr. HERz. Yes. I am not a lawyer but the way I read the——

Mr. DINGELL. It would also affect U.S. subsidiaries of foreign cor-
por(e)ttions and foreign subsidiaries of U.S. corporations, would it
not?

Mr. HERz. It would affect anybody who doesn’t use the method
prescribed by the bill.

Mr. DINGELL. So it would ban large numbers of U.S. corporations
and foreign companies from being properly listed on the securities
exchange, would it not?

Mr. HERrz. It would make them undo what they believe is the
better accounting.
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Mr. DINGELL. If you can’t get your reports approved by the SEC,
you can’t list, and all of a sudden you have got real problems under
our securities laws.

I have been looking here at this business of only the top five.
This question is to Mr. White and Mr. Mayer. Why would we limit
it to only the top five?

Mr. WHITE. I think there are two reasons. One of them is more
of a policy-oriented reason. That is what a lot of people are really
concerned about, making sure that executive compensation doesn’t
get out of the control. I think the reason that is more related to
this exercise is that those people are the ones who have the possi-
bility of manipulating the stock price so that it artificially would
g0 up.

Mr. DINGELL. Let’s take your assumption. Let’s just talk about
Enron, which is always a nice subject of discussion. The top Enron
executives. All of the above were indicted, Ken Lay, Jeff Skilling,
Andrew Fastow, Richard Causey. These are the chairman, chief ex-
ecutive officer, chief financial officer and chief accounting officer.
The only one not indicted was Mr. Jeff McMahon, who was the
treasurer. I suspect in part because he cut a deal with the U.S. At-
torney.

As we go on down we find Lea Fastow was also indicted, Michael
Kopper, who was in the treasurer’s office and Ben Glisan. There
were a goodly number of others. You would get the top five but you
wouldn’t get the others, so you wouldn’t know who was stealing
there and who was manipulating the value of stock options or how
this impacted upon the value of the shares of stock of the ordinary
citizen.

Mr. WHITE. And we wouldn’t know under this deal either.

Mr. DINGELL. Are you advocating that we should take that
course of action?

Mr. WHITE. No. In fact, the real problem here, and I will let Mr.
Mayer respond also, but Enron is an example of where they, as far
as people can tell, complied with a lot of accounting standards and
still defrauded people. No matter what we do in terms of account-
ing, if people are going to lie and break the laws, the rules are not
going to change that.

Mr. DINGELL. And your prohibition would make it easier?

Mr. WHITE. I don’t think so.

Mr. MAYER. I disagree. The value of stock options was not an
issue of all the many issues in the Enron situation.

Mr. DINGELL. Stock options were a major inducement because
what was done was to keep up the value of stock to keep the value
of the stock options up.

Mr. MAYER. And that stock option position was fully disclosed for
Enron like all companies who are SEC reporting companies.

Mr. DINGELL. This would require that only the top five be dis-
closed. I have mentioned you will find five of those who are would-
be felons here.

Mr. MAYER. This is talking about expensing the top five, not dis-
closing. Currently all options are disclosed in the statements, in the
notes to the financial statements. Every single option is currently
disclosed
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Mr. DINGELL. You would say then that the options either should
not be disclosed or that the value of the options should not be dis-
closed? Which?

Mr. MAYER. No, I think they should absolutely be disclosed and
should be fully disclosed, but not expensed on the income state-
ment.

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Herz, you and Mr. Walker may be able to help
us out of this thicket.

Mr. HERZ. My recollection as I watched a lot of these hearings
on TV was that Mr. Skilling actually testified that he used stock
options as a way to inflate earnings. In fact, he basically accused
you in Congress for allowing that to go on, having overridden the
FASB, so to speak, the last time around.

Mr. DINGELL. How then would this five-person exemption or this
glve—}‘)?erson requirement impact on the way honest reporting was

one’

Mr. HERZ. Honest reporting looks at the same transaction,
whether it be given to the top person or the 800th person. This is
like saying that only the top five salaries ought to be expensed, the
top five pensions, let’s just show the five top pieces of debt to the
company. There is no consistency or coherence to the financial
statements once you go down that path.

Mr. DINGELL. I would just note here that Mr. Skilling admitted
the benefits of this substitution in effect during his congressional
testimony. He said as follows: “You issue stock options to reduce
compensation expense and therefore increase your profitability.”

What is the amount of some of the corporate salaries in some of
these people that would be exempted? It would run to millions or
even hundreds of millions of dollars a year, would it not?

Mr. STEARNS. The time of the gentleman has expired, but I cer-
tainly will allow——

Mr. DINGELL. Just that one question, Mr. Chairman. I thank you
for the very great courtesy you have given me.

Mr. HERz. The amount for individual CEOs can be very large,
but I think from our point of view the issue is that not expensing
it for the rest of the people leaves out a big element of compensa-
tion and of cost from the financial statements. In the case of cer-
tain major high tech companies, that can run into billions of dol-
lars.

Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, I thank you for your great courtesy.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you. The full chairman, Mr. Barton.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Chairman Stearns. I want to
again thank this panel for being here. I want to focus on stock op-
tions and FASB a little bit, but since Mr. Dingell brought up the
issue of Enron, I think I need to say a few things about that.

This is the committee that did the investigation, that found the
facts that led to all the indictments of Enron, the Energy and Com-
merce Committee Oversight and Investigations staff. Chairman
Tauzin worked very hard to expose that. I totally supported it. But
my recollection of Enron was that they decided, the corporate lead-
ership, that they had a new corporate model that was not asset
based, that they decided they could run a corporation based on try-
ing to capitalize transactional expertise in their trading and, to the
extent they had asset problems, they spun them off into these spe-
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cial entities and tried to convince the capital markets that they had
a new way of making money without having any assets to back it
up. Their problems had nothing to do with stock option accounting
or whether it was disclosed or expensed. It had everything to do
with running a corporation with no assets.

I have simplified it, but is that generally what happened? They
tried harder and harder to hide the fact they had no assets and it
finally caught up with them?

Mr. WALKER. Mr. Chairman, it was primarily dealing with spe-
cial purpose entities, and that was their problem. At the same
point in time I think it is legitimate to ask what is the proper ac-
counting for stock options.

If I might quickly add, one of the things that I heard Mr. Mayer
and Mr. White say was their concern about whether this would
have an adverse economic impact. I would raise as a related ques-
tion, namely, since you have to disclose in your financial state-
ments what the impact would be on a fair market valuation basis,
anyway, a sophisticated investor would see that. Since it is a
noncash item, I don’t understand why having consistent accounting
treatment is going to have an adverse impact, because the fact of
the matter is a sophisticated investor would consider that anyway.

Mr. WHITE. But we want accounting for unsophisticated inves-
tors, too. At least that would be our argument.

Chairman BARTON. That is true. I agree with that. Let me ask
some questions about stock options.

There is nothing in the law or in SEC regulation that prevents
a company from expensing stock options right now, isn’t that true?
If I am the CEO or the board of directors and I want stock options
expensed, generally accepted accounting principles don’t prevent
that. It can be done. We don’t have to have a Federal law to ex-
pense stock options. We can make it mandatory, but you can do it
voluntarily if your corporate board wants you to. Isn’t that correct?

Mr. MAYER. Absolutely, under FAS 123, and the 575 companies
that have done that are typically the companies that either don’t
have a lot of options or for whom the impact is not particularly
large.

Chairman BARTON. Again correct me if I am wrong, but under
current law there is nothing that says companies have to grant
stock options but those that do, if they make the decision, they
have to disclose in their annual reports the number of options that
are granted above a certain percent, they have to disclose who they
are granted to and they have to disclose the strike price at which
they can be exercised, isn’t that correct?

Mr. MAYER. That is correct, and the estimate of fair value of
those options.

Chairman BARTON. So if I am a financial analyst and can read,
I can read that and if I am the unsophisticated investor that Mr.
White is referring to, I may not understand it but I can read it and
I can call a financial analyst that for a nominal fee can explain it
to me. Isn’t that correct?

Mr. MAYER. That is correct. And it will be much harder to go the
other way.

Chairman BARTON. What is the worst documented example of a
stock option scandal that has defrauded unsophisticated investors
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in that company? Are there examples of companies that somehow
cooked the books on these stock options and the senior manage-
ment exercised their options and ran off to Cancun and left these
poor unsophisticated investors with nothing?

Mr. MAYER. I am not aware of any.

Chairman BARTON. Is anybody aware of a real world example of
a stock options scandal?

Mr. WALKER. We haven’t researched that. Let me just say, if peo-
ple think that an unsophisticated investor is going to understand
the footnotes of a financial statement, that is totally unrealistic.

Chairman BARTON. I am just trying to find out. We have a major
bill. We have had a real debate in the last several years about ex-
pensing stock options. Chairman Greenspan of the Federal Reserve
has said we ought to expense stock options and I think Warren
Buffett has said we ought to expense stock options. So the pre-
vailing winds which used to be way back when, when I was in the
private sector, they didn’t need to be expensed. Now the political
wisdom is they need to be expensed. But if we are going to legis-
late, I want to know, are there real world examples where the
stock options not being expensed has led to real abuse and real in-
vestors being defrauded. I am not aware of one. That is why I am
asking the question.

Mr. WALKER. I am not aware of one. I would be happy to take
a look at it, if we were asked to do so. I would say, however, we
have to decide whether or not we want to be a leader or a laggard
with regard to accounting and reporting. We are lagging the world
in this area.

Chairman BARTON. So the rest of the world, these paragons of
economic activity in Western Europe are expensing and they cer-
tainly have been leaders, and the Chinese who didn’t even have
stock markets until 10 years ago, maybe they are expensing them,
including everything that the Communist politburo in Peking gets
under the table that we never hear about, so now we have got to
decide to expense.

Mr. WHITE. Mr. Chairman, that is a really good point. Actually
the Chinese are not expensing. They have learned from us. In the
5-year plan of the Communist Party of China, they encourage the
use of stock options to give workers more access and more ability
to own the success of the company.

I would also say I think there is a little misunderstanding about
what has actually happened in Europe. It is true that the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board has finalized their standard,
but there is a lot of uncertainty as to whether the political process
over there is going to allow that standard to become effective. It
has been approved by the Commission but it has not been approved
by the governing body of the EU, which has to approve it before
it can take effect.

Chairman BARTON. I am going to come back to Mr. Herz because
he is the long suffering Chairman of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, which is kind of a thankless job, and if there is
a reason to expense stock options, I would stipulate that that rea-
son is to give confidence to investors that everything that can be
done is going to be done to try to have accountability at the senior
management level of these corporations, that there may not be a
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financial reason to do it but there may be an openness, trans-
parent, confidence reason to do it. If you are going to go down that
trail, I think Mr. Dingell’s question about why stop at the top five
has got relevance.

If we expense stock options, I think FASB’s rules were you are
going to expense them for everybody and Mr. Baker’s bill was just
the top five. You know, is there some magic demarcation line if you
believe expensing is the way to go that we ought to do it, or do you
really feel very strongly if you are going to expense it they should
all be expensed?

Mr. HERzZ. Well, if you believe something is expensed, then the
financial statements are wrong and incomplete without all those
expenses being portrayed in it. I mean, you are again saying, you
know, why don’t we just figure out how many of the pensions, we
go down to that level. I think that would be a very slippery slope
for us to go down. Financial statements are supposed to be a faith-
ful representation of the transactions and events as they affect the
company.

Chairman BARTON. So you think for total transparency and ac-
countability, if you are going to have expensing it should be for ev-
erybody.

Mr. HERZ. I believe so.

Chairman BARTON. Mr. White, do you think that there can be an
in between.

Mr. WHITE. Well, there actually can be an in-between, and I
think the place where you would draw the line would be right
about where it is, where you are preventing people who might have
the ability to manipulate the price of the stock to feather their own
nest and to make their options worth more. You are preventing
that level of person from doing it. But, you know, for goodness
sake, let us not prevent ourselves from giving these stock options
to the administrative assistants and the engineers assistants and
the people all the way down the line who have been so successful
in creating innovation in these companies. That is really what we
are trying to accomplish.

Chairman BARTON. My time has expired, and I have got one
more question I want to ask, and Mr. Herz wants to add, I think,
something to what Mr. White just said.

Mr. HERz. First of all, we are not against stock options or saying
that companies shouldn’t grant stock options or that stock options
are better or worse than restricted stock or performance grants or
cash bonuses or having day care centers for the employees or train-
ing or whatever. We are just saying let us do the right accounting.

Chairman BARTON. Now, this is my final question, and it is an
“unsophisticated investor-type” question. If I get a stock option,
and let us make this as simple as possible. I get a stock option for
one share of stock at a strike price of $100 2 years from the date
the option is granted, and I can take that stock option or I can get
a cash bonus payable next month for $100. So I can have $100 cash
that I get next month or I can have a stock option worth $100 at
the strike price payable in 2 years. If we decide to expense stock
options, do I create, if we expense them, a tax liability on $100 that
is payable this calendar year, or do I get to defer that until it actu-
ally materializes?
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Mr. HERZ. My understanding is that the prevalent tax treatment
for what are called nonqualified stock options, which is the major
stock options that are issued by companies, the tax treatment is
that the recipient will have taxable income upon exercise of that
option.

Chairman BARTON. So I don’t have to pay—even if we expense
it, I don’t create a tax liability in the current year that I have to
pay. I don’t have to pay the taxes until I realize something, that
there is actually a financial asset that I can pay part of.

Mr. HERZ. Again to you.

Mr. MAYER. Under current tax law, the tax liability is not related
to the incurrence of expense by the corporation. They are com-
pletely separate.

Chairman BARTON. So if we expense stock options, there is not
a cash-flow negative to the stock option holder; there is a contin-
gent fund requirement of the granting corporation to set up a re-
serve fund for that option. Is that correct?

Mr. MAYER. That is not a reserve fund, but the taxation of the
individual is completely separate from the taxation of the corpora-
tion, unless Congress or the IRS chooses to change the regulations.
But under current regulations what the corporation does does not
affect the individual.

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. Davis is recognized for 8 minutes.

Mr. Davis. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I would like to ask Mr. Herz and then Mr. Walker if—and I don’t
know how to talk like an accountant, so I will try. In ascertaining
whether an expense or another accounting item should be included
in generally accepted accounting principles, is there such a thing
as an expense or item that is so sufficiently—that is so difficult to
quantify that it should not be made a part of generally accepted ac-
counting principles? And, if so, can you offer an example?

Mr. HERZ. There are very few examples. But in every project we
look at that issue, of whether there is in our view a sufficient reli-
ability, and that is a judgment that we have to make based upon
a lot of input, data, visits to companies, looking in the case of this
kind of thing of valuation, to valuation experts, testing out a lot of
things experienced in other places than that. And then we match
that up against other items. This item, well, we are still getting
more data, but certainly it has already been in the audited foot-
notes for 8 years. It is based upon accepted models.

The inputs do involve some judgments, as Mr. Mayer said. But
in fact that realm of judgment is probably less than in many other
areas of accounting that involve considerable judgments, and in
fact that is recognized by most users of financial statements. There
is a required disclosure by the SEC of what is called critical ac-
counting estimates, which a company has to lay out the areas that
involve most estimation and subjectivity. Those areas can be eight,
nine, 10 in a particular company. Some of them can—my belief and
from valuation experts, are more difficult to do than this item.

Mr. DAvIS. So there is such a thing as an item that is not suffi-
ciently reliable, and therefore not something that you would try to
assign a value to?
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Mr. HERZ. There are some things like that, but they are very few
in number and diminishing. I am getting use of one here that in
contract accounting, construction contracts for example, one uses
the—you don’t use the percentage of completion method for a long
contract, you use a completed contract method. If you think the es-
timates are not sufficiently reliable, you go to an alternative meas-
ure. But you don’t assume zero either.

Mr. Davis. That is an interesting example you pick, because I ac-
tually—well, I have sued someone for fraud for trying to state as
a fact what is not a fact, which I guess gets me to another ques-
tion—I will let Mr. Walker respond to this—which is, I think you
are acknowledging that there are genuine issues as to the reli-
ability of this value but you think the reliability meets the suffi-
ciency threshold. But are we going to create a level of uncertainty
in terms of how a corporation prepares its financials and uses peo-
ple to prepare financials, such that we are going to have a lot of
liability?

Mr. WALKER. I don’t think that we are going to create a signifi-
cant degree of uncertainty. The fact of the matter is there are two
issues. One issue is whether or not you should account for these
in a consistent manner based upon a fair market value basis. And
then, second, how you do it.

With regard to the first, I believe the answer to that question is,
yes, you should have consistency in order to improve integrity and
public confidence and avoid adverse selection.

With regard to how do you do it, reasonable people can differ.
Namely, Black-Scholes versus the proposed method. I think that is
a legitimate discussion and debate, if you will. But I do think this
is one that there are generally accepted methods out there; e.g.,
Black-Scholes, that have been used for a number of years and have
already been reported and, therefore, there is a basis to accomplish
the objective.

Mr. DAvis. Are you or—Mr. Herz.

Mr. HERZ. I should add, first, we are continuing to do some work
on that. Some of the large high-tech companies have said they have
done some work, and we are going to be meeting with them and
we would like to look at what they have done. But also the SEC
staff has said that, you know, to the extent if there are genuine
fears here and there is some legitimacy of those after we go
through all that, they are prepared kind of below our principles to
perhaps put in some safe harbors for companies on some of these
assumptions. But that all has to still—we are not finished, so we
are going to look at all those things.

Mr. Davis. Have you done studies that give you the benefit of
hindsight to go back and use either of these methodologies to judge
what would have caused one of these types of companies to quan-
tify as an expense for an option versus what the actual experience
was in terms of volatility and choice as to exercise? And what did
tlllat 1(:)e11 you about the sufficiency of the reliability of your method-
ology?

Mr. HERz. Well, that is a good question and it gets to kind of a
fundamental point, that when you value something you value it at
that point in time, and that is a valuation for an option that takes
into account thousands if not millions of potential scenarios. That
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is the way it works. It is not trying to pinpoint at one particular
scenario. Just like the stock price at one point in time is a valu-
ation at that point in time, it is not going to predict what the stock
price is going to be 2 years from now, 3 years from now, 4 years
from now. So it is the valuation at that point in time, it is not a
prediction.

Mr. Davis. Okay. Do you or Mr. Walker—you haven’t really an-
swered my question. Have you even attempted to go back and do
that type of study in hindsight? And would it be useful to do so?
I understand your point as well.

Mr. WALKER. We haven’t at GAO. I have got to believe that there
are studies that have been done along those lines in the private
sector.

Mr. Davis. If you all don’t know, that is troubling.

Mr. HERz. Well, there have been studies that show the actual
outcome. Just like I said, it is like you enter a lottery and you pay
$4 for a lottery ticket, and you may win the lottery or you may not
win the lottery. The ticket was still worth $4. Now, some people
are going to win the lottery and others are not. But those are what
these models do, is they, based on all the outcomes, come up with
a value at the date you are doing——

Mr. DAvis. Well, but when I buy a lottery ticket it tells me what
the prize might be. It doesn’t tell me what my chances are of win-
ning necessarily.

Mr. HERzZ. It certainly does.

Mr. Davis. Well, people don’t—I don’t know that people really
rely upon that.

Mr. HERZ. The chances of winning this lottery are much higher
on average than an average lottery.

Mr. DAvis. How—to the chairman’s question, what is the level of
urgency here? If you come to the conclusion that the type of study-
ing I describe is a useful exercise, do you think that you have the
luxury of spending more time doing this or do you feel compelled
to come to a result very shortly?

Mr. HERZ. We have to balance everything. What we want to do
is get to a good answer, a quality standard, and we are going to
consider all the input we have got and continue the input to get
to a good standard. I will tell you, though, that investors, analysts
believe that this should have been done a long time ago and they
are anxious. And serving the capital markets, we have to also con-
sider that issue, also the issues of, you know, the implementation,
time lines. All those are the kind of issues we work on when we
decide what kind of timeframe we ought to do.

Mr. Davis. Mr. Chairman, if I could ask one more quick question
of Mr. White and Mr. Mayer.

The bill, as I read it, contemplates the possibility that some form
of methodology that is sufficiently reliable might be developed, But
I think what I have heard you all testify to today is you don’t be-
lieve that is going to occur, and perhaps a more credible description
of the bill is to basically—that it basically stands for the position
that this is, we are trying to know the unknowable here.

Mr. HERz. I think that is true, and I think that actually, you
know——
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Mr. Davis. And I am not saying that I agree with that. I just
want to understand your position.

Mr. WHITE. The reason it is unknowable is—and I think Chair-
man Herz has defined it very well. What they are shooting for is
the abstract idea of what these things are worth on the grant date.
They don’t really care about what turns out to be the case in the
future. And if you look at an example like Cisco, if you run those
numbers, you get some absolutely dramatic results. $3 billion.

Mr. Davis. Thank you.

Mr. STEARNS. The gentleman’s time has expired.

We have three members left and we have six votes. So I would
just ask the members, or a suggestion, if anyone wants to submit
their questions rather than coming back, we could go for possibly
another 10 minutes. We could probably get 5 minutes on each on
a side and then we could adjourn, so you folks wouldn’t have to
come back after six votes, which, Rick, as you know, this could be
a long time.

So at this point Mr. Bass would be the next. And Mr. Bass, my
suggestion is

Mr. Bass. Mr. Chairman, I will tell you what I will do. I am
going to take 3 minutes instead of 5, and then I am going to yield
2 minutes to whoever is after me. All right?

My position on this bill has not been predetermined before this
hearing, and I am not an accountant either. But I have run a small
business before, and I learned through the school of hard knocks
that there is only one fact in accounting, and that is cash. And
even accounts receivable, inventory, value of fixed assets, backlog,
anything, those are all opinions.

However, I think cash, bonuses, the cost of day care, and other
things that Mr. Herz brought forth really are a fact because they
are cash expenses.

I believe that it is perfectly legitimate for Mr. White to present
a different opinion or a different perspective on the issue of ac-
counting than the two gentlemen from the General Accounting Of-
fice and the FASB. It is a legitimate part of this debate. And I ap-
preciate your testimony, Mr. White. I don’t find it patronizing at
all. T also don’t understand why Enron is the subject of every single
debate that we have had this week. And I agree with my friend,
Mr. Barton, from Texas that the issues with Enron were quite—
{:)he issue of expensing of options is really superfluous to this de-

ate.

My question for—a quick question is, a concern that I have that
was evidenced to me by Mr. Greenspan when we had a meeting
sometime ago, that the accounting standards or the accounting
practices of businesses is becoming increasingly divergent from
what they submit to the Internal Revenue Service for tax purposes.

Do you have any comments on that and how this issue addresses
that?

That is my only question, and we will cut it off in a minute.

Mr. WALKER. Well, it is interesting to note that corporations do
get deductions on their income tax return with regard to the value
of stock options even in circumstances where they don’t have to
record an expense in their financial statements. And it could be
significant




114

Mr. MAYER. Well, that is a bit of an overstatement. Not all stock
options result in a tax deduction. In fact, only a limited variety of
stock options do, and then only when there is a concomitant tax li-
ability or obligation on the part of the individual who has the stock
option. So there is a perfectly matched situation there, and the no-
tion that corporations are getting a big tax deduction without re-
porting the expense is completely off the mark, in my view.

I would add, if I may, quickly, that I deal with investors and an-
alysts every day and I have for 20 years as a CFO of a publicly
held corporation. Not one, not one single one has ever said to me,
you know, you can expense under FAS 123. Why don’t you do that?
We would like it if you would do that. Not a single one has ever
asked me to do that. I dispute the fact that this is a human cry
from that community.

Mr. Bass. I yield to the gentleman from California.

Mr. IssAa. Thank you, and I will be very, very brief. I guess my
first reaction was hearing that there were 14 accounting firms, in-
cluding the ones that did WorldCom and Enron. I, like my col-
league, can’t understand why we are going to base it on accounting
firms as the basis for it. Plus, to be honest, Mr. Chairman, if I were
an accounting firm, I would not say anything adverse to the Chair-
man of FASB.

Mr. HERZ. They do all the time.

Mr. IssA. But I will say, and I, like my colleague, have not made
a decision on the underlying bill, including some of the possible
amendments. But I was concerned, Mr. Herz, when you said that
you were concerned about disadvantaging some companies, as
though your job was to level the playing field between companies.
And you can respond in writing because I don’t want to take more
time than this 2 minutes.

Mr. STEARNS. The time of Mr. Bass has expired. So if you will
answer the question, and then we will ask Mr. Stupak.

Mr. IssA. I will take it in writing because I know we are in a
hurry. Thank you.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you.

Mr. Stupak.

Mr. STUPAK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

You know, I sat through the Enron hearings. And this double
stock options was a problem. And let me explain the way it was,
because I think it really summarizes where we have been.

The last 5 years before declaring bankruptcy, from 1996 to 2000,
Enron told its stockholders and the whole world that it was rolling
in cash, claiming a 5-year U.S. profit of $1.8 billion. During those
same years Enron deducted $1.7 billion from stock option com-
pensation from its tax returns as a business expense, cutting its
taxes by $600 million and eliminating its tax liability entirely for
4 out of 5 years. In other words, the stock option double standard
allowed Enron to dole out this form of compensation to its execu-
tives, including $123 million to Mr. Lay, claim a huge tax deduc-
tion, and escape paying U.S. taxes while not showing any stock op-
tion expense on its inflated financial statements.

So this is exactly why this legislation can hurt us, and Enron
had a lot to do with it and those of us who sat through it under-
stand it.
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So how come—and this is this discussion today. How come you
can estimate the value of a stock option for tax purposes but you
can’t do so for accounting purposes? Mr. Walker or Mr. Herz, if you
want to hit that.

Mr. HERrz. Well, for tax purposes it is computed at a different
point in time than we are proposing for accounting purposes. We
are proposing a grant date measure, which we think is the right
economic measure. The Tax Code says look at the spread between
the exercise price and the strike price at the time it is exercised.

Mr. STUPAK. So really you have a double standard here, once you
are using and then you deduct it. And then how do you justify the
double standard then?

Mr. WALKER. Well, the accounting treatment is generally re-
corded as of the date of grant and it is based on an estimate. Tax
treatment is generally based on actual experience at the time the
grant is exercised. As a result, you can have a situation where you
don’t ever record a financial statement expense and yet you may
still get a substantial tax deduction.

Mr. STUPAK. So this has got to be zero, or you don’t know how
to do it because it is too complex. They already do it, because even
Enron in these financial statements that many people looked at but
didn’t pick up because it was in a footnote, they had to put a value
on the options in the footnotes. So when you say it is a zero or it
is too complex, you can’t figure out, that just doesn’t hold water.

Mr. HERZ. Unless companies calculate it or communicate it to the
executives and to the employees at the time they do it.

Mr. STUPAK. Sure.

Mr. MAYER. If I may, I have to disagree with that. I think it is
dead wrong. The calculation for tax purposes is a subtraction. $10
minus $6 leaves $4 profit.

llVIr. STUPAK. But even if there is a subtraction, there is still a
value.

Mr. MAYER. Correct, And that is a very doable calculation that
you can do. The calculation we are talking about here in the lattice
model is a theoretical calculation of a number that never occurs,
that can never be measured or audited.

Mr. STUPAK. Let me go to Mr. White, because he argued that
there is no accurate way to estimate the value of stock options, as
you said in your testimony. But the Chicago Board of Options Ex-
change facilitates over 8.8 million option trades each day. Do you
believe that professional traders engaging in millions of trades in-
volving millions of dollars each day do so without knowing the
value of the options or buying or selling?

Mr. WHITE. No, but those are totally different. They are tradable
options. These stock options aren’t tradable. You can’t transfer
them. It is illegal to transfer them to anybody, and they have no
value at the time they are granted. So it is a totally different situa-
tion.

Mr. STEARNS. We have about 4%2 minutes left to get to the floor.

Mr. STUPAK. I have got some more questions. I will put them in
writing.

Mr. STEARNS. Let me just conclude the hearing. And I thank the
colleagues. We will leave the record open for 5 days to allow addi-
tional questions. And also, just to notify my colleagues, Chairman
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Barton and Mr. Dingell and myself and Ms. Schakowsky are going
to write to the Securities Exchange Commission in reference to Mr.
Barton’s question, which I think is very relevant: Have stock op-
tions caused any abuses because of misinformation for investors? I
think that is welcomed to know.

And I want to thank the witnesses for their patience and for a
lively hearing. The subcommittee is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 3:57 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]

[Additional material submitted for the record follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICHARD L. TRUMKA, SECRETARY-TREASURER, AMERICAN
FEDERATION OF LABOR AND CONGRESS OF INDUSTRIAL ORGANIZATIONS

“There are cases where you can use equity to impact your income state-
ment. And the most—the most egregious, or the one that’s used by every
corporation in the world is executive stock options. And as a matter of fact,

I think FASB tried to change that, and you introduced legislation in 1994
to keep that exemption. And essentially what you do is you issue stock op-
tilglils to reduce compensation expense and therefore increase your profit-
ability.”
Former Enron President And CEO Jeffrey Skilling before the
Senate Commerce, Science And Transportation Committee on February 26, 2002

On behalf of the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organi-
zations (AFL-CIO) and our affiliated unions’ 13 millions members, I appreciate the
opportunity to comment on the proposal by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) to require the mandatory expensing of stock options and on H.R.
3574, the Stock Option Accounting Reform Act.

Stock option expensing will have an unambiguously positive impact on the eco-
nomic security of America’s working families. Our interest in stock option expensing
stems from the fact that our members are also investors. Union members partici-
pate in benefit plans with over $5 trillion in assets. Pension plans sponsored by
unions affiliated with the AFL-CIO hold almost $400 billion in assets, and union
members also participate in the capital markets as individual investors.

The AFL-CIO strongly supports FASB in its recent decision to close the account-
ing loophole that has that has allowed corporations to understate the true cost of
executive compensation. FASB’s proposal is part of a global trend towards greater
accounting transparency. Starting in 2005, the International Accounting Standards
Board has ruled that 7,000 companies in 90 countries must start expensing stock
options.

We oppose calls to postpone implementation of mandatory expensing until 2006
because any delay will only give companies time and an incentive to award mega-
grants to CEO’s while they can still do so without recording them as an expense.
Companies that are truly unable to implement expensing beginning in 2005 should
have the option of delaying implementation of the rule for one or two quarters and
then retroactively applying the new standard.

The FASB proposal provides a reliable cost estimate that takes into account the
unique characteristics of employee stock options. It also provides broad flexibility for
small businesses that are not publicly traded. Further, the FASB proposal should
have zero compliance costs for publicly traded companies, as the current accounting
rules already require corporations to provide investors with an estimate of their
stock option expense in the footnotes of company earnings statements.

This is not the first time FASB has attempted to require appropriate expensing
of stock options. In the mid-1990’s, just as stock options were becoming a popular
form of executive compensation, FASB attempted to require option expensing, but
was pressured by Congress into abandoning its position. We believe that this
thwarting of FASB’s role as an independent body was a key initiator of the chain
of events that led to the corporate scandals of the last several years.

This time, we hope that Congress will respect FASB’s independence and not inter-
fere with its decision. Unfortunately, though, we are seeing yet again an assault on
FASB’s independence. Some of those opponents of mandatory expensing are falsely
attempting to portray FASB’s efforts as an attack on workers. They have suggested
that expensing stock options will benefit trial lawyers, encourage offshoring, and sti-
fle innovation.

We should say at the outset that the AFL-CIO does not oppose broad-based stock
options programs. We are always in favor of better wages and benefits for workers—
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be they in the form of stock options, pensions or health insurance. We view stock
options as one appropriate form of medium-term compensation for employees, but
asfan inappropriate substitute for the basic wages and benefits needed to support
a family.

What we oppose is giving one particular form of compensation—in this case, stock
options—preferential accounting treatment over other more important employee
benefits such as wages, pensions or health care. If the corporate opponents of stock
option expensing truly want to help America’s working families, they should instead
focus their efforts on encouraging the expansion of retirement plans and health care
coverage.

Executive Compensation and Stock Option Expensing

Not expensing stock options has widened the pay gap between CEOs and workers.
Executives disproportionately benefit from stock options and this cost has been kept
off the books. Moreover, not expensing stock options has artificially boosted profit
reports, thereby generating further increases in CEO pay. Unfortunately, the voice
of America’s working families and their retirement savings is diffused in comparison
to the concentrated interest of highly paid Silicon Valley executives who are oppos-
ing stock option expensing.

In our view, stock options have only widened the pay gap between executives and
ordinary workers. In 1980, prior to the widespread use of stock options in executive
compensation, CEO pay stood at approximately 42 times the average worker. Two
decades later, CEO pay reached 531 times the average worker’s pay. The majority
of this increase was due to stock options, which have become the biggest component
of today’s CEO pay packages.

In a last ditch effort to de-link the issue of stock option expensing from the politi-
cally explosive issue of executive pay, the opponents of stock option expensing have
backed H.R. 3574, the Stock Option Accounting Reform Act. This bill purports to
require the expensing of stock options for the top five most highly paid executives.
However, this so-called compromise bill is a sham. In addition to creating an ac-
counting fiction that some stock options are a cost while others are not, this bill will
dramatically understate the true cost of CEO stock options.

Moreover, H.R. 3574 would prohibit companies who already expense all of their
stock option grants from continuing to do so. By limiting expensing to the top five
executives’ options grants, this bill will force companies that already expense all of
their employees’ options to report less accurate earnings. According to Bear, Stearns
& Co., 576 companies have announced their intention to voluntarily expense stock
options, including companies representing over 40 percent of the market capitaliza-
tion of the S&P 500 Index. H.R. 3574 will not just override FASB, but it will over-
ride the stock markets that increasingly demand expensing as a matter of financial
transparency.

The bill would require companies using an option pricing model like Black-Scholes
to assume that the underlying stock price has zero volatility. This would be account-
ing fraud by act of Congress. This “minimum value” approach—as its name im-
plies—results in unrealistically low cost estimates. Moreover, the minimum value
approach can easily be manipulated to drive the reported value to zero or near
zero.! This is done by raising the exercise price and multiplying the number of op-
tions in order to maintain the real value of the grant while lowering its reported
“minimum value.”

The bill would allow CEOs to continue to receive stock option mega-grants with-
out having to report the real cost to shareholders. It is no secret why Silicon Valley
executives are leading the fight against option expensing. According to SEC filings,
the CEOs of the ten public companies who are the corporate members of the so-
called International Employee Stock Options Coalition hold on paper a combined
$916 million in unexercised stock options.2 Not one dollar of these CEQ’s stock op-
tions has ever been expensed in these companies’ earnings statements.

Not expensing stock options has cost shareholders real money by encouraging
their overuse for executive compensation. According to the Investor Responsibility
Research Center, companies in the Information Technology sector have an average
potential dilution from stock options of 25.7 percent, as compared to 17 percent for
the S&P 1500.3 This measure of stock option overhang is one way that shareholders

1 Mark Rubinstein, “On the Accounting Valuation of Employee Stock Options,” Journal of De-
rivatives, Fall 1995.

2Fiscal year 2003 data from company proxy statements.

3Stock Plan Dilution 2004: Overhang from Stock Plans at S&P Super 1,500 Companies, Inves-
tor Responsibility Research Center.
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gauge the potential dilution to their holdings from the equity being transferred to
executives and other employees.

Who Gets Stock Options?

In contrast to CEOs, relatively few ordinary workers receive stock options. At the
height of the stock market boom in 1999, only 1.7 percent of private sector employ-
ees received stock options, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Stock
options are much more prevalent among the ranks of managers and skilled profes-
sionals; the BLS found that only 0.7 percent of private sector workers earning less
than $35,000 received stock options, compared to 12.9 percent of workers earning
$75,000 and above.*

Compared with large corporations, few small businesses grant any of their em-
ployees stock options. BLS data shows that only 2.1 percent of companies with 100
employees or less granted stock options, compared to 10.1 percent of companies with
over 100 employees. We believe this data shows that stock option expensing will
have little, if any, impact on America’s small business.

Those who wish to portray stock options as a broad-based benefit typically focus
on technology companies where stock options are sometimes granted to a cross-sec-
tion of employees. For example, the American Electronics Association claims that
publicly-traded technology companies grant stock options to 84 percent of their em-
ployees.5 Even in Silicon Valley, however, households with stock options are in the
upper tax brackets, with a median income of $122,000.6 According to SEC filings,
the CEOs of the ten public companies who are the corporate members of the so-
called International Employee Stock Option Coalition (the “IESOC”) hold on paper
a combined $916 million in unexercised stock options. The authors of the book In
the Company of Owners estimate that “roughly 30 percent of all options are in the
hands of top five executives” and “most of the remaining 70 percent is spread very
narrowly among other executives and managers.”

For the reasons discussed above, these statistics are unlikely to change. Stock op-
tions are ill-suited either as a way to make ends meet from day-to-day or as a sub-
stitute for a traditional defined benefit plan or a properly diversified defined con-
tribution plan. As a result they have been and are likely to continue to be supple-
mental medium-term compensation for high-income employees.

Investor Concern

We agree with FASB Chairman Robert Herz, who last year testified before the
Senate that “financial reporting standards that bias or distort financial information
to favor a particular transaction, industry, or special interest group undermine the
credibility and value of that information and the proper functioning of the capital
markets by impairing investors’ capital allocation decisions.””

We believe we speak for most investors on this issue. In a report released earlier
this year, the Congressional Budget Office concluded that “recognizing the fair value
of employees stock options is unlikely to have a significant effect on the economy
(because the information has already been disclosed); however, it could make fair
value information more transparent to less-sophisticated investors.”8

Since 2003, a majority of shareholders at 44 companies have voted in favor of res-
olutions to require stock option expensing. These include high-profile technology
companies such as Intel, Apple Computer, Adobe Systems, IBM, and Texas Instru-
ments, despite strong opposition to expensing by these companies’ boards of direc-
tors. Other high-tech companies such as Microsoft, Amazon, and Netflix have joined
the nearly 600 companies that voluntarily expense stock options.

There is also near unanimity in favor of mandatory expensing among institutional
investors and governance advocates, including the “Big Four” accounting firms, the
Conference Board Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise, the Council
of Institutional Investors, Institutional Shareholder Services, and the Teachers In-
surance and Annuity Association—College Retirement Equities Fund.

4 Bureau of Labor Statistics, “Pilot Survey on the Incidence of Stock Options in Private Indus-
try in 1999,” press release October 11, 2000.

S“AEA Study Finds 84% of High-Tech Workers Receive Stock Options,” AEA press release,
August 14, 2002. (This survey almost certainly suffers from selection bias, as AEA members
with broad-based plans had more incentive to respond.)

62002 Gallup Poll of Media Use and Consumer Behavior for the San Francisco market, cited
in Mark Schwanhausser and Jeanne Cardenas, “Stock Options Slow After Dot-Com Bust,” San
Jose Mercury News, December 13, 2002.

7Statement of Robert H. Herz, Chairman, Financial Accounting Standards Board, for the
Roundtable on “Preserving Partnership Capitalism Through Stock Options for America’s Work-
force,” United States Senate, May 8, 2003.

8“Accounting for Employee Stock Options,” Congressional Budget Office, April 2004.
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Individuals such as Berkshire Hathaway CEO Warren Buffett, Securities and Ex-
change Commission Chairman William Donaldson, Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board Chairman William McDonough, General Accounting Office Comp-
troller General David Walker, Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan, former
Federal Reserve Chairman Paul Volcker, and Nobel Prize-winning economists Rob-
ert Merton and Joseph Stiglitz are all in favor of mandatory expensing.

Valuation Issues

Opponents of mandatory expensing have exaggerated valuation issues related to
stock options. They claim, for example, that options cannot be accurately valued,
that options vary in value after they are granted, and that options turn up in earn-
ings per share calculations.

The fair value of stock options can be estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton
formula or a binomial lattice model that incorporates employees’ expected behavior.
Though these values are estimates, so are the values used for numerous other line
items on corporate financial statements, including depreciation, amortization, and
inventory-related adjustments. Options do vary in value after they are granted—but
so do a variety of payments and agreements made by companies including payments
made in foreign currencies or long-term commodity contracts. No one would suggest
that these should be left off the companies’ financial statements.

Opponents of expensing contend that options are double counted if they are
charged to earnings, because the cost of options is already reflected in dilution. This
argument ignores the opportunity cost of granting stock options to employees. More-
over, other forms of equity compensation that are expensed also result in dilution.
For example, the estimated value of restricted stock grants to employees is deducted
as a compensation cost, affecting both the EPS numerator and the denominator. To
ignore the cost of stock options in the numerator is to assume that revenue-increas-
ing labor services provided in exchange for stock options are provided free of charge.

As for the claim that pricing methods overstate the value of employee stock op-
tions because employees may exercise options early and may forfeit options if they
leave the company, FASB has already addressed this issue. FASB would allow com-
panies to modify cost estimates to reflect patterns of forfeiture and early exercise,
and adjust these estimates, if necessary, based on subsequent information.

Perverse Incentives

Because stock options have received preferential accounting treatment, companies
have been reluctant to innovate when it comes to executive compensation. Many
companies, for example, have told us that they are reluctant to use performance-
based stock options that are indexed to their competitors because indexed stock op-
tions must be expensed under the current accounting rules. That’s bad news for
Americans’ retirement savings, which depend on companies having responsible CEO
pay.

Unlike actual share ownership, stock option grants to CEOs create perverse incen-
tives that are not in the best interests of long-term shareholders:

e stock options can encourage executives to take excessive risk-taking by promising
all the benefit of share price increases with none of the risk of share price de-
clines,

e stock options can reward short-term decision-making because many executive
stock options can be exercised just one year after the grant date;

e executives can profit from share price volatility (a measure of shareholder risk)
by timing when they exercise their stock options;

e because option holders are not entitled to dividends, dividend yields have fallen
to historic lows, and many companies have instead used this cash for stock
buybacks to prevent dilution from executives’ stock option exercises; and

e stock options can create a strong incentive to manipulate company stock prices
through creative and even fraudulent accounting.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has been examining whether some com-
panies—particularly in the high tech sector—have inappropriately timed their stock
option grants to executives.® By granting stock options just prior to releasing mar-
ket-moving information that boosts the stock price, companies can simultaneously
put extra money into the pockets of executives and understate the estimated costs
of these option grants in their SEC filings. Given all these drawbacks, we believe
an over-reliance on stock options for executive compensation has contributed to
many of the corporate scandals we have witnessed in recent years.

9 Deborah Soloman, “SEC Probes Options Grants Made As Company News Boosts Stock,” Wall
Street Journal, March 30, 2004.
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Conclusion

The goal of accounting is to facilitate accurate comparisons between companies—
a goal not being met under the current system, when some companies expense op-
tions and others do not. If stock options are not expensed, a company that pays its
employees in stock options has lower compensation costs and therefore artificially
higher earnings. As former Enron CEO Jeffrey Skilling explained in his Congres-
sional testimony, “you issue stock options to reduce compensation expense and,
therefore, increase your profitability.”

Companies that do not expense stock options are hiding their true cost from inves-
tors, creditors, and other consumers of financial reports. FASB’s decision to require
stock option expensing in 2005 will strengthen investor confidence in financial state-
ments. The efficient allocation of capital to the most economically valuable business
activities depends on consistent accounting rules. For this reason, we believe all
businesses should expense stock options, so that stock options do not artificially
boost any company’s profit reports. Congress should let FASB do its job.

We appreciate the opportunity to present our views on this important matter.

Human Genome Sciences, inc.
9410 Key West Avenue

Rockvile, MD 20850

(301) 309-8504 {301} 309-8512 Fax

June 29, 2004

Director of Major Projects

Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7

P.O. Box 5116

Norwalk, CT 06856

Re:  Exposure Draft: Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
Share-based Payment
File Reference No. 1102-100

To Whom It May Concern:

I am writing in response to your request for comments on the Exposure Draft of the
Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards related to Share-based Payment.
T am a member of the Small Business Advisory Committee to the FASB and recently
participated in the first Advisory Committee meeting held at your offices on May 11,
2004.

1 could not be more opposed to the implementation of this new standard for a broad range
of reasons. First and foremost, [ believe it is bad accounting. Financial statements will
become less transparent, less comparable, more volatile, less understandable and less
useful to the vast majority of readers. Second, I believe that implementation of the
standard will be extremely costly, time consuming and difficult to audit. As one who
signs numerous certifications that our financial statements are correct, accurate, in full
compliance with accounting standards and SEC regulations and fairly present the
financial condition of our company, I am very concerned about a standard such as this
which will result in very material changes to our financial statements based solely on our
guesses and estimates of future events which may be years off. Finally, I believe that
implementation of this standard is bad policy, and will have a detrimental effect on our
economy and on a broad range of rank and file employees who today have an opportunity
to accumulate wealth through participation in the value they create, and through
alignment with the interests of investors.



121

My specific comments follow:

First, the title of the Exposure Draft is misleading and incorrect. The granting of a stock
option is not a share-based payment, it is not a payment at all. An SAR is a share-based
payment, since it results in a cash payment based on the price performance of the
underlying shares. Similarly, a phantom stock plan may result in a cash payment based
on the performance of the underlying shares. A stock option is not a payment at all;
rather, it is a right to participate in the creation of value of an enterprise. If no value is
created, no payment is made by the enterprise and no value is gained by the option
holder. If value is created, again, no payment is made by the enterprise but value is
gained by the option holder in direct proportion to the value gained by the stockholders.

Recognition of Compensation Cost

Issue 1: The Board has reaffirmed the conclusion in Statement 123 that employee
services received in exchange for equity instruments give rise to recognizable
compensation cost as the services are used in the issuing entity’s operations (refer to
paragraphs C13-C135). Based on that conclusion, this proposed Statement requires that
such compensation cost be recognized in the financial statements. Do you agree with the
Board's conclusions? If not, please provide your alternative view and the basis for it.

No. Stock option compensation cost should not be recognized in the income statement.
The result will be a reduction in the transparency and comparability of financial
statements due to the difficulty and variability of estimating stock option expense.
Expense will vary widely from company to company and will, in effect, introduce stock
price volatility into the income statement. For many companies, particularly those with
broad-based plans, stock option expense will overwhelm actual operating expenses,
making prediction of operating results and cash flows difficult if not impossible. P/E
ratios will become even more volatile as reported eamings bear less relationship to
operating cash flows and to enterprise value. Expensing stock options will introduce into
the income statement an item that will never, under any circumstances, become a cash
outflow.

The conceptual framework in CON 1 provides that “financial reporting should provide
information that is useful to present and potential investors and creditors and other users
in making rational investment, credit and similar decisions.” It further states that
*...financial reporting should provide information to help investors, creditors and others
assess the amounts, timing, and uncertainty of prospective net cash inflows to the related
enterprise.” The argument that stock option expensing will somehow increase the
transparency and comparability of eamings is completely backward. Because of the
complexity and difficulty of estimating option expense, comparability among financial
statements will be diminished, and only those with sophisticated financial analysis
capabilities will be able to restate the financial statements to put them on a comparable
basis (i.e. without stock option expense). Even those who possess this level of
sophistication will not have sufficient information to make all of the necessary
adjustments, since compensation expense will be buried in virtually every operating
expense line item and in many of the balance sheet accounts as well (i.e. inventory).

The conceptual framework in CON 5 provides that “revenues and gains are realizable
when related assets received or held are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
or claims to cash.” The general requirement of certainty in amount and time are not met
by this proposed standard.

The conceptual framework further provides in CON 6 that “Expenses represent actual or
expected cash outflows that have occurred or will eventuate as a result of the entity’s
ongoing major or central operations.” By this definition, the grant of a stock option can’
never result in an expense since the option will never result in a cash outflow from the
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entity. In fact the option, if exercised, will result in a cash'inflow to the entity as a capital
stock transaction. The economic reality of the issuance of an option is a dilution of the
interests of stockholders as the result of sharing a portion of the ownership of the
company with employees. This economic effect is already recognized in dilution of EPS
and has no bearing on the earnings of the entity, or on its ability to generate cash flows.

Issue 2: Statement 123 permitted enterprises the option of continuing to use Opinion
25’’s intrinsic value method of accounting for share-based payments to employees }
provided those enterprises supplementally disclosed pro forma net income and related
pro forma earnings per share information (if earnings per share is presented) as if the
fair-value-based method of accounting had been used. For the reasons described in
paragraphs C26—C30, the Board concluded that such pro forma disclosures are not an
appropriate substitute for recognition of compensation cost in the financial statements.
Do you agree with that conclusion? If not, why not?

No. Current disclosure requirements provide a great deal of information regarding the
number, kind and distribution of option grants among employees. Because of the great
variability of estimates of option expenses based on different assumptions about stock
price volatilities, employee behavior patterns, vesting requirements, interest rates, etc.,
the option expense calculation will not be in any way comparable from company to
company. Thus, embedding such a number into the financial statements will only reduce
comparability. With disclosure, the information is there for any reader to use as he or she
sees fit. With recognition, the expense estimate will be embedded in the statements
where readers will not have the ability to back it out.

If current disclosure is deemed inadequate, let’s improve the disclosure, not ruin the
income statement. Of the many people and organizations I know who are adamantly
opposed to stock option expensing, not a single one objects to improved disclosure. This
is because they all believe that providing investors with usefu! information is good for
our companies and our capital markets.

Measurement Attribute and Measurement Date

Issue 3: This proposed Statement would require that public companies measure the
compensation cost related to employee services received in exchange for equity
instruments issued based on the grant-date fair value of those instruments. Paragraphs
C16-C19 and C53 explain why the Board believes fair value is the relevant measurement
attribute and grant date is the relevant measurement date. Do you agree with that view?
If not, what alternative measurement attribute and measurement date would you suggest
and why?

No. Although it may be appealing on a theoretical basis to require recognition on the
grant date at fair value, the practical realities are daunting. This method will require a
huge amount of estimation and calculation on a quarterly basis and will be extremely
difficult, if not impossible, to audit. Good accounting practice requires that amounts be
reasonably certain in amount and timing before they are recorded in a company’s books.
Option expense is neither reasonably certain in timing or amount,

A far more practical approach would be to recognize expense at fair value on the date of
exercise. This would eliminate all estimation and guesswork regarding the probability .
and value of exercise and yield a clear, one time, auditable.expense calculation that
would not reqpire an amy of consultants to verify.

Fair Value Measurement
Issue 4(a): This proposed Statement indicates that observable market prices of identical

or similar equity or liability instruments in active markets are the best evidence of fair
value and. if available. should be used to measure the fair value of eauity and linhilit
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absence of an observable market price, this proposed Statement requires that the fair
value of equity share options awarded to employees be estimated using an appropriate
valuation technigue that takes into consideration various factors, including (at a
minimum) the exercise price of the oplion, the expected term of the option, the current
price of the underlying share, the expected volatility of the underlying share price, the
expected dividends on the underlying share, and the risk-free interest rate (paragraph 19
of Appendix A). Due to the absence of observable market prices, the fair value of most, if’
not all, share options issued to employees would be measured using an option-pricing
model. Some constituents have expressed concern about the consistency and
comparability of fair value estimates developed from such models. This proposed
Statement elaborates on and expands the guidance in Statement 123 for developing the
assumptions to be used in an option-pricing model (paragraphs B13-B30). Do you
believe that this proposed Statement provides sufficient guidance to ensure that the fair
value measurement objective is applied with reasonable consistency? If not, what
additional guidance is needed and why?

No. The statement provides almost no guidance that will ensure consistency of
application. In fact, consistency of application is virtually impossible because the nature
of the fair value calculation is only a theoretical estimate of what a market participant
might pay for such an instrument. Unlike virtuaily every other accounting measure,
which is based on actual, measurable cash events, the fair value estimate of a stock option
is a theoretical measure of an event which never happens.

Although you have been advised by “valuation experts” that tools exist to make these
theoretical estimates, these tools are extremely complex, unproven, and not commonly
used in practice. The large number and broad range of assumptions required to arrive at a
valuation using these models will result in vast differences of application and valuation,
and will by definition not be comparable. The accounting firms will require extensive
backup for each assumption in order to render an audit opinion. While the “valuation
experts’” will, of course, advise you that this can be done, it can only be done with
extensive support from the “valuation consultants” — a conflict if ever [’ve seen one.

The rank and file accounting staffs of the vast majority of public reporting companies are
not equipped to implement this requirement without substantial expense and support, and
FASB has provided little or no guidance on how to implement the requirements. The
Exposure Draft should explicitly permit the use of the Black-Scholes model and should
provide examples of adjustments that could be made (and are currently being made for
footnote disclosure) to recognize the shortcomings of the model. Small companies, in .
particular, will have a very difficult time implementing and auditing a lattice model
approach. Paragraphs B13-B30 serve only to add more questions relating to the many
parameters which must be considered for each of the major assumptions to the lattice
model. This only broadens the range of issues to be addressed. Proper guidance would
narrow the range by providing answers to these questions.

Issue 4(b): Some constituents assert that the fair value of emplayee share options cannot
be measured with sufficient reliability for recognition in the financial statements. In
making that assertion, they note that the Black-Scholes-Merton formula and similar
closed-form models do not produce reasonable estimates of the fair value because they
do not adequately take into account the unique characteristics of employee share options.
For the reasons described in paragraphs C21-C25, the Board concluded that fair value
can be measured with an option-pricing model with sufficient reliability. Board members
agree, however, that closed-form models may not necessarily be the best available
technique for estimating the fair value of employee share options—they believe that a
lattice model (as defined in paragraph E1) is preferable because it offers the greater
flexibility needed to reflect the unique characteristics of employee share options and
similar instruments. However, for the reasons noted in paragraph C24, the Board
decided not to require the use of a lattice model at this time. Do you agree with the
Board's conclusion that the fair value of employee share options can be measured with
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sufficient reliability? If not, why not? Do you agree with the Board's conclusion that a
lattice model is preferable because it offers greater flexibility needed 1o reflect the unique
characteristics of employee share options. If not, why not?

No. While a lattice model may be an improvement over the Black-Scholes model from
the standpoint of greater flexibility, it is subject to the same and even greater problems
with respect to the number, complexity and uncertainty of assumptions required. Most
small technology based companies have very limited accounting staffs, and limited cash
resources to apply to theoretical exercises such as this. For small companies the cost of
implementation far exceeds any benefit that would result from the calculation of a
theoretical non-cash cost estimate. Auditors will require the use of a preferred method
unless it can be demonstrated that use of the method is not possible. This places a
tremendous burden on companies trying to implement a new and complex standard.

The FASB should explicitly allow the use of the Black-Scholes model and provide
guidance on adjustments that could be made to recognize the shortcomings of the model
in its application to employee options. This approach would at least be able to be
implemented by most filing companies, and would provide an audit safe harbor.

Issue 4(c): Some respondents to the Invitation to Comment suggested that the FASB
prescribe a single method of estimating expected volatility or even a uniform volatility
assumption thar would be used for all companies. Other respondents {o the Invitation to
Comment disagreed with such an approach. Additionally, some parties believe that
historical voldtility, which has been commonly used as the estimate of expected volatility
under Statement 123 as originally issued, is often not an appropriate measure 10 use.

The proposed Statement would require enterprises to make their best estimate of expected
volatility {as well as other assumptions) by applying the guidance provided in
paragraphs B24-B26 to their specific facts and circumstances. In that regard, the
proposed St t provides guidance on information other than historical volatility that
should be used in estimating expected volatility, and explicitly notes that defaulting to
historical volatility as the estimate of expected volatility without taking into consideration
other available information is not appropriate. If you believe the Board should require a
specific method of estimating expected volatility, please explain the method you prefer.

Estimating volatility is one of the most difficult problems in implementing any fair value
model of stock option expense. It is also the single factor with the largest impact on the
resulting expense estimate and is the most difficult number to audit. Different companies
will use different methods and assumptions to estimate volatility and thus the results will
not be comparable. Companies will have an incentive to select a method that minimizes
volatility, and hence option expense. This is an excellent example of an area where the
FASB has not provided nearly enough guidance. Paragraphs B24-B26 only raise
additional questions. One of the largest components of volatility in the technology and
biotech sectors is market volatility. This is a component over which companies have
neither control nor any predictive ability.

If, however the FASB mandates a particular method to estimate volatility, it will clearly
not fit many of the companies forced to use it (e.g. the use of historical volatility
mandated under FAS 123). This problem is inescapable, and is one of the strongest
reasons that option expensing is a bad idea that will result in less comparability and less
utility of eamings reports.

Issue 4(d): This proposed Stat provides guidance on how the unigue
characteristics of employee share options would be considered in estimating their grant
date fair value. For example, to take into account the nontransferability of employee
share options, this proposed Statement would require that fair value be estimated using
the expected term (which is determined by adjusting the option’s contractual term for
expected early exercise and post-vesting employment termination behaviors) rather than
its contractual term. Moreover, the Board decided that compensation cost should be

recognized only for those equity instruments that vest to take into account the risk of
forfpitire due tn voctine ronditinne Nin vorr neeoo that thaes mathade aiva amnsaiiatn
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recognition 1o the unique characteristics of employee share options? If not, what
alternative method would more accurately reflect the impact of those factors in
estimating the option’s fair value? Please provide the basis for your position.

Asking companies to estimate the exercise behavior and post-vesting employment
termination behavior of potentially hundreds or thousands of employees is not
accounting, it is stargazing. When possibly the largest single expense category on a
company’s financial statements is determined by such guesswork, the resulting financial
statements will cease to be transparent, comparable or useful.

Issue 5: In developing this proposed Statement, the Board acknowledged that there may
be circumstances in which it is not possible to reasonably estimate the fair value of an
equity instrument. In those cases, the Board decided to require that compensation cost
be measured using an intrinsic value method with remeasurement through the settlement
date (paragraphs 21 and 22 of Appendix 4). Do you agree that the intrinsic value
method with remeasurement through the settlement date is the appropriate alternative
accounting treatment when it is not possible to reasonably estimate the fair value?

(Refer to paragraphs C66 and C67 for the Board’s reasons for selecting that method.) If
not, what other alternative do you prefer, and why?

No. This method effectively makes the stock market vatue of the company an element in
its income statement. It may for some technology companies be one of the largest
components of the P&L, moving up or down quarter to quarter with the whims of the
market. A better alternative would be APB 25.

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Issue 6: For the reasons described in paragraph C75, this proposed Statement
establishes the principle that an employee stock purchase plan transaction is not
compensatory if the employee is entitled to purchase shares on terms that are no more
Jfavorable than those available to all holders of the same class of the shares. Do you
agree with that principle? If not, why not?

Yes, [ agree with the principle. However, if companies are forced to expense the
difference between the employee purchase price and the fair value on the date of
purchase, I think these plans will cease to exist.

Attribution of Compensation Cost

Issue 7: This proposed Statement would require that compensation cost be recognized in
the financial statements over the requisite service period, which is the period over which
employee services are provided in exchange for the employer's equity instruments. Do
you believe that the requisite service period is the appropriate basis for attribution? If
not, what basis should be used? :

Again, on a theoretical basis recognition over the service period seems appropriate, but in
practice it is not feasible. First, what is the relevant service period? Is it the year of
grant? the vesting period? the holding period? Is it different for each employee,
depending on how the employee views the grant? Second, recognition of what? Even
though a theoretical fair value estimate can be calculated, there is no way of predicting at
the grant date that any value will actually be realized.

Issue 8: Determining the requisite service period would require analysis of the terms
and conditions of an award, particularly when the award contains more than one service,
performance, or market condition. Paragraphs B37-B49 provide guidance on estimating
the requisite service period. Do you believe that guidance to be sufficient? If not, how
should it be expanded or clarified?
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No, the guidanée is not sufficient. See answers to Issue 7 and Issues 4a-4d above.

Issue 9: For the reasons described in paragraphs C89-C91, the Board concluded that
this proposed Statement would require a single method of accruing compensation cost for
awards with a graded vesting schedule. This proposed Statement considers an award
with a graded vesting schedule to be in substance separate awards, each with a different
fair value measurement and requisite service period, and would require that they be
accounted for separately. That treatment results in a recognition pattern that attributes
more compensation cost to early portions of the combined vesting period of an award
and less compensation cost to later portions. Do you agree with that accounting
treatment? If not, why not?

No. This will create a nightmare of complexity for anyone involved in administering
broad-based plans. We currently have over 7,000 individual option grants, each with -
monthly vesting over four years. If each vesting tranche must be valued separately, I will
have over 330,000 valuations to make each quarter, each with multiple assumptions about
future employee behavior, interest rates, and stock market volatility! This will bring my
accounting department to its knees.

Modifications and Settlements

Issue 10: This proposed Statement establishes several principles that guide the
accounting for modifications and settlements, including cancellations of awards of equity
instruments (paragraph 35 of Appendix A). Paragraphs C96—C115 explain the factors
considered by the Board in developing those principles and the related implementation
guidance provided in Appendix B. Do you believe those principles are appropriate? If
you believe that additional or different principles should apply to modification and
settlement transactions, please describe those principles and how they would change the
guidance provided in Appendix B.

Again, these principles are perhaps theoretically appropriate, but entirely too complex to
implement successfully and consistently. The approach taken in APB 25 would be
preferable.

Income Taxes

Issue 11: This proposed Statement changes the method of accounting for income tax
effects established in Statement 123 as originally issued. Paragraphs 41—44 of Appendix
A describe the proposed method of accounting for income tax effects and paragraphs
C128-C138 describe the Board’s rationale. That method also differs from the one
required in International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 2, Share-based Payment.
Do you agree with the method of accounting for income taxes established by this
proposed Statement? If not, what method (including the method established in IFRS 2)
do you prefer, and why?

Your discussion in paragraphs C128-C138 demonstrates, again, the problem of trying to
force-fit an expense notion onto what is fundamentally a capital transaction. The ED
would require maintaining a deferred tax analysis at the individual employee level.

While this may be feasible for corporations where only a few top executives receive stock
options, it will be a crushing burden for companies with broad-based plans who will be
required to maintain tens or even hundreds of thousands of calculations. If you revert to
APB 25, the tax accounting becomes clear.
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Disclosures

Issue 12: Because compensation cost would be recognized for share-based
compensation transactions, the Board concluded that it was appropriate to reconsider
and modify the information required to be disclosed for such transactions. The Board
also decided 1o frame the disclosure requirements of this proposed Statement in terms of
disclosure objectives (paragraph 46 of Appendix A). Those objectives are supplemented
by related impl, tation guidance describing the minimum disclosures required to meet
those objectives (paragraphs B191-B193). Do you believe that the disclosure objectives
set forth in this proposed Statement are appropriate and complete? If not, what would
you change and why? Do you believe that the minimum required disclosures are
sufficient to meet those disclosure objectives? If not, what additional disclosures should
be required? Please provide an example of any additional disclosure you would suggest.

Any disclosures that provide meaningful information to investors are welcome. In fact,
those of us who oppose stock option expensing would welcome additional disclosures as
the preferred alternative. Unfortunately, a significant portion of the proposed additional
disclosures in paragraphs B191-B193 deal with documenting the extensive and subjective
assumptions réquired to develop a stock option expense estimate using the lattice model.
Other than providing fodder for plaintiff’s lawyers, 1 don’t see how these guesses about
future employee behavior or future stock market volatility are at all useful to an investor
interested in performance of the enterprise.

1 suggest that additional disclosure requirements be developed to enhance the
understanding of the dilution impact of stock options and that all disclosures related to
the determination of a theoretical value of stock options be limited to those currently
provided.

Transition

Issue 13: This proposed Statement would require the modified prospective method of
transition for public companies and would not permit retrospective application
(paragraphs 20 and 21). The Board's rationale for that decision is discussed in
paragraphs C157-C162. Do you agree with the transition provisions of this proposed
Statement? ]f not, why not? Do you believe that entities should be permitied to elect
retrospective application upon adoption of this proposed Statement? If so, why?

No comment on transition.

Nonpublic Entities

Issue 14(a): This proposed Statement would permit nonpublic entities to elect to use an
intrinsic value method of accounting (with final measurement of compensation cost at the
settlement date) rather than the fair-value-based method, which is preferable. Do you
agree with the Board'’s conclusion to allow an intrinsic value method for nonpublic
entities? If not, why not? '

No. If you want comparability, consistency and transparency why create different
treatments for different classes of companies.

Issue 14(b): Consistent with its mission, when the Board developed this proposed
Statement it evaluated whether it would fill a significant need and whether the costs
imposed to apply this proposed Statement, as compared 1o other alternatives, would be
Justified in relation to the overall benefits of the resulting information. As part of that
evaluation, the Board carefully considered the impact of this proposed Statement on
nonpublic entities and made several decisions to mitigate the incremental costs those
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entities would incur in complying with its provisions. For example, the Board decided to
permit those entities to elect to use either the fair-value-based method or the intrinsic
value method (with final ement of comp tion cost at settlement date) of
accounting for share-based compensation arrangements. Additionally, the Board
selected transition provisions that it believes will minimize costs of transition (most
nonpublic entities would use a prospective method of transition rather than the modified
prospective method required for public entities). Moreover, the Board decided to extend
the effective date of this proposed Statement for nonpublic entities to provide them
additional time to study its requirements and plan for transition. Do you believe those
decisions are appropriate? If not, why not? Should other modifications of this proposed
Statement s provisions be made for those entities?

1f comparability and transparency is the goal, permitting different classes of companies to
use different methods and different transition rules does not support-the goal.

The Board has not come close to recognizing the costs of transition and compliance that
will be incurred by all companies across the board. In my opinion, these costs far
outweigh any benefit that might be realized by this new standard (and I actually believe
there will be a detriment to users of financial statements). In addition to the substantial
amount of time that will be required of accounting staffs at each company, most
companies will have to retain valuation consultants to assist with the development and
implementation of these new, complex models. Few accounting professionals today are
familiar with lattice models and fewer still are competent to estimate employee behavior
and stock price volatility over long periods into the future.

The Board has also failed to recognize the difficulty and cost of auditing these new
estimates. Particularly for smaller companies with broad based option plans, where the
option expense estimate will be a very material component of eamings, auditors will be
very reluctant to sign off on these material estimates without extensive documentation
and analysis. -

Small Business Issuers *

Issue 15: Some argue that the cost-benefit considerations that led the Board to propose
certain accounting alternatives for nonpublic entities should apply equally to small
business issuers, as defined by the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. Do you believe that some or all of those alternatives should be extended to those
public entities?

No. If you want comparability, consistency, and transparency, why create different
treatments for different classes of companies.

Cash Flows

Issue 16: For the reasons discussed in paragraphs C139-C143, the Board decided that
this proposed Stat would d FASB Stat t No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows,
10 require that excess tax benefits, as defined by this proposed Statement, be reported as
a financing cdsh inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid (paragraphs 17-19). Do
you agree with reflecting those excess tax benefits as financing cash inflows? If not, why
not?

No. It makes no sense to arbitrarily divide the tax benefits into two categories and
account for them differently. Other than making work for accountants, consultants and
auditors, this provides no useful information and there is no rationale for treating a
portion of the tax benefit as a financing cash flow rather than a reduction of tax
obligation. It is, in fact, not a financing cash flow and it is, in fact, a reduction of tax
obligation.



129

Differences between This Proposed Statement and IFRS 2

Issue 17: Certain accounting treatments for share-based payment transactions with
employees in this proposed Statement differ from those in IFRS 2, including the
accounting for nonpublic enterprises, income tax effects, and certain modifications.
Those differences are described more fully in Appendix C. If you prefer the accounting
treatment accorded by IFRS 2, please identify the difference and provide the basis for
your preference. If you prefer the accounting treatment in the proposed Statement, do
you believe the Board nonetheless should consider adopting the accounting treatment
prescribed in [FRS 2 in the interest of achieving convergence?

No comment on this issue.

Understandability of This Proposed Statement

Issue 18: The Board’s objective is to issue financial accounting standards that can be
read and understood by those possessing a reasonable level of accounting imowledge, a
reasonable understanding of the business and economic activities covered by the )
accounting standard, and a willingness to study the standard with reasonable diligence.
Do you believe that this proposed Statement, taken as a whole, achieves that objective?

No, not even close. The proposed statement is long and complex and will require a
substantial amount of time to digest and implement. It will require the use of complex
mathematical models that are unfamiliar to the accounting profession and belong instead
in the realm of applied mathematics and financial analysis. The audit firms will weigh in
with interpretations that will add additional complexity and the costs of implementation
and audit will be astronomical, all for a number which is already available in the notes,
has little value, and will be backed out by every competent financial analyst to arrive at a
conclusion on financial performance, risk and enterprise value.

Respectfully submitted,

Steven C. Mayer
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

SCM:jp
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Bio

BIOTECHNOLOGY
INDUSTRY
ORGANIZATION

June 29, 2004
By email: director@fasb.org

Financial Accounting Standards Board
Director of Major Projects

File Reference No. 1102-100

401 Merritt 7

P.O.Box 5116

Norwalk, Connecticut 06856-5116

Re: Share-Based Payment, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95

Dear Sirs & Madams:

The Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO) submits its views on the Proposed
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment, an amendment of
FASB Statements No. 123 and 95 (the Exposure Draft). We appreciate the opportunity to
offer comments on this significant matter.

BIO represents more than 1,000 biotechnology companies, academic institutions,
state biotechnology centers and related organizations in all 50 U.S. states. The
biotechnology industry, like many other growth sectors of the economy, uses broad-based
employee stock option plans as an integral part of our efforts to recruit and retain highly
qualified physicians, scientists and other professionals. Such plans are especially
important as the industry continues to develop and commercialize its products and needs
to attract these highly qualified employees in increasing numbers. The comments in this
letter primarily represent the views of the small-medium size companies that represent the
vast majority of our membership and who will shoulder a disproportionate cost in
implementing these new guidelines if they are required.

For the reasons outlined below, BIO has serious concerns with the mandatory
expensing of employee stock options outlined in the Exposure Draft.

Part One: B10’s Opposition to the Expensing of Employee Stock Options

I. Mandatory expensing of employee stock options will decrease the reliability
and comparability of financial statements

We believe that the mandatory expensing of stock options will decrease the
reliability and comparability of financial statements for companies in our industry.
Predicting the volatility of biotechnology stocks is especially difficult due to it being
event driven rather than earnings driven.

Because our industry includes a large number of small entrepreneurial companies,
the historical stock price volatility in the biotechnology industry is higher than that of
more mature industries due in large part to uncertainty during the regulatory product
approval process. For example, the average volatility assumption for a sample of 25
public biotechnology companies was 59%, as compared to the average volatility
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assumption of approximately 36% of 100 public companies surveyed by Emst & Young
LLP in 2003 across a variety of industries.

Because of the higher stock price volatility in our industry and the more extensive
use of broad-based employee stock compensation programs, the impact of the adoption of
the Exposure Draft will be significant. For example, the average percentage change of
the Statement 123 pro forma net income (loss), as compared to the net income (loss), of a
sample of 25 public biotechnology companies was a 21% decrease in net income or 30%
increase in net loss, as compared to an average decrease in net income of 11% from a
survey of 100 public companies surveyed by Emst & Young LLP in 2003 across a
variety of industries. Furthermore, the impact of the pro forma charges to an individual
company can be even more significant. For example, the pro forma increase in the 2003
net loss for one of our industry’s largest and most successful companies was 84%.

In addition, the high stock price volatility in our industry, when combined with other
highly subjective assumptions, can yield an unacceptably wide range of results. While it
may be useful to disclose a hypothetical charge in the footnotes to the financial
statements, the inclusion of employee stock option expense in the statement of operations
will result in less clarity, consistency and reliability of the financial statements. The
sensitivity of the option pricing models to the significant estimates and judgments would
permit two similar companies to have significant differences in the reported expenses.
For example, of 25 public companies in the biotechnology industry the volatility
assumption used in the calculation of the fair value of employee stock options ranged
from 31% to 107%. When this wide range of volatility is applied in an option valuation
model, the values assigned to the stock options can vary more than 100%. Because of the
magnitude of this charge to our industry, we believe that differences in judgment may
adversely impact comparability and reliability.

I1. Employee stock options do not represent an expense

We do not believe that an employee stock option meets the definition of an expense
as defined in Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, Efements of Financial
Statements. Specifically, we do not believe that stock options represent “outflows or
other using up of assets or the incurrence of liabilities.” Conversely, the exercise of a
stock option represents an increase to assets by the amount of cash paid by the employee
to exercise the stock option.

HI. The expensing of employee stock options will distort earnings per share

The potential dilution that may occur with respect to employee stock options is
currently reflected in the diluted earnings per share calculation. The inclusion of a cost
for employee stock options in the statement of operations will result in an inaccurate
“double charge” in the financial statements. :

IV. The cost required to implement a lattice model exceeds the benefit

We do not believe that the benefits of implementing a complex lattice option-
pricing model exceed its costs. As outlined in Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 1, Objectives of Financial Reporting by Business Enterprises, information
provided by financial reporting involves a cost to provide and use, and generally the
benefits of information provided should be expected to at least equal the cost involved.

The biotechnology industry is a growth sector and includes a large number of small
entrepreneurial companies. Due to extremely long product development cycles, usually
10-15 years, and extensive costs involved in conducting clinical trials and launching a
drug, the vast majority of biotech companies (over 90%) do not yet have products on the
market. The adoption of a complex and difficult to implement lattice model would
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impose a disproportionate administrative burden to many of these companies while they
are trying to conserve cash for clinical programs. For example, a survey of thirteen
public biotechnology companies in the San Francisco Bay Area with a market
capitalization between $145 million and $375 million identified that the average size of
the finance staff is 4.4 full time equivalent personnel. As such, it is unlikely that any
company of this size would have sufficient expertise to accumulate and analyze the
required historical data, such as employee exercise patterns, in order to appropriately
implement a lattice model. These companies thus would be required to hire external
experts to assist in the adoption of the Exposure Draft. Based upon on our inquiry of
external valuation experts, we estimate that implementation of the Exposure Draft would
cost small entrepreneurial companies $100,000 to $300,000 per year in external
consultant costs to maintain compliance. In addition, we expect companies in our
industry to incur additional internal compliance costs as well as increased external audit
costs. Due the limited usefulness of this estimate to the shareholders of bictechnology
companies, we strongly believe that the cost to prepare the disclosure far exceeds the
benefit. :

In sum, we do not support the use of limited cash resources to calculate a
hypothetical non-cash charge. Rather, we believe that cash resources would better serve
shareholders of companies in our industry when applied to the development of life-
improving biotechnology products.

Part Two: Specific Concerns with FASB's Proposed Amendment of Statements
No. 123 and 95 (the Exposure Draft)

In the event FASB moves forward with all or some of the expensing requirements
outlined in the exposure draft, which BIO strongly opposes, we also want to raise
additional concerns about how these rules might be implemented.

1. The Exposure Draft does not provide adequate “safe harbor” on valuation and
could lead to a significant increase in litigation.

The Exposure Draft does not provide sufficient guidance to enable the finance
departments of many of the companies in our industry to assign a valuation to employee
stock options without undue cost. Because the potential impact of employee stock
compensation expense will be material to many of the companies in our industry, it does
not appear that the Financial Accounting Standards Board would endorse the use of other
siraplified models. According to a survey of 100 companies conducted by Ernst &
Young, of the 97 companies that provided the pro forma net income and eamings per
share (EPS) disclosures required by the Statements, 91 companies used the Black-Scholes
formula for estimating the fair value of the options granted during 2002. Of the remaining
six companies, two companies used a Binomial model. Therefore, if some form of
expensing is required, at a minimum we recommend that the Exposure Draft be revised to
permit the use of simplified assumptions and methodologies in a wider, and more
qbjectively defined, set of circumstances. We also recommend that the Exposure Draft
be revised to include simplified examples of how the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
can be adjusted to take account of the characteristics of employee stock options that are -
not consistent with the assumptions of the model.

Absent clear direction from FASB on which valuation methodology companies
should use, how they should be employed, and a “safe harbor” provision that protects the
decisions on inputs that will undoubtedly vary from company to company, we are
concemed that the current approach could result in a significant increase in litigation by
groups claiming earnings were misrepresented. This concern is examined in detail in an
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article by Kevin Hassett and Peter Wallison, entitled “A Troubling Requirement” that
appeared in the Spring 2004 edition of the journal Regulation.

11. Neither of the existing valuation models proposed by FASB adequately
discounts for the unique attributes of employee stock options.

The option pricing models contained in the Exposure Draft fail to incorporate
factors unique to employee stock options, especially two critical factors that should be
significantly discounted for: lack of transferability and blackout periods.

Lack of transferability affects the valuation of employee options. There is no
market for employee stock options until they vest. More importantly, out-of-the-money
options vested or not would have value in the eyes of a third party willing buyer if they
were transferable. Therefore compared to a traded option with otherwise identical terms,
the lack of transferability restriction associated with an employee stock option
significantly reduces the value of the option. In fact, Dr. Jonathan Mun, author of the
Crystal Ball valuation methed that the binomial method is based upon, has in a recent
submission to FASB (FASB comment letter on FAS 123 Exposure Draft No. 2402) stated,
“the author’s suggestion is to allow the incorporation of marketability discounts be taken
by firms issuing ESOs.”

Similar to the lack of transferability, blackout periods are common for employee
stock options and should also be discounted. In many companies there are large numbers
of employees that are blacked out from exercising stock options for “calendar” reasons.
For example, executives and most finance departments are blacked-out at least two weeks
prior and two weeks following quarter-ends and until after quarterly earnings releases are
made.

In addition, in the biotechnology industry stock prices of individual companies are
usually event driven and often fluctuate because of events like drug approvals, release of
scientific data, or study delays and reporting of adverse events. During and prior to these
events, companies are forced to black out teams of employees. These blackout periods
restrict the number of days employees can trade their options. To accurately value
employee stock options there must be significant discounts for these blackout periods.

IIL. Imvestors in Biotechnology companies are predominately focused on “cash
burn”, not nen-cash charges

We do not believe that the expensing of the hypothetical non-cash cost of employee
stock options will be meaningful to investors. Rather, the primary focus of investors in
our companies is on the rate of “cash bum.” Accordingly, by including the non-cash
charge for employee stock options in earnings, it creates incentive for management to
develop additional non-GAAP accounting disclosures. For example, the inclusion of
non-cash stock based compensation expense in research and development on the
statement of operations will obfuscate the true rate of cash research and development
expenditures. We question whether this result would be consistent with the Financial
Accounting Staridards Board project on Financial Performance Reporting by Business
Enterprises. In our opinion, this Exposure Draft will contribute to the proliferation of
alternative and inconsistent financial performance measures and will undermining high-
quality financial reporting, which is essential to well-informed investment decisions and
efficient capital markets.

We urge you to consider whether the objectives of the Exposure Draft outweigh the
significant costs that will be placed on the small entrepreneurial companies in our
industry. This additional burden is overwhelming when combined with other recent
sweeping regulatory requirements, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, We
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appreciate the opportunity to offer these comments. If you have any questions regarding
this letter, feel free to contact Steve Lawton at (202) 962-9200.

Sincerely,
s/

Carl B. Feldbaum
President
Biotechnology Industry Organization

Responses of Robert H. Herz
Chairman
Financial Accounting Standards Board
to Questions from the Honorable Jim Davis
Committee on Energy and Commerce
regarding the July 8, 2004, Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer
Protection Hearing entitled
“FASB Proposals on Stock Optien Expensing”

1. During your testimony on July 8, 2004, before the Energy and Commerce
Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Coasumer Protection, you stated
that the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) believes that stock
options can be valued with sufficient reliability. However, Commissioner
Paul Atkins of the Securities and Exchange Commission has expressed
concerns about the reliability to measure stock options. He stated that,
“putting a fair value on something as complicated as long term stock options
is almost an impossible task.” Furthermore, Warren Buffett, Chairman of
Berkshire Hathaway, who has publicly supported the expensing of stock
options, stated in the May 4, 2003, edition of Financial Times that, “Black-
Scholes is an attempt to measure the market value of options and it cranks in
certain variables, but the most important value it cranks in is the past
volatility of the asset involved and past volatilities aren’t the best judge of
value.” Given the concern and debate surrounding the use of current options
pricing medels to measure the value of ernployee stock options, please explain
in detail why the FASB believes that stock options can be measured with
sufficient reliability?

As your question indicates, in developing the Proposed Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment (“Proposal™), the Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB” or “Board™} concluded, afier extensive
research and analysis and public deliberations, that estimating the fair value of
employee stock options based on currently available valuation techniques would
generally result in sufficiently reliable compensation expense amounts that would
improve the comparability of financial statements. In reaching that conclusion,
the Board noted that the existing use by most companies of the intrinsic value
method for measuring employee stock options under APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“Opinion 25), has impaired and
would continue to impair not only the comparability, but the relevance and
reliability of financial statements by omitting a potentially significant component
of the total cost of employee services. That view is supported by the July 2003
United States Securities and Exchange Commission’s Study Pursuant to Section
108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States
Financial Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting System (*SEC
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Study™). The SEC Study was critical of Opinion 25 and concluded that
accounting standards could result in greater comparability if they were more
“objectives-oriented” allowing accounting professionals to operationalize
accounting treatments in a manner that best fulfills the objective of the standard
and thereby best captures the underlying economic reality.

The Board’s conclusion is also supported by the fact that for eight years
thousands of public companies have been estimating the fair value of employee
stock options, generally consistent with the approach contained in the Proposal,
and have been reporting those amounts in their audited financial statements.
Moreover, more than 750 companies, 120 of which represent 42 percent of the
S&P 500 index based on market capitatization, have estimated and reported all of
their employee stock options as an expense in their audited and certified financial
statements generally consistent with the Proposal’s approach.

In addition, effective January 1, 2004, many Canadian companies, including over
500 technology companies, were required to expense all employee stock options
based on a measurement approach generally consistent with that contained in the
Proposal. 1t is our understanding that the implementation of that standard has to
date gone very smoothly without significant concerns being raised by preparers,
auditors, or users of those financial statements about the reliability of the reported
amounts. Beginning in 2005, International Financial Reporting Standards will
require thousands of other foreign companies in over 90 countries around the
world to do the same.

Many, if not most, valuation experts and many other parties that have studied the
issue, including Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan, the Congressional
Budget Office, and the CFA Institute (a global professional association whose
membership includes 57,000 financial analysts) agree that employee stock options
can be reliably valued under the Proposal’s approach. It is widely acknowledged
that far more complicated financial instruments, including long-dated and
complex derivatives, and convertible bonds containing long-dated options, are
valued in the marketplace daily and routinely reported by companies in their
audited and certified financial reports.

Most accounting estimates that are currently reported in audited and certified
financial reports are not mechanical calculations but require that companies use
appropriate measurement techniques, relevant data, and management judgment in
making those estimates. It is widely acknowledged that the uncertainties inherent
in estimates of the fair value of employee stock options are generally no more
significant than the uncertainties inherent in measurements of, for example, loan
loss reserves, valuation allowances for deferred tax assets, asset impairment
calculations, and pensions and other postretirement benefit obligations.
Moreover, the implementation guidance contained in the Proposal is far more
extensive than the guidance provided in the accounting literature for the
measurement of those other items. Few accrual-based accounting measurements
can claim absolute reliability, but most parties, including Warren Buffett, agree
that financial statement recognition of estimated amounts, including the fair value
of employee stock options, that are approximately right, is preferable to the
alternative—recognizing no amounts.

Finally, the Proposal’s Notice for Recipients includes six issues requesting
additional input on the measurement approach contained in the Proposal,
including whether the Proposal provides sufficient guidance to ensure that the fair
value measurement is applied with reasonable consistency. Measurement issues
raised by the Proposal were also discussed at the Board’s public roundtables on
June 24, 2004, in Palo Alto, California, and June 29, 2004, in Norwalk,
Connecticut. The many comment letters and other input received in response to
the Proposal, including suggestions for potential revisions to the Proposal, will be
carefully considered by the Board at public meetings prior to the issuance of any
final standard to improve the accounting for equity-based compensation.
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2. Given the impact that expensing stock options might have on the high
technology industry, why has the FASB not conducted research on the
options pricing methods using volatile high technology companies to test the
reliability of the models?

The FASB conducted extensive research and analysis and public deliberations
relating to option pricing methods in developing the Proposal, including soliciting
and receiving input from “volatile high technology companies.” Examples of
some of the types of research, analysis, and input the FASB considered in
developing the Proposal’s measurement guidance include:

e Results of discussions with a variety of parties including the Financial
Accounting Standards Advisory Council, the FASB’s User Advisory
Council, and many other groups representing preparers of financial
reports, and auditors, and investors, and other users of financial
information.

o Results of discussions with many valuation experts and compensation
consultants, including those on the FASB’s Options Valuation Group.

e Results of “field visits” with a number of public and private companies
covering a range of industries, including high technology companies.

e Data relating to the information about employee stock option
compensation contained in the disclosures of the audited and certified
financial reports of companies.

¢ Input from the many public companies that have voluntarily elected to
include the expense relating to employee stock options in determining
their reported net income.

e Information and views in the many comment letters received in response
to the FASB’s November 2002 Invitation to Comment, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation: A Comparison of FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and lts Related
Interpretations, and IASB Proposed IFRS, Share-based Payment.

e Work done on this subject, including field tests, by the FASB in the
development of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation (“Statement 123™).

*  Work done on this subject by other accounting standard setters, including,
as indicated in response to Question 1, the International Accounting
Standards Board and the Canadian Accounting Standards Board.

As indicated in response to Question 1, the FASB has solicited and received a
substantial amount of input on the measurement guidance contained in the
Proposal, including input from many “volatile high technology companies.” The
FASB will continue to solicit input on, and research and analyze, the
measurement issues and other related issues raised by the Proposal throughout the
completion of the project. The input received, including suggestions for potential
revisions to the Proposal, will be carefully considered by the Board at public
meetings prior to the issuance of any final standard to improve the accounting for
equity-based compensation.

3. If the FASB does conduct research on the impact of expensing stock options
on high technology companies, how do they plan on conducting such tests?

As indicated in response to Question 2, the FASB conducted extenstve research
and analysis and public deliberations in developing the Proposal, including “field
visits” with public and private companies covering a range of industries, including
several high technology companies. Those field visits included inquiries focusing
on the costs of implementing the Board’s tentative measurement guidance. The
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Board concluded that the field visits provided them with a sufficient
understanding of the potential costs and benefits and implementation issues raised
by the tentative measurement guidance necessary to support the issuance of the
Proposal for public comment.

The FASB did not conduct “field tests™ in developing the Proposal. The Board
generally uses the term field tests to describe a formal application of a proposed
approach or proposed Statement by various companies to their particular
enterprise. The participating companies are generally provided with a description
of the proposed approach (if a proposed Statement has not been issued) and are
asked to apply that approach either to current transactions or retroactively to one
Or more prior years.

The FASB has generally conducted field tests in those circumstances in which the
Board was developing an entirely new principle or guidance. For example, as
indicated in response to Question 2, the Board conducted field tests in the
development of Statement 123.

As indicated above in response to Questions 1 and 2, the FASB will continue to
solicit input on, and research and analyze, the issues raised by the Proposal
throughout the completion of the project. The input received, including
suggestions for potential revisions to the Proposal, will be carefully considered by
the Board at public meetings prior to the issuance of any final standard to improve
the accounting for equity-based compensation.
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Mr. Robert H. Herz

Chairman

Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5116
Norwalk, Connecticut 06856

Dear Mr. Herz:

On July 8, 2004, the Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection held
a hearing entitled “FASB Proposals on Stock Option Expensing.” I am writing to you to ask that
you follow up on an important question that arose in those proceedings.

The method for establishing a fair value for the stock options to be expensed has emerged
as the central issue of the debate surrounding the Board’s exposure draft. At the hearing, you
were asked whether FASB had done or was aware of any studies of actual expensing using either
of the proposed methodologies (see attached unofficial transcript pages 98-100). Ibelieve that
there have been a number of published studies, academic and otherwise, on those companies that
have voluntarily adopted fair value accounting for employee stock options. Please provide a list
of those siudies for the record, and, if available, copies alse for our review. Please aiso provide a
clearer explanation of the grant date approach. Do studies about the value of the underlying
stock at the date an option is exercised have any relevance to the estimation of the grant date fair
value of an option? Please explain.

Because we wish to include your answer in the printed record of this hearing, please
respond no later than Wednesday, August 18, 2004. If you have any questions about this request,
please have your staff contact Consuela Washington, Senior Minority Counsel, at 202-225-3641.

/" JOHN D. DINGELL
RANKING MEMBER

Attachment

cc: The Honorable Joe Barton, Chairman
Committee on Energy and Commerce

The Honorable Cliff Stearns, Chairman
Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection

The Honorable Jan Schakowksy, Ranking Member
Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection

The Honorable Jim Davis, Member
Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection
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Financial Accounting Standards Board
401 Merritt 7, P.O. Box 5116, Norwalk, Connecticut 06856-5116 | 203-847-0700
Ext. 267

Fax: 203-847-8030
e-mail: thherz@fasb.org

ROBERTH. HERZ
Chairman

VIA HAND DELIVERY

August 18, 2004

The Honorable John D. Dingell
Ranking Member

Committee on Energy and Commerce
United States House of Representatives
Washington, DC 20515-6115

Dear Representative Dingeli:

Thank you for your letter of August 4, 2004, following up on my testimony at the July 8,
2004, Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection hearing entitled “FASB
Proposals on Stock Option Expensing.”

Your letter includes several requests for additional information to be included in the printed
record of the hearing. )

List of Studies

First, your letter requests that I provide a list of studies “on those companies that have
voluntarily adopted fair value accounting for employee stock options.” The following is a
list of studies and other materials that have been brought to my attention relating to the topic:

e Bear Stearns. “House Votes to Block FASB Stock Options Proposal, but DOA
in Senate; Voluntary Expensers Increase to 753.” Equity Research:
Accounting/Taxation, July 20, 2004. A detailed listing of companies voluntarily
expensing stock options under the fair value method.

e Christian, Cal. “Expensing Stock Options: What Will Be the Effect on
Financial Institutions?” Bank Accounting & Finance, Volume 16, Issue 6,
October 2003. A review of first quarter 2003 10-Q earnings and stock option
expense for members of Financial Services Forum, a group representing 21 of
the nation’s largest financial companies that made a joint statement supporting
the voluntary expensing of all employee stock options in August 2002.
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Deshmukh, Sanjay, Keith M. Howe, and Cart Luft. “Stock Options Expensing
and Corporate Governance.” Strategic Finance, July 1, 2004. Article describing
study of 122 firms that made expensing announcements between July and
December 2002. Results “suggest the expensing of employee stock options is
more likely to occur in firms that are more transparent and with more closely
aligned interests between managers and investors™ and “imply that expensing of
stock options is more likely to occur in firms that practice good governance.”

Garg, Ashish, and William T. Wilson. “Expensing Stock Options: What Do the
Markets Say?” The Journal of Employee Ownership Law and Finance, Volume
15, No. 4, Winter 2003. Also in Ernst & Young’s Cross Currents, Fall 2003. A
study examining Investor reactions to 54 companies’ announcements to
voluntarily expense all employee stock options made between July 8, 2002 and
January 16, 2003. Results showed no significant impact on share price and a
somewhat higher than normal shareholder return for companies with larger
expenses.

Grund, Michael, and Richard N. Ericson. *“Options Expensing Announcement
Has No Impact on Share Price.” Towers Perrin, March 31, 2004. Available at
www towerspetrin.com/hrservices/global/defanlt htm Event study that includes
335 companies that announced voluntary expensing between April 2, 2001, and
August 14, 2003. After tracking share prices on the announcement date and 150
days before and after, Towers Perrin found share performance the same, on
average, as the share performance of the 900 companies comprising S&P’s 500
and mid-cap 400 indexes.

Robinson, Dahlia, and Diane Burton. “Discretion in Financial Reporting: The
Voluntary Adoption of Fair Value Accounting for Employee Stock Options.”
Accounting Horizons, Volume 18, No. 2, June 2004. Authors’ investigation of
102 firms announcing voluntary expensing of all employee stock options
between July 2002 and September 12, 2002 suggests: (1) the decision to
expense using the fair value method is value relevant; (2) adopters stand to
benefit the most by improving the market’s perception of their accounting
reports; and (3) the impact of employee stock option expense is economically
significant for 43 percent of the adopters.

As requested, I have attached a copy of each of the above referenced materials for your

review.
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Grant Date Approach

Second, your letter requests a “‘clearer explanation of the grant date approach,” and whether
any “studies about the value of the underlying stock at the date an option is exercised have
any relevance to the estimation of the grant date fair value of an option.”

Under the grant date approach, the expense of employee stock options is measured at fair
value when the optious are granted by the eraployer to the employee. The fair value estimate
of the compensation cost is based on the employer’s stock (and other pertinent factors) that
exists at the grant date. The expense amount is recognized over the time (the contractual
vesting period) during which the employee renders services to the firm in exchange for the
compensation that the options represent.’

The transaction essentially comprises two separate events: (1) the granting of an employee
stock option, which conveys a specific amount of compensation to be earned by the
employee over the vesting period, and (2) subsequent gains and losses from changes in the
option’s fair value. The initial grant date fair value of the option is a compensation cost to
the employer and reported in the employer’s income statement with other operating
expenses. In contrast, any subsequent gains and losses in the fair value of the option
represent a transfer of wealth between the employer’s existing shareholders and the
employees who were recipients of the options.

As Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan has explained:

To assess the cash equivalent of the option, only the
market value of the option at the time of the grant matters.
Subsequent changes in the value of the option are not
relevant to the exchange of labor services for value
received, just as future changes in the purchasing power of
cash received for services rendered do not affect the firm’s
compensation costs.?

! The approach contained in the FASB Proposed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based
Payment {(March 31, 2004), paragraph 10, is often described as a “modified grant date approach,” because,
under the Proposed Statement, compensation cost would generally be based only on the grant date fajr value of
the awards that the company expects to vest. The expense would be recognized over the vesting period and
reduced for any actual forfeiture of options that may occur during that period. Thus, under the Proposed
Statement’s modified grant date approach, the total amount of compensation expense recognized for employee
stock options granted would exclude the costs associated with those options that do not vest.

% Remarks by Chairman Alan Greenspan, “Stock Options and Related Matters,” at the 2002 Financial Markets
Conference of the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, Sea Island, Georgia (via satellite) (May 3, 2002), pages 3
and 4.
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Similarly, in its recent examination of the accounting for employee stock options, the
Congressional Budget Office concluded:

e If firms do not recognize as an expense the fair
value of employee stock options, measured when
the options are granted, the firms’ reported net
income will be overstated.

e Changes in the value of employee stock options
after they have been granted as well as the
exercising of those options are irrelevant to a firm’s
income statement because they affect shareholders
directly, not the firm itself. Specifically, they
transfer wealth from existing shareholders to
holders of employee stock options.3

Thus, as indicated in my testimony, any studies about the fair value of the underlying stock at
the date an employee exercises a stock option may have relevance in estimating the amount
of wealth transferred between the employer’s shareholders and employees, but have no
relevance in estimating the grant date fair value of employee stock options.

It should be noted that the grant date approach described in the Proposed Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, Share-Based Payment, is generally consistent with the
approach long used for reporting other forms of compensation costs and for the reporting of
other forms of equity-based transactions. The approach is also currently being used by the
more than 750 companies that file with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission and are voluntarily expensing all employee stock options, and the thousands of
Canadian companies that were required to expense all employee stock options beginning
January 1, 2004. :

Finally, the grant date approach has also been recently adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board in IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. TFRS 2 will require
expensing of all share-based payments, including employee stock options, by companies in
over 90 countries around the world beginning January 1, 2005.

* The Congressional Budget Office, “Accounting for Employee Stock Options,” Section 2 (April 2004), pages 1
and 2.
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If you have any additional questions or comments, please feel free to contact me directly or
our Washington, DC representative, Jeff Mahoney (703-243-9085).

Yours truly,

Rt 4. NM}

Attachments
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BUD ALBBIGHT, STAPF CIRECTOR
The Honorable William H. Donaldson
Chairman
Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, NW.
‘Washington, D.C. 20549

Dear Chairman Donaldson:

On July 8, 2004, the Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection held
a hearing entitled “FASB Proposals on Stock Option Expensing.” We are writing to you to
request your agency’s response to an important question that arose in those proceedings.

Mr. Jeffrey Skilling, former Enron President and CEQ, testified before the Senate
Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation on February 26, 2002: “There are cases
where you can use equity to jmpact your income statement. And the most egregious, or the one
that’s used by every corporation in the world is executive stock options. And as a matter of fact,
1 think FASB tried to change that, and you introduced legislation in 1994 to keep that exemption.
And essentially what you do is you issue stock options to reduce compensation expense and
therefore increase your profitability.”

There have been press reports about various alleged stock options abuses. See, e.g.,
“SEC Probes Options Grants Made As Company News Boosts Stock,” Wall Street Joumnal,
Tuesday, March 30, 2004. However, when the witnesses at the above-referenced hearing were
asked for examples of stock options abuses or scandals, none of the witnesses was able to
produce an example (see attached transcript pages 89, 90, and 111).

Accordingly, we request your response to the following questions. Are there examples of
stock option scandals that have defrauded investors? What examples of abuses or scandals
attributed to the current accounting treatment of employee stock options are you aware of? What
risks do investors bear under the current accounting standard for stock options? How would the
FASB’s proposed accounting standard changes address these problems?

Because we wish to include your answers in the printed record of this hearing, please
respond no Jater than Monday, August 16, 2004, If you have any questions about this request,
please have your staff contact David Cavicke, Chief Counsel (202-225-2927) or Consuela
Washington, Senior Minority Counsel (202-225-3641) of the Committee on Energy and
Commerce.
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Sincerely,

fo '7%\4\) e

JGE BARTON JOHN D. DINGELL P
RANKING MEMBER
& 9&/‘/1
CLIFF STEgNNS 7/ CE D. SCHAKOWSKY (/
ING MEMBER
SUBCOMMITTEE ON COMMERCE, SUBCOMMITTEE ON COMMERCE,
TRADE, AND CONSUMER PROTECTION TRADE, AND CONSUMER PROTECTION

Attachment
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

THE CHAIRMAN

September 23, 2004

The Honorable Joe Barton

Chairman

Committes on Energy and Commerce
U.S. Housc of Representatives

2125 Raybura House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515

Dear Chainman Barton:

Thank you for your August 9% letter regarding the proposed changes in the
accounting for employee stock options. Your letter indicates that witnesses at a July §,
2004 hearing held by the Subcommittee on Commerce, Trade, and Consumer Protection
were unable to respond to a request for examples of stock options abuses or scandals that
have defranded investors. You have asked me whether the Commission is aware of such
abuses or scandals. You also have asked me what risks investors bear under the current
accounting standard and how the changes proposed by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board would address those risks.

Employee stock options can be a valuable tool for the recruitinent, retention and
motivation of talented employees and are often especially important to small and recently
created corporations. Nonetheless, as noted in your letter, withesses at congressional
hearings, members of the press, and others have indicated that, when the distribution of
stock options to members of senior management becotes abusive, there can be adverse
consequences for investors.

Although we are aware of 4 few studies, there is relatively little empirical research
in this area. One instance of such abusive practices might bave occurred at WorldCom.
In the Corporate Monitor’s report to the coust, former SEC Chairman Richard Breeden
noted, “The executive compensation practices of the old WorldCom made a mockery of
shareholder interests and croded the legitimacy of the Company’s governance
practices.... The enormous compensation paid to these individuals {Messrs. Ebbers and
Sullivan] was in part a reflection of massive distribution of stock options, along with
aggressive use of cash ... The aggressive personal enrich attitudes reflected in the
Company’s compensation practices with regard to Ebbers and Sullivan were so conrosive
of responsible behaviar that they may have implicitly created a climate conducive to the
fraud that occurred.”

It is important to understand, however, that the primary purpose for the FASB’s
reexamination of the accounting for employee stock options is not to alter corporate
compensation practices. Jt is 1o reduce the risk that the results of those practices may not
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be reflected consistently and clearly in companies’ financial resuits. Shareholders,
lenders and other participants in our capital markets depend on the integrity of financial
statements every day. The cumulative cost to those groups when investment decisions
are based on financial informalion that may not reflect a significant cost of doing
business is a very real harm.

The Commission’s overriding interests are to ensure that the FASB uscs an open
and impartial process te devclop a standard and that the final standard is within a range of
reasonable alternatives that serves and protects investors. [ have described the basis for
our position in the enclosed letters to Congr Kanjorski, Dingell and Wolf and
Senator Frist, which I hope you will find informative.

T appreciatc your interest in this issue and would be happy to discuss it witk you if
you have any questions or would like additional information.

Sincerely,
5 Yoot

William H. Donaldson
Chairman

Enclosures

Substantially similar letters to:

The Honorable John D. Dingell, Ranking Member

The Honorable Cliff Stearns, Chairman, Subcc ittee on Cc Trade, and
Consumer Protection
The Honorable Janice D. Schakowsky, Ranking Member, Subc ittee on Co

Trade, and Consumer Protection
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